
 

 
 

PLANS COMMITTEE 
 

This meeting will be recorded and the sound recording subsequently made available via 
the Council’s website: charnwood.gov.uk/pages/committees 
 
Please also note that under the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 
that other people may film, record, tweet or blog from this meeting.  The use of any 
images or sound recordings is not under the Council’s control. 
 
 
 

To: Councillors S. Forrest (Chair), Lennie (Vice-Chair), Charles, Fryer, Lawrence, Monk, 
Lowe, Northage, O'Neill, Palmer, Snartt, N. Taylor and Worrall  

(For attention) 
 

All other members of the Council 
(For information) 

 
You are requested to attend the meeting of the Plans Committee to be held in Woodgate 
Chambers on Thursday, 20th July 2023 at 5.00 pm for the following business. 
 

 
 
Chief Executive 
 
Southfields 
Loughborough 
 
12th July 2023 
 

AGENDA 
  

1.   APOLOGIES 
 

 
 
2.   MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

 
4 - 7 

 The Committee is asked to confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting 
held on 22nd June 2023. 
  

  
3.   QUESTIONS UNDER COMMITTEE PROCEDURE 12.8  

Public Document Pack

Page 1

file:///C:/Users/karenw/AppData/local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/NU3M8P7G/charnwood.gov.uk/pages/committees


 

 
 No questions were submitted. 

  
4.   DISCLOSURES OF PECUNIARY INTERESTS, AND OTHER 

REGISTRABLE AND NON-REGISTRABLE INTERESTS 
 

 

 
5.   PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

 
8 

 The list of planning applications to be considered at the meeting is appended. 
  

 (a)   P/20/2162/2 - Ingleberry Road, Shepshed  
 

9 - 61 
 

 (b)   P/23/0838/2 - 10 Benscliffe Road, Loughborough  
 

62 - 77 
 

 (c)   P/23/0382/2 - 3 The Dovecotes, Queniborough  
 

78 - 90 
 
6.   LIST OF APPLICATIONS DETERMINED UNDER DELEGATED 

POWERS 
 

91 - 109 

 A list of applications determined under powers delegated to officers for the period 
from 10th June 2023 to 10th July 2023 is attached. 

  
WHERE TO FIND WOODGATE CHAMBERS 
  
  
Woodgate Chambers 
70 Woodgate  
Loughborough 
Leicestershire 
LE11 2TZ 
  
  

 

Page 2



 

  
  
 
 

Page 3



 

 

1 
 

Plans Committee - 22nd June 2023 
Published – 6th July 2023 

 

PLANS COMMITTEE 
22ND JUNE 2023 

 
PRESENT:  The Chair (Councillor S. Forrest) 

The Vice Chair (Councillor Lennie) 
 Councillors Charles, Fryer, B. Gray, Lawrence, 

Lowe, Monk, Northage, O'Neill, Palmer, Snartt and 
N. Taylor 

  
  
 

 Group Leader Development Management (CT) 
Principal Solicitor - Planning, Property and 
Contracts 
Planning Assistant (CB) 
Senior Planning Officer (DL) 
Team Leader, Strategic Development (MP) 
Principal Planning Officer (JW) 
Democratic Services Manager 

 Democratic Services Officer (RD) 
 
APOLOGIES: Councillor Worrall 
 
The Chair stated that the meeting would be recorded and the sound recording 
subsequently made available via the Council’s website.  She also advised that, under 
the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014, other people may film, 
record, tweet or blog from this meeting, and the use of any such images or sound 
recordings was not under the Council’s control. 
 

7. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 25th May 2023 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed. 
 

8. QUESTIONS UNDER COMMITTEE PROCEDURE 12.8  
 
No questions were submitted. 
 

9. DISCLOSURES OF PECUNIARY INTERESTS, AND OTHER REGISTRABLE AND 
NON-REGISTRABLE INTERESTS  
 
The following disclosures were made: 
  

(i)              by Councillor Snartt in respect of item 5e, Planning Application P/22/2188/2 
Land West of Loughborough, Garendon Park, who had been contacted by 
an objector and the developer, but confirmed he would still have an open 
mind when considering the application; 
  
 

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



 

 

2 
 

Plans Committee - 22nd June 2023 
Published – 6th July 2023 

 

(ii)             by Councillor O’Neill in respect of items 5b P/23/0035/2, 5c P/22/1503/2 
and 5d P/23/0382/2 as a Ward Councillor, but confirmed he had no prior 
knowledge of the applications and would not affect his consideration of the 
items.   

 
10. PLANNING APPLICATIONS  

 
Reports of the Head of Planning and Growth, setting out applications for planning 
permission reference P/23/0320/2, P/23/0035/2, P/22/1503/2, P/23/0382/2, 
P/22/2188/2, P/20/1390/2, P/20/1571/2 were submitted (item 5 on the agenda filed 
with these minutes).   
  
In accordance with the procedure for public speaking at meetings, the following 
objector, applicants or their representatives attended the meeting and expressed their 
views: 
  

(i)       Birgitta Worrall, speaking as a resident of Kingfisher Estate (objector) in 
respect of application P/23/0320/2; 

(ii)      Steven Drury (agent) in respect of application P/22/2188/2; 
(iii)      Sat Jassal (objector) in respect of applications P/20/1390/2 and 

P/20/1571/2; 
(iv)     David Sangwine (on behalf of Woodthorpe Residents’ Association) in 

respect of applications P/20/1390/2 and P/20/1571/2; 
(v)      Tom Collins (agent) in respect of applications P/20/1390/2 and P/20/1571/2 
  

In accordance with the procedure for Borough Councillors speaking at Plans 
Committee meetings, the following Councillors attended the meeting and expressed 
their views: 
  

(i)       Councillor Cory-Lowsley (on behalf of call-in) in respect of application 
P/23/0320/2; 

(ii)      Councillor Worrall (on behalf of call-in) in respect of applications 
P/20/1390/2 and P/20/1571/2. 

 
a) PLANNING APPLICATION 5A  

 
Councillor N. Taylor arrived at the meeting at 5.15pm during the consideration of this 
item after the Officer presentation and therefore did not participate in the discussion or 
vote. 
  
RESOLVED that in respect of application P/23/0320/2 (12 Wren Close, 
Loughborough) planning permission be granted subject to the conditions and reasons 
set out in the report of the Head of Planning and Growth. 
 

b) PLANNING APPLICATION 5B  
 
RESOLVED that in respect of application P/23/0035/2 (Land adjacent to Staverton 
House, 1580 Melton Road, Queniborough) planning permission be granted subject to 
the conditions and reasons set out in the report of the Head of Planning and Growth. 
  

Page 5



 

 

3 
 

Plans Committee - 22nd June 2023 
Published – 6th July 2023 

 

c) PLANNING APPLICATION 5C  
 
Planning Application P/22/1503/2 (The Manor House, 85 Main Street, Queniborough) 
was not considered as the applicant had withdrawn their application and no longer 
required a determination. 
  

d) PLANNING APPLICATION 5D  
 
Planning Application P/23/0382/2 (3 The Dovecotes, Queniborough) was withdrawn 
from the agenda following the applicant’s agreement, due to the need to submit 
amended plans which would require a re-consultation.  The application would 
therefore be presented at a future meeting of the Plans Committee. 
  

e) PLANNING APPLICATION 5E  
 
RESOLVED that in respect of application P/22/2188/2 (Garendon Park, Land West of 
Loughborough) planning permission be granted subject to the conditions and reasons 
set out in the report of the Head of Planning and Growth. 
  
At the close of this item (6.45pm) the meeting was adjourned for 15 minutes. 
  

f) PLANNING APPLICATION 5F  
 
RESOLVED that in respect of application P/20/1390/2 (23 Main Street, Woodthorpe) 
planning permission be refused, contrary to the Officer recommendations, for the 
following reasons: 
  

1.     It was considered that it was not in a sustainable location and would be 
contrary to Local Plan Policy CT1, Core Strategy Policy CS1, CS25 and the 
emerging Local Plan policy DS1, where the benefits did not outweigh the harm. 
  

2. It was considered to be harmful to the identity of the local distinctiveness of 
Woodthorpe by the filling in of gaps and would not be a linear development. 
Therefore it would be contrary to Policy CS11 of the Core Strategy and Policy 
EV1 of the emerging Charnwood Local Plan. 

  
g) PLANNING APPLICATION 5G  

 
RESOLVED that in respect of application P/20/1571/2 (Grange Farm Bungalow, 63 
Main Street, Woodthorpe) planning permission be refused, contrary to the Officer 
recommendations, for the following reasons: 
  

1.     It was considered that it was not in a sustainable location and would be 
contrary to Local Plan Policy CT1, Core Strategy Policy CS1, CS25 and the 
emerging Local Plan policy DS1, where the benefits did not outweigh the harm. 
  

2. It was considered to be harmful to the identity of the local distinctiveness of 
Woodthorpe by the filling in of gaps and would not be a linear development. 
 Therefore it would be contrary to Policy CS11 of the Core Strategy and Policy 
EV1 of the emerging Charnwood Local Plan. 

Page 6



 

 

4 
 

Plans Committee - 22nd June 2023 
Published – 6th July 2023 

 

 
11. LIST OF APPLICATIONS DETERMINED UNDER DELEGATED POWERS  

 
A list of applications determined under powers delegated to officers for the period from 
15th May 2023 to 13th June 2023 was submitted (item 6 on the agenda filed with 
these minutes). 
 
 
NOTES: 
 
1. No reference may be made to these minutes at the Council meeting on 4th 

September 2023 unless notice to that effect is given to the Democratic Services 
Manager by five members of the Council by noon on the fifth working day following 
publication of these minutes. 
 

2. These minutes are subject to confirmation as a correct record at the next meeting 
of the Plans Committee. 

 

Page 7



Charnwood Borough Council 
 

Plans Committee – Thursday, 20 July 2023  
Index of Committee Items 

 
Item Application 

No 
Applicant and Location, 
Description 

Recommendation  

     
1 P/20/2162/2 Bloor Homes 

Land West of Ingleberry Road 
Shepshed 
LE12 9DE 
 
Residential development of up to 
200 dwellings with associated 
access, landscaping, open space 
and drainage infrastructure 
(Outline - access to be 
considered) 

Grant Conditionally  

     
     
     

2 P/23/0838/2 Mr & Mrs Popat 
10 Benscliffe Drive 
Loughborough 
Leicestershire 
LE11 3JP 
 
Change of use of existing 
dwelling (Use Class C3) to a 
house in multiple occupation  
(Use Class C4) 

Grant Conditionally  

     
     
     

3 P/23/0382/2 Mr Neal Gohill 
3 The Dovecotes 
Queniborough 
Leicestershire 
LE7 3WP 
 
Variation of Conditions 2 and 3 
(Approved Plans and materials) 
of Planning Permission: 
P/21/0773/2 (Proposed first floor 
extension above garage, single 
storey extensions to front and 
rear with associated works) 

Grant Conditionally  

 

Page 8

Agenda Item 5



 
 

Plans Committee Date:  20 July 2023 
 
Item No:  
 
Application Reference Number:  P/20/2162/2 
 

Application Type: Outline  Date Valid:  23rd Dec 2020 

Applicant: Bloor Homes Limited  

Proposal: Residential development of up to 200 dwellings with associated 
access, landscaping, open space and drainage infrastructure 
(Outline - access to be considered) 

Location: Land West of Ingleberry Road, Shepshed, LE12 9DE 

Parish: Shepshed Ward: Shepshed East 

Case Officer: Liam Ward Tel No: 07808 844786 
 
1.  Background 
 
1.1  This application is referred to Plans Committee as the development is a major 

application for housing, set outside the Limits to Development for Shepshed, and 
therefore represents a departure from the development plan, and the Officer 
recommendation is one of approval. 

 
1.2 The application has also been called in at the request of Ward Councillor Popley 

under the Council’s call-in procedure, as he has concerns about the impact on traffic. 
 

2. Description of the application site 
 
2.1 The body of the application site measures 9.31 Ha (22 acres) and is currently in 

agricultural use. It is laid out in a single irregularly shaped field, enclosed by 
hedgerows and trees. The site has roadside frontages to both Ingleberry Road to the 
east and Iveshead Lane to the south.  

 
2.2 The site has a fall from west to east, toward Ingleberry Road, and from south to north, 

toward the north-eastern corner of the site. The field is surrounded by drains, with a 
culvert extending northward, beyond the site, from its low point along the 
northernmost boundary. The difference in level between the highest point, at the site’s 
south-west corner, and the low point is around 26m. 

 
2.3 The site sits approximately 1.5km south of Shepshed town centre, on the opposite 

side of Ashby Road Central. The principal connecting route is through a traffic lighted 
staggered crossroads at the northern end of Ingleberry Road. 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5a



 
 

Figure 1 - Site Location in Context 

 
 
2.4 The eastern part of the site is crossed by a pylon mounted overhead electricity line, 

and by a wooden pole mounted line. A localised portion of the site has been identified 
as being at high risk of surface water flooding, but the whole site lies within Flood 
Zone 1 (low risk). The site lies within the National Forest  

 
2.5 The site is outside of defined Limits to Development of Shepshed and within open 

countryside as defined in the adopted Development Plan.  The application site is an 
emerging allocation DS3 (HA40) in the submitted Charnwood Local Plan 2021-37. 

 
 

           
Original Location Map Revised Location Map

Page 10



 
 

2.6.  In June 2021, in response to comments from Leicestershire County Council 
Highways the red line was extended to include the full width of both public roads, and 
extending to the end of sightlines on Ingleberry Road. The expanded area measures 
10.77 Ha. 

 
3. Description of the proposal 
 
3.1 This is an Outline Planning Application for a residential development of up to 200 

dwellings with associated access, landscaping, open space and drainage 
infrastructure. All matters are reserved other than access. The proposed single 
vehicular access point into the site for which detailed permission is sought is from 
Ingleberry Road.  

 
3.2 This Outline Planning Application is comprehensive and is accompanied by the 

following supporting information (most recent revisions):  
 

Drawings: 
 

Site Location Plan n1409_001 C 
Parameter Plan n1409_004 E 
Street Hierarchy Plan n1409_400 A 
Illustrative Masterplan 007 H 

  Green Infrastructure Plan n1409_101C (includes National Forest Planting 
Plan) 
Landscape Mitigation Strategy ZLA-1035-L-200-D 
Proposed Site Access Layout T20534-001F 
Stopping Up Order Plan T22574-002 Rev A 
Drainage Strategy Plan EM039-EN-XXXA 
BIA Baseline Habitat Plan RSE_6558_BIAB_1022_V4R2 
BIA Proposed Habitat Plan RSE_6558_BIAP_0223_V5R2 
BIA Retention Plan RSE_6558_BIAR_0223_V5R2 
 

Reports: 
 

25981-04-AWA-B Air Quality Assessment 
25981-04-NA-01-C Noise Assessment 
Tree Survey (Retention and Removal Advice) January 2023 
Heritage Assessment v2.1 
n1409 DAS December 2022 
ZLA_1035_V3 LVA  
Ecological Impact Assessment RSE_6558a_02_V2  
BIA Metric V5R2 
SIR-BWB-ZZ-XX-RP-YE-0001_FRA 
ASL Report Desk Study 
Consultation Statement 
Mineral Investigation Report 
Planning Statement 
T22574 – Highways Update Note 18.10.22 
T20534 - Addendum Transport Assessment 

Page 11



 
 

T20534 Transport Assessment 
T20534 Travel Plan Final 

 
3.2 The application has been revised during its consideration to address concerns raised 

by consultees. The most significant change relates to the vehicular access 
arrangements. It is now proposed that Iveshead Lane is stopped-up at the site’s 
southern boundary, and that its existing junction with Ingleberry Road is closed. 

 
4.  Development Plan Policies 
 
4.1  The Development Plan comprises the Charnwood Local Plan Core Strategy (adopted 

9 November 2015), the Borough of Charnwood Local Plan (adopted 12 January 
2004) (saved policies) and the Minerals and Waste Local Plan (2019). 

  
4.2 The policies applicable to this application are as follows: 
 
4.2.1 Charnwood Local Plan Core Strategy 

 
• Policy CS1 - Development Strategy  
• Policy CS2 - High Quality Design  
• Policy CS3 - Strategic Housing Needs  
• Policy CS11 - Landscape and Countryside  
• Policy CS12 - Protection of Green Infrastructure 
• Policy CS13 - Biodiversity and Geodiversity  
• Policy CS14 - Heritage  
• Policy CS15 - Open Space 
• Policy CS16 - Sustainable Construction and Energy 
• Policy CS17 - Sustainable Travel  
• Policy CS18 - The Local and Strategic Road Network  
• Policy CS24 - Delivering Infrastructure  
• Policy CS25 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development  

 
4.2.2 Borough of Charnwood Local Plan (adopted 12 January 2004) (saved policies) 

 
Where they have not been superseded by Core Strategy policies previous Local Plan 
policies remain part of the development plan. In relation to this proposal the relevant 
ones are: 
 
• Policy ST/2 - Limits to Development  
• Policy CT/1 - General Principles for areas of countryside  
• Policy CT/2 – Development in the Countryside  
• Policy EV/1 – Design  
• Policy TR/18 - Parking in New Development  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 12

https://www.charnwood.gov.uk/files/documents/adopted_core_strategy1/Charnwood%20Local%20Plan%202011%20-%202028%20Core%20Strategy%20Adopted%20November%202015.pdf
https://www.charnwood.gov.uk/pages/adoptedlocalplan


 
 

4.2.3 Minerals and Waste Local Plan (2019) 
 
This document includes the County Council’s spatial vision, spatial strategy, strategic 
objectives, and core policies which set out the key principles to guide the future 
winning and working of minerals and the form of waste management development in 
the County of Leicestershire over the period to the end of 2031. 

 
4.2.4 Policy M11 seeks to safeguard mineral resources including sand, gravel, limestone, 

igneous rock, surface coal, fireclay, brick clay and gypsum. The policy sets out that 
planning permission will be granted for development that is incompatible with 
safeguarding minerals within a Mineral Safeguarding Area provided certain criteria 
are met. 

 
4.2.5 Planning applications for non-mineral development within a Mineral Safeguarding 

Area should be accompanied by a Mineral Assessment of the effect of the proposed 
development on the mineral resource beneath or adjacent to it. 

 
5. Other material considerations  
 
5.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF 2021)  

 
The NPPF policy guidance which is of particular relevance to this proposal includes: 
 

• Section 2: Achieving sustainable development.  
• Section 4: Decision-making 
• Section 5: Delivering a sufficient supply of homes. 
• Section 7: Ensuring the vitality of town centres 
• Section 8: Promoting healthy and safe communities. 
• Section 9: Promoting Sustainable Transport  
• Section 12: Achieving well-designed places.  
• Section 14: Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 

change. 
• Section 15: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
• Section 16: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment. 
 

5.2 Planning Practice Guidance  
 
This national document provides additional guidance to ensure the effective 
implementation of the planning policy set out in the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  The guidance sets out relevant guidance on aspects of flooding, air 
quality, noise, design, the setting and significance of heritage assets, landscape, 
contaminated land, Community Infrastructure Levy, transport assessments and 
travels plans, supporting the policy framework as set out in the NPPF. 
 

5.3 National Design Guide 
 
This is a document created by government which seeks to inspire higher standards 
of design quality in all new development.  
 

Page 13

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf


 
 

5.4 Leicestershire Housing and Economic Needs Assessment (HENA) – 2022 
 
HENA provides an up-to-date evidence base of local housing needs including an 
objectively assessed housing need figure based on forecasts and an assessment of 
the recommended housing mix based on the expected demographic changes over 
the same period. The housing mix evidence can be accorded significant weight as it 
reflects known demographic changes. 

 
5.5 Housing Supplementary Planning Document (adopted May 2017 – updated 

December 2017) 
 
The SPD provides guidance on affordable housing to support Core Strategy Policy 
CS3.  
 

5.6 Design Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) (January 2020)  
 
This document sets out the Borough Council’s expectations in terms of securing high 
quality design in all new development.  Schemes should respond well to local 
character, have positive impacts on the environment and be adaptable to meet future 
needs and provide spaces and buildings that help improve people’s quality of life.  
 

5.7 Leicestershire Highways Design Guide  
 
The purpose of the guidance is to help achieve development that provides for the 
safe and free movement of all road users, including cars, lorries, pedestrians, cyclists 
and public transport. Design elements are encouraged which provide road layouts 
which meet the needs of all users and restrain vehicle dominance, create an 
environment that is safe for all road users and in which people are encouraged to 
walk, cycle and use public transport and feel safe doing so; as well as to help create 
quality developments in which to live, work and play. The document also sets out the 
quantum of off-street car parking expected to be provided in new housing 
development.  
 

5.8 Landscape Character Appraisal 
 
The Borough of Charnwood Landscape Character Assessment was prepared in July 
2012. The purpose of the report was to assess the baseline study of the landscape 
character, at a sub-regional level that gives a further understanding of the landscape 
resource. The document ‘provides a structured evaluation of the landscape of the 
borough including a landscape strategy with guidelines for the protection, 
conservation and enhancement of the character of the landscape, which will inform 
development management decisions and development of plans for the future of the 
Borough’. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



 
 

5.9 Technical Housing Space Standards (2015) 
 
Seeks to encourage minimum space standards for housing. This document has not 
been adopted for the purposes of Development Management at Charnwood Borough 
Council, but it is included in draft Policy H3 of the emerging local plan and is therefore 
a material consideration for which appropriate weight must be given. 
 

5.10 Conservation of Habitat and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended) 
 
The Council as Local Planning Authority is obliged, in considering whether to grant 
planning permission, to have regard to the requirements of the Habitats Directive and 
Habitats Regulations in so far as they may be affected by the grant of permission.  
Where the prohibitions in the Regulations will be offended (for example where 
European Protected Species will be disturbed by the development) then the Council 
is obliged to consider the likelihood of a licence being subsequently issued by Natural 
England.  
 

5.11 Equality Act 2010 
 
Section 149 places a statutory duty on public authorities in the exercise of their 
functions to have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination and advance 
equality. 
 

5.12 Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 
(as amended) 
 
As the application proposals are for urban development on a site of more than 0.5 
hectares, the proposals fall under Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Environmental Impact Assessment) (England and Wales) Regulations 2017. Such 
projects only require an EIA if the development is likely to have significant effects on 
the environment by virtue of factors such as its nature, size or location. Given the 
nature and location of the application proposals, it is not considered that the 
application would constitute EIA development. 
 

5.13 The Draft Charnwood Local Plan 2021-37 
 
This document sets out the Council’s strategic and detailed policies for the Borough 
over the period 2021-37. The local plan was submitted for examination in December 
2021 with hearings concluding in February 2023.  It is anticipated that the Inspectors 
will issue a letter setting out the requirement for main modifications to be made to 
make the plan sound. These modifications will be published for six weeks of public 
consultation so that the responses can assist the Inspectors in preparing their final 
report.  The precise timings of these events is dictated by the Inspectors; although, 
subject to their report, it is anticipated the Local Plan will be adopted by the Council 
in Autumn 2023.  
    
In accordance with NPPF paragraph 48, the relevant emerging policies in the plan 
may be given weight in determining applications, according to:   
 

Page 15

https://www.charnwood.gov.uk/files/documents/sd_2_charnwood_local_plan_2021_n_2037_pre_submission_draft_2021_2037_july_2021/SD-2%20Charnwood%20Local%20Plan%202021%20%E2%80%93%202037%20Pre-Submission%20Draft%202021-2037%20July%202021.pdf


 
 

• the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced its 
preparation, the greater weight it may be given);   

• the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the 
less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be 
given);   

• the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the 
NPPF (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the NPPF, 
the greater the weight that may be given).   
  

The following policies are considered applicable to this application, and the weight 
they can be assigned is addressed in the ‘Planning Considerations’ part of this report: 
  

Policy DS1: Development Strategy 
Policy DS2: Leicester and Leicestershire Unmet Needs 
Policy DS3: Housing Allocations (Allocated site HA40) 
Policy DS5: High Quality Design 
Policy SUA1: Shepshed Urban Area 
Policy H1: Housing Mix  
Policy H2: Housing for Older People and People with Disabilities 
Policy H3: Internal space Standards 
Policy H4: Affordable Housing 
Policy T3: Car Parking standards 
Policy CC1: Flood Risk 
Policy CC2: SUDS 
Policy CC4: Sustainable Construction 
Policy CC5: Sustainable transport 
Policy EV1: Landscape 
Policy EV4: Charnwood Forest and the National Forest 
Policy EV6: Conserving and Enhancing Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
Policy EV7: Tree Planting 
Policy EV9: Open Spaces, Sport and Recreation 
Policy INF1: Infrastructure and Developer Contributions 
Policy INF2: Local and Strategic Road Network 
 

5.14 Charnwood Borough Council Planning Guidance for Biodiversity (June 2022) 
 
This planning guidance seeks to provide further clarification to Core Strategy Policy 
CS13 insofar as ensuring development proposals secure biodiversity net gain on-site 
to contribute towards the overall sustainability of development proposals.  
 

5.15 Charnwood Borough Council Open Spaces Assessment Study 2017 (updated 2020) 
 
This assessment considers the existing open space provision within the Borough, 
and makes an assessment of future needs within the time span of the submitted Local 
Plan. 
 
 
 
 

Page 16



 
 

5.16 Playing Pitch Strategy (Sept 2018) 
 
This strategy considers the playing pitch requirements of the Borough within the time 
span of submitted Local Plan to ensure that there is an adequate supply of good 
quality facilities to accommodate a range of sports and physical activities in order to 
meet current and future levels of demand and to provide enhanced opportunities so 
as to increase the number of people participating in sport and physical activity. 
 

5.17 Shepshed Town Centre Masterplan (2013) 
 
The Charnwood Regeneration Strategy, approved by Cabinet in August 2012, 
identified Shepshed town centre as one of seven priority areas for regeneration 
across the borough. The resultant masterplan defined six strategic objectives for 
Shepshed town centre. These included a plan to improve the visual appearance of 
the town centre, making the public realm a more attractive environment to visit, shop 
and spend leisure time in. In line with Core Strategy policies CS8 and CS9 developer 
contributions will be sought and used to fund the Shepshed Town Centre Public 
Realm Project 
 

6.  Relevant Planning History 
 
6.1 The relevant planning history for the site. 
 
 

Reference Description Decision & Date 
P/10/0496/2 Erection of egg production unit 

and associated access track (at 
farmyard off south-east corner 
of application site) 

Granted 
9th July 2010 

P/13/2106/2 Advice – Proposed outline 
application for approximately 
200 dwellings 

12th Dec 2014 

P/14/2358/2 Outline application for up to 200 
dwellings 

Withdrawn 
29th February 2016 

P/17/0929/2 Importation and stockpiling of 
clay (officer note – this relates 
to Shepshed Quarry located to 
the north and west of the site) 

No Objection 
23rd May 2017 

P/20/2214/2 Request for screening for 
residential development of up to 
200 dwellings 

EIA Not Required 
21st Dec 2020 

 
7. Responses of Consultees & Other Comments Received  
 
7.1 The table below sets out the responses that have been received from consultees 

regarding the application.  Please note that these can be read in full on the Council’s 
website www.charnwood.gov.uk 

  

Page 17

http://www.charnwood.gov.uk/


 
 

Consultee Response 
Leicestershire County 
Council - Leicestershire 
Lead Local Flood 
Authority  
(23rd February 2023) 

Leicestershire County Council as Lead Local Flood 
Authority (LLFA) advises that the site is within Flood 
Zone 1 (low risk of fluvial flooding) and low risk of surface 
water flooding. The proposed onsite attenuation basins 
are a satisfactory solution, which can limit the discharge 
rate to an existing watercourse at the northern site 
boundary. 
The recommendation is to approve, with planning 
conditions 

Charnwood Borough 
Council Economic 
Development & 
Regeneration Service 
(22nd March 2023 and 
5th April 2023) 
 

No Objection 
Planning Obligations: 
£141,600 (£708 per dwelling) contribution toward the 
Shepshed Town Centre Public Ream Project.  

Charnwood Borough 
Council Housing 
Strategy & Support 
(31st July 2021  
+ 5th June 2023) 

In accordance with policy CS3 no less than 20% of the 
stock should be affordable homes. 
Of these 50% (rounded up) should be for rent, and 50% 
should be shared ownership. 
The exact mix should be secured prior to any reserved 
matters application being approved through dialogue 
with the Council’s Strategic Housing Team, however, the 
following has been supplied as a framework. 
 
Affordable / Social Rent 

• Minimum 20% 1 bed 2 person maisonette / house. 
• Minimum 5% 2 bed 3 person bungalow built to 

M4(2) building regs with level access shower in 
situ. 

• Minimum 35% 2 bed 4 person house. 
• Minimum 5% 4 bed 7 person house. 

 
Intermediate 
A mix of two, three and some four bedroomed homes. 
* please note if First Homes are to be supplied the 
nationally set price cap must be adhered to. 
 
Reason: to meet the locally identified need for affordable 
housing, to give the local community certainty of delivery, 
to meet disabled and older persons housing needs, to 
accord with adopted policy. 
 
Regard should be given to the Adopted Housing 
Supplementary Planning Document (HSPD). The 

Page 18



 
 

Consultee Response 
adopted HSPD seeks to secure affordable housing to 
accommodate the following:  

• 1 bed: 2 person maisonette / house 
• 2 bed: 3 person bungalow 
• 2 bed: 4 person house 
• 3 bed: minimum 5 person house 
• 4 bed: minimum 7 person house 

House type drawings should show a proposed layout to 
demonstrate the property meets the appropriate 
household size. 
In accordance with Policy HSPD8 the Affordable Housing 
should be distributed across the site in clusters of no 
more than 10 dwellings.  

Leicestershire County 
Council – Highways  

No objections subject to conditions: 
No Development prior to stopping up order re part of 
Iveshead Lane.  
Pedestrian and vehicular links between Iveshead Lane 
and Ingleberry Road to be built to an adoptable standard 
prior to occupation. 
Construction traffic management plan. 
Travel Plan prior to occupation. 
Access arrangement implemented in full prior to 
occupation. 
Visibility splays provided prior to occupation and 
maintained permanently. 
The through link should not be open to vehicular traffic 
until the stopping up of Iveshead Lane. 
Scheme of new and improved bus stops to be agreed 
prior to occupation. 
Planning obligations: 
Travel pack (one per dwelling) (£52.85 per pack) 
6 months bus pass (two per dwelling) (£360 per pass) 
STARS for (Sustainable Travel Accreditation and 
Recognition Scheme) monitoring fee of £6,000 
£186,000 toward upstream junction capacity 
improvements.  

Leicestershire County 
Council – Education 
(31st March 2023) 

Early Years - £312,052.00 contribution towards 
provision, improvement, remodelling or enhancement of 
education facilities at St Botolph’s CE Primary School or 
at other schools or other early learning provision within 
the locality of the development. 
Primary School Sector – £75,259.60 contribution 
towards provision, improvement, remodelling, enhancing 
existing education facilities at Newcroft Primary 
Academy or any other school or contributing towards the 
provision of a new school within the DfE approved 

Page 19



 
 

Consultee Response 
planning area serving the development or any other 
school within the locality of the development. 
Secondary School Sector (11-18) - £724,720 
contribution towards provision, improvement, 
remodelling or enhancement of education facilities at 
Iveshead School or at other schools within the locality of 
the development.  
Secondary SEND Education (11-19) – £112,896.86 
contribution. This contribution would be used to 
accommodate the capacity issues created by the 
proposed development by improving, remodelling, 
enhancing existing facilities or contributing towards the 
provision of a new school within the DfE approved 
planning area serving the development or any other 
school within the locality of the development. 

Leicestershire County 
Council – Libraries 
(31st March 2023) 

£6,055.20 contribution towards the enhancement of 
Shepshed Library.  

Leicestershire County 
Council - Waste 
Management (31st 
March 2023) 

£8,542 contribution towards Recycling and Household 
Waste Site at Shepshed RHWS.  

Leicester, 
Leicestershire & 
Rutland ICB 
Commissioning Group 
(NHS) (Dec 2020) 

£109,155.78 contribution toward the cost of additional 
clinical accommodation for additional patients at Forest 
House Surgery, 25 Leicester Road, Shepshed, LE12 
9DF and Field Street Surgery, Field Street, Shepshed, 
LE12 9AL. 

Environment Agency 
(21st Jan 2021) 

Raises no objection. They identify some nearby sources 
of nuisance which the applicant has been made aware 
of. 

Charnwood Borough 
Council Open Spaces 
(7th Feb 2023 and 10th 
Feb 21) 

Raises no objection subject to on-site/off-site 
contributions: 
0.15ha on-site accessible multi-functional green space 
area. 
0.96ha on-site natural and semi-natural open space. 
0.22ha on-site Amenity Open Space. 
One on-site LEAP facility (Provision for Children), with a 
20m buffer between the equipment and the nearest 
dwelling. 
On-site equipment/ facilities for Young People Local 
alongside LEAP or off-site contribution of £190,798. 
1.25ha on-site or £65,874 off-site contribution for 
Outdoor Sport facilities.  
0.16ha on-site, or £22,584 off-site contribution for 
creation of additional allotments. 
Contributions of £90,837 toward pool space, plus 
£87,770 toward indoor courts, plus £12,960 toward 
indoor bowls rinks. 

Page 20



 
 

Consultee Response 
Leicestershire County 
Council - Mineral 
Planning Authority 
(21st Oct 2022) 

No objection in respect of mineral safeguarding. 

Charnwood Borough 
Council Environmental 
Health 
(2nd Feb 2023 and 28th 
June 2021) 

No objection subject to conditions:  

• Construction Management Statement 
• Air Quality mitigation 
• Noise mitigation measures 
• Contaminated Land investigation 

Charnwood Borough 
Council Biodiversity 
Officer 
(3rd July 2023) 

No objection  
The baseline assessment for the BIA submitted on 
18/5/23 and dated 10.1 23 is now acceptable. It includes 
significant revisions to the hedgerow assessment as 
requested in comments made on 12/5/23. If the 
application is approved, then it is this baseline 
assessment which should be referenced in a S106 
agreement. 
The S106 should include provision for a BIA to be carried 
out of the detailed scheme and, if necessary, for the 
provision of offsite compensation in accordance with 
CS13. 
The applicants have already been made aware that the 
projection of post development habitat values is unlikely 
to be supported at reserved matters because the 
inappropriate use of the strategic significance multiplier 
and of habitat conditions that are likely to be 
undeliverable have increased the projected value of post 
development habitats beyond what is likely to be 
achieved. Accordingly consideration should be given to 
increasing the quantity of on site semi natural habitat as 
part of the detailed design.  
S106  to include:  

• To submit the Biodiversity Mitigation and 
Enhancement Scheme to the Council for its 
written approval with any Reserved Matters 
Application.  

• To provide the Biodiversity Net Gain on Site in 
accordance with the Approved Biodiversity 
Mitigation and Enhancement Scheme.  

• Where the provision of the Biodiversity Net Gain 
on Site cannot be achieved to provide the 
mitigation measures on Site pursuant to the 
Approved Biodiversity Mitigation and 
Enhancement Scheme and pay the Biodiversity 
Impact Compensation to the Council. 

Page 21



 
 

Consultee Response 
The following planning conditions also need to be 
imposed:  

• Construction Environmental Management Plan 
• Boundary Treatment 
• Landscape & Habitat Management Plan 
• Lighting 

National Forest 
(4th Nov 2022) 

No Objection subject to conditions relating to the extent 
of the site to be set aside for National Forest planting. 
The illustrative masterplan indicates 1.89Ha of National 
Forest planting, which is slightly more than the minimum 
of 20% of the site area required for sites of this size in 
this location. 

 
 Ward Councillor and Parish Council Response 
Cllr Popley Called in - Traffic and access concerns 
Shepshed Parish Council 

• Concern about traffic on Ingleberry Road. Suggest 
speed limit extension, and clear access/egress point. 

• Footpath link along Ingleberry Road unsuitable. 
• Flood risk relating to cumulative development. 
• Concern about number of houses permitted within 

National Forest area. 
• Site too far from local amenities, thereby increasing 

need for travel by car. 
• Council requests financial obligation toward town 

regeneration. 

Responses to publicity 
  From                                                               Comments 
Seven letters of objection 
received from 6 
addresses  

• Traffic, particularly when M1 motorway is closed, and 
traffic is diverted along Ingleberry Road. 

• Risk to pedestrian safety. 
• Concern about increased traffic on unsuitable 

Iveshead Lane. 
• Creation of a rat-run through the estate caused by the 

stopping up of Iveshead Lane. 
• Concern about flood risk – existing infrastructure 

incapable of accommodating. 
• Site is within a Mineral Safeguarding Area. 
• Mineral Investigation Report is inaccurate and 

misleading. 
• Charnwood Brick has a permission to extract from 

Shepshed Quarry time limited until 2041. The next 

Page 22



 
 

planned phase of extraction is close to the application 
area. 

• Importance of Charnwood Forest, and need for 
additional woodland, thereby reducing the number of 
dwellings deliverable. 

• Travel sustainability concern – public transport 
inadequate, forcing more use of cars. 

• Need for developer contributions for health, 
education and leisure. 

 
8. Consideration of the Planning Issues 
 
8.1 Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 requires the planning 

authority to have regard to the provisions of the development plan, so far as it is 
material to the application, and to any other material considerations. Section 38(6) of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 tells us that if regard is to be had 
to the development plan for the purpose of determining an application, determination 
must be made in accordance with the plan, unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. The most relevant policies for the determination of this application are 
listed above and are contained within the Development Plan for Charnwood which 
comprises the Core Strategy (2015), those “saved” policies within the Borough of 
Charnwood Local Plan 1991-2026 (2004) which have not been superseded by the 
Core Strategy (2011-2028), and the Minerals and Waste Local Plan (2019). 

 
8.2 Amongst the other material considerations of most relevance to this application are 

the National Planning Policy Framework (2021) and the submitted Charnwood Local 
Plan 2021-37. 

 
8.3 The Core Strategy and Charnwood Local Plan 1991-26 are over 5 years old, and it is 

important to take account of changing circumstances affecting the area, or any 
relevant changes in national policy. Other than those policies which relate to the 
supply of housing, the relevant policies listed above are up to date and compliant with 
national guidance and as such that there is no reason for them to be given reduced 
weight. The Planning Authority cannot currently demonstrate a 5-year supply of 
deliverable housing land (4.27 years) and, as a result, footnote 8 of paragraph 11 in 
the NPPF tells us that any policies which directly relate to the supply of housing are 
out of date. They cannot be afforded full weight.  

 
8.4 Limb i) of NPPF paragraph 11d sets out that where the proposal conflicts with NPPF 

policies which protect areas or assets of particular importance, these can offer a clear 
reason to refuse an application. These are generally nationally designated areas such 
as SSSI’s, designated Local Green Space, AONBs and designated heritage assets.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



 
 

8.5 In this case, the site is not in an area specifically protected by the NPPF. Therefore, 
the NPPF’s presumption in favour of sustainable development and the ‘tilted balance’ 
described in paragraph 11d(ii) applies. The shortfall in the supply of deliverable 
housing sites means that, in accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development (at paragraph 11d), any adverse impacts caused by the proposal must 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh its benefits if planning permission is to be 
refused.  

 
8.6 The main planning considerations applicable to this application are considered to be:  

 
• Principle of development  
• Housing mix 
• Landscape & Visual Impact 
• Design & Layout 
• Open Space  
• Impact on residential amenity 
• Ecology and biodiversity  
• Impact on trees 
• Land contamination 
• Minerals safeguarding 
• Highway matters 
• Flooding and drainage  
• Planning Obligations/ S106 Contributions  

 
9.  Key Issues  
 

Principle of the Development  
 
9.1 The principle of development is guided by local plan policy CS1 of the Charnwood 

Core Strategy (2015). Policy CS1 outlines the development strategy for the borough 
and the distribution of sustainable growth. Policy CS1 seeks to provide growth at 
Loughborough and Shepshed and makes provision for at least 5,000 new homes 
between 2011 and 2028. The policy seeks approximately 1,200 new homes within 
and adjoining Shepshed to support its regeneration and supports sustainable 
development that contributes to meeting development needs.  

 
9.2 Saved Local Plan Policy ST/2 and Proposals Map of the Charnwood Local Plan 

identify Limits to Development for various settlements in the Borough. Polices CT/1 
and CT/2 allow development outside the limits defined by ST/2 in very limited defined 
circumstances. A major housing development is not one of the circumstances.   

 
9.3 The site is located outside of defined Limits to Development and within Countryside. 

It is therefore contrary to the adopted Development Plan.  
 
9.4 However, the housing supply policies of the Development Plan are out of date as the 

Core Strategy is more than five years old and the Local Planning Authority can 
currently demonstrate only 4.27 years housing land supply (at 31/3/23). Therefore, 
the “tilted balance” toward approval applies. 

Page 24



 
 

 
9.5 The submitted Charnwood Local Plan for 2021-37 is a material consideration.  The 

overall spatial strategy for Charnwood between 2021 and 2037, as defined in 
emerging Policy DS1, is urban concentration and intensification with some limited 
dispersal to other areas of the Borough. The most environmentally sensitive areas 
will be protected, and the pattern of development will provide a balance between 
homes, jobs and facilities. The Council will support sustainable development that: 

 

• contributes towards meeting our needs for housing, employment and town centre 
uses within the defined Limits to Development and allocations defined in this plan.  

• minimises the need to travel, particularly by private car, and prioritises public 
transport, walking and cycling.  

• protects the intrinsic character of the countryside. 
• maintains the functions of Green Wedges and Areas of Local Separation. 
• safeguards and delivers a net gain in biodiversity. 
• supports Loughborough as the main social, economic and cultural focus within 

the Borough and its compact and walkable town centre. 
• supports the vitality and viability of the Town Centre, District Centres and Local 

Centres to serve the day to day needs of their communities. 
• supports the regeneration and economic success of urban areas. 
• makes efficient use of land including using brownfield or underused land and 

buildings. 
• safeguards services and facilities. 
• contributes to local priorities identified in neighbourhood plans; and 

is in accordance with the policies in this plan.  
 

9.6 The spatial distribution of housing across the Borough includes provision for 12% of 
the additional homes to be developed in Shepshed. 

 
9.7 Charnwood Borough Council will make provision for homes in accordance with Policy 

DS1 and will support housing development on the sites listed in this policy. We will 
support development that: 

 

• is cohesive and integrated with other allocations set out in this plan 
including in relation to the provision of new schools and other 
infrastructure; and  

• in accordance with the other policies in this plan and the site-specific 
requirements set out in this policy below.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 25



 
 

9.8 The application site area is wholly within the emerging housing allocation site (HA40), 
described in Policy DS3. The Council will support development proposals at site 
HA40 that:  

• are accompanied by a flood risk assessment which responds to the 
evidence of flood risk on the site and demonstrates how mitigation of 
those risks, including securing appropriate site access arrangements, 
can be satisfactorily achieved so as to meet the Exception Test; and  

• contribute to the reasonable costs of the provision of a new 3 form entry 
primary school located at Site HA32.  

 
9.9 In the preparation of the next local development plan, Charnwood Local Plan 2021-

37, the Council undertook comprehensive assessment of land which had some 
potential to contribute to future housing land supply. The subject lands were amongst 
those assessed in a standardised format. The 20 assessed criteria included 
landscape sensitivity, access to schools and public transport amongst other factors. 
Distances to a secondary school (1200-3200m) and a convenience store (over 
1200m to a food shop) were listed as “minor constraints”. Access to public transport 
(200-400m from a bus stop), open space (within 400m) and healthcare (within 1200m 
walking distance) were “minor positive” factors.  Many of the other criteria were 
assessed as having neutral effects. These included flood risk, land and soils, historic 
environment, access to primary school (800-1200m) and access to leisure facilities 
(within 800m of one facility). When ranked with other candidate sites, the application 
site was considered to have appropriate attributes and was included in the submitted 
Plan as a new housing allocation site. 

 
9.10 The anticipated yield from HA40 is 174 dwellings, although this number is not 

described as a cap, or a target. The site abuts allocation site HA39, which lies to the 
north and west of the boundaries of HA40. The Examination of the submitted Plan is 
underway, and some in-course adjustments have been discussed. In the proposed 
Main Modifications to the Plan, the total allocation for Shepshed has been increased 
from 2,331 dwellings in the submitted Plan to 2,681. The yield from the application 
site (HA40) has been increased from 174 to 200. 

 
9.11 The oral hearing sessions of the examination have now concluded. A number of the 

policies in the submitted Local Plan have been contested and must be afforded limited 
weight in the consideration of planning applications at this point in the plan adoption 
process. 

 
9.12 Contested policies include DS1, Development Strategy, and DS3, Housing 

Allocations. It is considered that the Development Strategy is consistent with the 
policies in NPPF paragraph 20. The Housing Allocations are consistent with the 
NPPF policies in paragraph 68.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 26



 
 

9.13 In summary, the development of 200 dwellings in this location is contrary to the 
adopted Development Plan, however, the housing policies must be given reduced 
weight as the Council cannot demonstrate a 5-year supply.  Shepshed is an identified 
area of growth in the submitted Local Plan where the site is allocated for housing. 
These policies can currently be given limited weight.  As the tilted balance applies, 
the conflict with the development plan will be weighed in the planning balance, under 
the presumption in favour of sustainable development. 

 
Housing Mix 

 
9.14 Policy CS3 (Affordable Housing) of Core Strategy outlines a requirement to secure 

an appropriate housing mix having regard to the identified housing needs and the 
character of the area and suggests 20% of the units should be affordable homes to 
meet local needs. Similarly, paragraph 63 of the NPPF also allows for affordable 
housing contribution on major development sites of 10 or dwellings. 

  
9.15 The Housing Supplementary Planning Document provides further guidance in 

support of this relating to how these units should be detailed. These policies generally 
accord with the NPPF and do not frustrate the supply of housing. As a result, it is not 
considered that there is a need to reduce the weight that should be given to them. 

 
9.16 The Leicestershire Housing and Economic Needs Assessment (HENA) 2022 outlines 

a recommended housing mix for the Borough in respect of both market and affordable 
housing. This includes the following housing mix: 

 
Affordable social/affordable rented 
1 bed 35% 
2 bed 35% 
3 bed 25% 
4+ bed 5% 
Affordable home ownership 
1 bed  20% 
2 bed 40% 
3 bed 30% 
4+ bed 10% 
Market 
1 bed 5% 
2 bed 30% 
3 bed 45% 
4+ bed 20% 

 
9.17 Emerging Local Plan policy H1 seeks a mix of house types, tenures and sizes to meet 

overall needs in the Borough in line with up-to-date evidence. Policy H2 seeks at least 
10% of new market homes on major sites to meet Building Regulations Part M4(2) 
standards for accessible and adaptable and an appropriate proportion of affordable 
homes to meet M4(2) and/or M4(3). Policy H4 seeks 30% affordable housing from 
major housing developments (67% affordable homes for rent and 33% affordable 
homes for ownership).  

Page 27



 
 

 
9.18 A planning condition is recommended to secure development in accordance with the 

new Building Regulations standards, as the emerging policy H1 is at an advanced 
stage, is in accordance with the NPPF paragraph 130 and there are no outstanding 
objections. This condition has recently been accepted by the Planning Inspectorate 
as reasonable and necessary for emerging allocation DS3 (HA15) (application 
P/21/0550/2, appeal decision APP/X2410/W/21/3289048 dated 18/11/22). 

 
9.19 The proposal under consideration is cognisant of the affordable housing tenure 

requirements described in Policy CS3 and can be secured by planning agreement. 
The precise house type mix of the affordable and market housing will be determined 
at reserved matters stage, in accordance with the planning agreement. The proposal 
also accords with emerging policies H1, H2 and H4 of the submitted Local Plan.  The 
provision of 20% affordable units is also a significant benefit of the scheme which 
should be given positive weight within the planning balance. 

 
Landscape and Visual Impact 

 
9.20 Policies CS2 and CS11 of Charnwood Core Strategy are concerned with protecting 

the landscape and ensuring new development does not result in visual harm. These 
policies generally accord with the National Planning Policy Framework and do not 
directly impact on the supply of housing. As a result, it is not considered that there is 
a need to reduce the weight that should be given to them.  Emerging policy EV1 of 
the submitted Local Plan requires development to protect landscape character and 
reinforce local distinctiveness.  The site falls within the National Forest and 
Charnwood Forest where emerging policy EV4 applies.  The policy seeks to protect 
and enhance the regional forest and provide tree planting in accordance with National 
Forest guidelines. These policies are at an advanced stage in production, were 
considered at the hearing sessions in June 2022 and are consistent with the NPPF 
and can thus be given moderate weight.   

 
9.21 The Charnwood Landscape Character Assessment (July 2012) identifies six 

landscape character areas within the Borough. The application site sits within 
“Charnwood Forest”. Charnwood Forest Core has a strong sense of place created by 
its hilly landform and mosaic of farmland, small villages and woodland, heathland and 
grassland with wooded valleys. The relationship of domestic elements and woodland 
gives a distinctive and attractive character, and the current planting of new woodlands 
and management of existing woods will strengthen the character further. Wooded 
landscape features are generally in good condition, with ancient trees respected and 
retained where possible. Field boundaries are generally intact and create a strong 
landscape feature. Hedges and hedgerow trees are well tended, although some dry-
stone boundary walls are neglected and there is some evidence of localised hedge 
reduction. The two country parks are well tended.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



 
 

9.22 The application is supported by a Landscape and Visual Impact Appraisal (LVIA) (v3 
dated December 2022) and a Landscape Mitigation Strategy (Rev D, December 
2022) and these are stated to have informed the Illustrative Masterplan Rev F (the 
latest submission is Rev H).  The LVIA assessed the proposal based upon a scheme 
of 2 and 2.5 storey dwellings.  The site is a single arable field with hedgerow 
boundaries and boundary trees.  The site slopes downwards from south-west to 
north-east (121m AOD to 104m AOD).  The highest point in the area is Ives Head to 
the south 0.45km from the site (204m AOD) which screens views from the south.  
Ingleberry House farm (and its associated buildings) is the nearest dwelling to the 
south-east, and there are overhead power cables within the site.  The site is adjacent 
to the Shepshed quarry to the east and landfill site to the west.  The LVIA states that 
the site has an urban fringe setting and the majority of the site is not distinctive or 
tranquil due to the road setting and proximity of the M1.   

 
9.23 The LVIA assessed 6 viewpoints, including local walking routes and Iveshead Lane 

and Ingleberry Road.  The LVIA found that “The combination of intervening landform, 
mature landscape features and the well-wooded character of the site’s surrounding 
(within the Charnwood Forest) are likely to sufficiently mitigate the development 
Proposal” (para 3.16).  The LVIA considers that the site has a low sensitivity to 
change, and the immediate landscape is of medium landscape sensitivity (para. 
5.32). Of those 6 viewpoints, at year 15 the greatest effect will be on users of 
Ingleberry Road and users of the permissive route through Morley Quarry LWS 
looking east (both moderate/minor adverse effects). In addition, the nearest dwellings 
would receive moderate/minor adverse visual effects (paras 6.59-6.65).  

 
9.24 The strength of landscape character of the Charnwood Forest Core is considered 

strong, and the landscape condition is strong. The landscape strategy is therefore 
“conserve and manage”.  The LVIA concludes that the impact on landscape 
character, by year 15 of the development would be “the maturation of the landscape 
features, with tree and structure planting along periphery and across the site, as well 
as along the green corridors through the site, make an obvious contribution to the 
character of the site where they are able to grow more freely within the landscape 
buffer areas. This contributes to a reduction of impacts to slight, resulting in a minor 
adverse level of effect. The effect is permanent” (para. 6.14).  The mitigation 
proposed by the LVIA is for 2 storey development (max. 2.5 storey within the core of 
the site) and green buffers to the site boundaries, retention of existing hedgerows and 
trees (save removals required for the site access), creation of green corridor within 
the site, orchard to the south-east boundary, extensive tree planting to meet the 
required 20% national forest planting. Management and maintenance of the 
landscaping is also recommended in the LVIA. Mitigation measures during 
construction are also recommended; an arboricultural method statement, visual 
screening (hoarding) to Ingleberry Road, and a construction method statement and 
lighting strategy (LVIA paras. 2.28-2.45).   

 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



 
 

9.24 The Landscape Mitigation Strategy (Rev D) shows the retention of field boundaries 
and woodland tree planting to the western boundary.  The site’s design is also 
influenced by the objectives of National Forest’s strategy, such that 20% of the site’s 
area is to be set aside for forest green infrastructure. In addition, the design includes 
attenuation swales, new soft landscaping and functional open space, avenue tree 
planting and orchard.  The eastern boundary to Ingleberry Road will change, but tree 
planting along the road is proposed and dwellings will face the road.  The latest 
Illustrative Masterplan (Rev H) broadly accords with the Landscape Mitigation 
Strategy (Rev D) and it is recommended that compliance with these documents  are 
secured by condition at this stage, to ensure that the layout at reserved matters stage 
accords with these established landscape principles.  

 
9.25 With reference to the Charnwood Local Plan 2011 to 2028 Core Strategy (adopted 

November 2015), Policy CS12 (entitled 'Green Infrastructure'), requires: 'new 
development on the site to consider the wider green infrastructure network and 
incorporate multifunctional green spaces that maintain and enhance the green 
infrastructure framework.' The proposed development embraces the aspirations of 
the policy, and supplementary planning guidance on Housing (adopted May 2017) 
and Design (adopted January 2020) for the establishment of green and blue 
infrastructure in association with new development. Through the retention and 
enhancement of the site's landscape fabric, as well as the provision of the landscape 
and ecological enhancements to the site, and the provision of a significant area of 
Public Open Space, the proposed development can conserve, enhance and manage 
locally important landscape features, as well as afford betterment for landscape 
amenity and ecology / habitat creation through the site. 

 
9.26 The overall development would accord with policies CS2, CS11 and CS12 of the Core 

Strategy and the Landscape Character Appraisal (2012) and emerging policies EV1 
and EV4 of the Local Plan. 

 
Design and Layout 

 
9.27 Policy CS2 of the Core Strategy requires new developments to respect and enhance 

the character of the area and saved policy EV/1 of the Local Plan supports 
development that is of a design, scale, layout and mass compatible with the locality, 
and which uses materials appropriate to the locality.  

 
9.28 The Charnwood Design Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) includes a set of 

design principles which reflect those identified in Policy CS2. Whilst this is an outline 
planning application, save for access details, the applicant must demonstrate an 
understanding of the design principles, applied to the site’s unique characteristics.  
Emerging policy DS5 seeks high quality design that respect and enhance the charter 
of the area.  The policy is at an advanced stage, has been considered at the hearing 
sessions and there are no unresolved objections and the policy is consistent with the 
NPPF paragraph 130.  It can therefore be given moderate weight.    

 
 
 

Page 30



 
 

9.29 The application is supported by an Illustrative Masterplan (007 Rev H).  The site is 
crossed by pylon mounted overhead electricity cables. The area beneath those lines 
is to be used as open space, including play areas and attenuation ponds. The 
illustrative Masterplan has been designed with a street hierarchy organised as 
primary, secondary and minor routes, in accordance with the guidance in the SPD 
para 3.73, shown on Street Hierarchy Plan 400 Rev A.  

 
9.30 The principal vehicular entrance to the site from Ingleberry Road would include the 

formation of a right-turn lane on the priority road. The first short length of development 
road is shown as lined by built development on both sides, before revealing an 
expansive green and blue space, beneath the electricity lines. In the revised 
illustrative masterplan, that route would connect with Iveshead Lane, via a number of 
speed control devices. Following the stopping-up of Iveshead Lane (as required by 
the Highways Authority and discussed further below) this would become a through 
route.  The final site layout will be designed at reserved matters stage.   

 
9.31 The Primary Route is illustrated as a loop road which would encompass the central 

green & blue space, as well as roughly 24 houses. Secondary roads radiate from the 
primary route.  These in turn reduce to Minor roads and private roads serving small 
numbers of houses. 

 
9.32 The illustrative masterplan indicates an area of 1.89Ha for National Forest planting. 

This is largely along the western and northern site boundaries and equates to just 
over 20% of the developable area. It also illustrates additional green spaces which 
would be used as play areas, landscaped areas, a community orchard and 
attenuation ponds. A series of pedestrian routes, independent from roadways flow 
around the site, connecting occupants within the site with open spaces, and to the 
edges of the site along pedestrian desire lines. 

 
9.33 Housing is shown as being set back somewhat from Ingleberry Road and from the 

farm complex to the south-east. The separation would help noise attenuation 
(discussed further below). 

 
9.34 It is acknowledged that the application was submitted before the emerging local plan 

was published as a Pre submission Draft (July 2021), so the Masterplan initially dealt 
with the application site in isolation. That submitted Local Plan includes this site as a 
housing allocation (HA40) and also identified the site to the north and west as a 
housing allocation (HA39). The Street Hierarchy Plan shows the potential for a 
footpath connection to the adjacent allocation, to aid permeability of the two 
developments.  

 
9.35 It is considered a proposal that complies with NPPF, National Design Guide, policies 

CS2, CS11 and CS13 of Charnwood Core Strategy, EV/1 of Local Plan and the 
Charnwood Design SPD and emerging policy DS5 of the Local Plan could be 
achieved.  

 
 
 
 

Page 31



 
 

Impact on Trees 
 
9.36 Policies CS2 and CS11 of the Core Strategy seek to ensure high quality design that 

reflects the character and context of the area, which in this location comprises low 
density development and agricultural land with mature trees and hedges. These 
policies generally accord with the National Planning Policy Framework and do not 
conflict the supply of housing. Emerging policy EV7 seeks to retain existing trees and 
provide new trees in accordance with National Forest Planting Guidelines. The policy 
is at an advanced stage, there are no outstanding objections, and the policy is 
consistent with the NPPF.  The policy can be given moderate weight.   

 
9.37 The application is supported by a Tree Survey dated January 2023.  The development 

proposes the removal of T5 to T14 along Ingleberry Road (category U, B1 and C1 
trees, so none are of high retention priority) and the hedgerow on Ingleberry Road 
(H2) and 3 trees along Iveshead Lane (category U).  Otherwise, the perimeter site 
boundaries are unaffected. The proposal includes forest planting, which will result in 
a significant increase in the number of trees on the site. 

 
9.38 Consequently, subject to the imposition of conditions to secure the retention of 

existing trees and hedgerows, save for those identified for removal, the proposed 
development accords with relevant policies in the Core Strategy, particularly Policy 
CS11 (Landscape and Countryside) and Policy CS2 (High-Quality Design). 

 
Ecology and Biodiversity 

 
9.39 Policy CS13 of the Core Strategy seeks to conserve and enhance the natural 

environment with regard to biodiversity and ecological habitats and further guidance 
is provided in the Council’s Biodiversity Guidance (June 2022).  

 
9.40 The NPPF states that planning decisions should minimise impacts upon and provide 

net gains for biodiversity. Emerging policy EV6 seeks 10% biodiversity net gain and 
the protection and enhancement of habitats, species and networks. Emerging policy 
EV7 supports the retention of existing trees and new tree planting. Although the 
Environment Act 2021 makes provision for 10% biodiversity net gain, the relevant 
sections of the Act have not yet been brought into force to make it a legal requirement 
and is not currently required by national policy. It is considered that emerging Local 
Plan policy EV6 can be given moderate weight, given that representations to the 
policy have been discussed during the examination, and that it is consistent with 
NPPF paragraphs 174 and 179. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 32



 
 

9.41 The application was supported by an Ecological Impact Assessment dated October 
2020 and a Biodiversity Impact Assessment (BIA) metric and Phase 1 Habitat Plan.  
A revised BIA was submitted in October 2022 with a revised Proposed Habitat Plan 
and a revised Ecological Impact Assessment was submitted in January 2023 (v2) to 
reflect the revised layout. Further to commentary by the CBC Ecologist a further 
revision of the BIA metric was submitted on 18th May 2023.  The Assessment notes 
that the site is within 36m of Newhurst Quarry SSSI and within the impact risk zone.  
Approximately 95% of the site is arable field.  The hedgerows are habitats of value, 
but do not qualify as important hedgerow under the Hedgerow Regulations.  That 
Assessment concluded that there would be no significant effect on on-site biodiversity 
and recommended the following: 

• retention of hedgerows (save removal required for the site access) with an 
appropriate buffer and new native hedgerow planting and woodland block and 
SUDS habitat 

• Great Crested Newts precautionary measures 
• Protection of bat roost trees and new bat boxes 
• Bat sensitive lighting scheme for construction and operation  
• Vegetation removal outside nesting season, and installation of bat boxes 
• Construction Environment Management Plan  
• Hedgehog gaps in boundary fencing 
• Biodiversity net gain on site if possible        

The BIA metric (May 2023) anticipates that the development will create a net gain of 
biodiversity on site (net gain of 0.51 habitat units).   

 
9.42 The Council’s Biodiversity Officer has confirmed that the latest submitted BIA metric 

is acceptable.  It is considered that the proposal is acceptable subject to conditions 
to secure the recommendations of the Ecological Assessment and a S106 agreement 
to secure a Biodiversity Impact Assessment to be submitted at reserved matters 
stage and ecological mitigation and off-site compensation (if necessary).  In 
accordance with policy CS13 and the Biodiversity Planning Guidance, on-site net 
gain and mitigation should be considered first, then off-site mitigation and then off-
site compensation as a last resort.    

 
9.42 Consequently, the proposal, subject to the required obligations in the S.106 Legal 

Agreement, imposition of planning conditions and detailed design/mitigation at 
reserved matters application, is considered acceptable and would comply with policy 
CS13 of the Charnwood Local Plan 2006-2028 Core Strategy. Whilst emerging Policy 
EV6 would not be wholly satisfied, the conflict with this policy cannot be determining 
at this date. 

 
Open Space  

 
9.43 Policy CS15 of the Core Strategy seeks to ensure adequate open space is provided 

to serve the needs of new development.  This policy generally accords with the NPPF 
and does not directly prevent the supply of housing.  As a result, it is not considered 
that there is a need to reduce the weight that should be given to the policy. 

 

Page 33



 
 

9.44 Charnwood Borough Council Open Space have raised no objections subject to the 
open space indicated on the indicative layout plan following good design principles 
to create a space that is visually attractive and encourages active lifestyles. The 
submitted layout has demonstrated that the necessary on-site provision can be 
accommodated. A planning condition can be imposed to secure on-site open space 
provision including natural and amenity green space and National Forestry. The 
requested contributions are generally agreed with the applicant. The off-site 
contribution toward indoor sports facilities is based upon a Sport England Facility 
Calculator. That, by itself would not be in compliance with CIL regulation 122, but the 
request is supported by reference to the Council’s adopted Indoor Built Sport 
Facilities Strategy 2018 Priorities and Action Plan. That strategy currently has no 
viable projects which would be relevant to the application site, and so the financial 
obligation requested in that respect cannot be supported. 

  
9.45 The requirement for open space is consistent with Core Strategy Policy CS15. The 

amount of space required is consistent with the findings of the Council’s Open Space 
Assessment and Playing Pitch Strategy. Consequently, the proposal is considered to 
comply with policy CS15 of the Development Plan. 

 
9.46 Policy EV9 in the emerging Local Plan shares objectives with CS15. It has been 

examined during the hearing session in June 2022. Based upon the advanced stage 
which the emerging plan has reached, the level of unresolved objection and 
consistency with NPPF paragraphs 84,93, 98 and 99 this emerging policy can be 
given moderate weight. The proposal is considered to comply with this policy. 

 
Impact on Residential Amenity 

 
9.47 Policies CS2 of the Core Strategy and EV/1 of the Local Plan seeks to protect the 

amenity of existing and future residents. The Charnwood Design SPD (2020) also 
provides spacing standards and guidance to ensure an adequate level of amenity.  
Saved policy EV/1 of Local Plan and policy CS2 of Core Strategy require high quality 
design that does not impact on the amenity of adjacent properties or create poor 
standards of amenity for future occupiers. The Charnwood Design SPD (2020) also 
provides spacing standards and guidance to ensure an adequate level of amenity is 
achieved. 

 
9.48 Emerging Local Plan policy DS5 states that new development will be required to 

protect the amenity of people who live or work nearby and those who live in the new 
development. Emerging policy EV11 states that the Council will support development 
that does not lead to a significant impact upon, and deterioration of local air quality 
resulting an unacceptable impact on human health, local amenity or the natural 
environment.  These policies can be given moderate weight as they are at an 
advanced stage, with no unresolved objections and consistent with the NPPF.  

 
9.49 Emerging policy H3 sets out internal space standards that would need to be met by 

the development and would be considered at reserved matters stage. Although this 
policy is consistent with paragraph 130 of the NPPF there remain unresolved 
representations. This policy can be given only limited weight. 

 

Page 34



 
 

9.50 The application is supported by a Noise Assessment (January 2023, Rev C) and Air 
Quality Assessment (December 2022, Rev B). The Noise Assessment considered 
noise from Ingleberry Road and the adjacent farm. The Air Quality Assessment 
considered the impact on air quality and did not recommend any development-
specific mitigation.  A Travel Plan is recommended and a Dust Management Plan.    

 
9.51 The only existing occupied building close to the site boundary is at Ingleberry Farm. 

That house is separated from the development site by a large group of farm buildings, 
and by a distance of 70m to the closest boundary. Therefore, the proposal would not 
result in a detrimental level of harm on the occupiers of this building in terms of 
overlooking, overshadowing or overbearing impact. 

 
9.52 Future occupants of the proposed dwellings could potentially be impacted by air 

quality and noise nuisances emanating from sources outside the application site, and 
not controlled by the applicant. These include Ingleberry Farm, Newhurst Energy 
Recovery Facility and traffic generated noise from Ingleberry Road. Additional 
nuisances will arise during the construction phase. The Council’s environmental 
protection officers are satisfied that the impact of these nuisances can be mitigated 
by the imposition of conditions, to secure the recommendations in the Noise 
Assessment.   Air Quality can be secured by a condition to secure a Dust 
Management Plan. A Construction Method Statement is also recommended to be 
secured by condition.  

 
9.53 A planning condition is recommended to secure development in accordance with the 

nationally described space standards, as this policy is at an advanced stage, is in 
accordance with the NPPF paragraph 130 and has limited objections. This condition 
has been recently been accepted by the Planning Inspectorate as reasonable and 
necessary for emerging allocation DS3 (HA15) (application P/21/0550/2, appeal 
decision APP/X2410/W/21/3289048 dated 18/11/22). 

 
9.54 The proposal would, therefore, subject to the imposition of conditions, comply with 

the provisions of policies CS2 of Charnwood Core Strategy and EV/1 of Local Plan 
along with NPPF, National Design Guidance and the guidance set out in the Design 
SPD to protect residential amenity and emerging policies DS5, EV11 and H3. 

 
Highway Matters  

 
9.55 Polices CS2 and CS18 of the Core Strategy and TR/18 of the Local Plan seek to 

ensure safe access is provided to new development and policy CS17 is concerned 
with encouraging sustainable transport patterns, including securing new and 
enhanced bus services from major development and new bus stops where the site is 
more than 400m walk from an existing bus stop.  These policies generally accord with 
the National Planning Policy Framework and do not directly prevent the supply of 
housing.  As a result, it is not considered that there is a need to reduce the weight 
that should be given to them. Paragraph 111 of the NPPF seeks to ensure new 
development does not result in an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or a 
severe residual cumulative impact on the road network. Paragraph 112 of the NPPF 
seeks to promote sustainable travel choices. 

 

Page 35



 
 

9.56 Emerging Local Plan policy CC5 states that the Council will support sustainable 
patterns of development which will minimise the need to travel and seek to support a 
shift from travel by private car to walking, cycling and public transport. The policy 
states that the Council will support major development that secures, where possible, 
new and enhanced bus services, including new bus stops where development is 
more than a 400m walk from an existing bus stop. Emerging policies INF1 and INF2 
seek to secure appropriate infrastructure to mitigate the impacts of development. 
Given the level of unresolved representation to the examination in respect of INF1 
and INF2 these policies are afforded limited weight. 

 
Site Access 

 
9.57 The principal means of vehicular and pedestrian access to, and egress from this site 

is onto Ingleberry Road (plan T20534-001 Rev F). The site has a frontage onto that 
road extending to around 200m in length. With an entrance positioned near the middle 
of this frontage, the separation distance to the Iveshead Lane junction with Ingleberry 
Road would be around 220m. Visibility splays of 2.4m by 172m and 122m will be 
provided at the site access, and a 1.8m/2.0m wide footway will be added along 
Ingleberry Road, to link to the existing footway.   

 
9.58 A secondary access point will later be formed at its proposed junction with Iveshead 

Lane. The site will also be accessed from Iveshead Lane at the western extent of the 
proposed stopping up (shown on plan T22574_001 Rev A).  The stopping up is as 
follows: 

• Iveshead Lane will be stopped up (i.e. have highway rights removed) between 
Ingleberry Road (at the eastern end of the stopping up) and the western edge 
of the proposed development site; 

• At the eastern end of the stopping up, highway verge will be installed across 
the former junction mouth at Ingleberry Road; 

• At the western end of the stopping up: 
• A highway surface change and a method such as retractable bollards will 

discourage and prevent vehicles from travelling into the stopped up section of 
Iveshead Lane; 

• Iveshead Lane will be diverted into the proposed development site; 
• Replacement 'Not Suitable for Motor Vehicles' signs, as currently located at 

Ingleberry Road, will be erected to discourage trips from / through from the site 
heading west along Iveshead Lane; and 

• A turning head will be constructed within the site to enable vehicles to turn 
around rather than accessing Iveshead Lane. 

• A 'Not Suitable for Motor Vehicles' sign will be erected at the western end of 
Iveshead lane, i.e. at its junction with Iveshead Road. 

 
 
 
 

Page 36



 
 

The LHA acknowledge that the proposals could potentially open up the Lane to more 
use for the new residents.  But it is considered that only a small number of residents 
may choose to use the Lane to and from the west (approx.. 7-8 two-way trips morning 
and evening peak hours).  The Lane is narrow with few passing places and a poor 
surface and this will discourage use.  Currently only approximately 40 vehicles per 
day are understood to use Iveshead Lane at present, these trips will benefit from a 
higher standard of junction with Ingleberry Road, i.e. the new site access.  The 
Highways Authority is satisfied that the proposed site access arrangements would 
be safe and  suitable providing that Iveshead Lane were stopped up on the approach 
to Ingleberry Road. 

 
Pedestrian/ cycle access 

 
9.59 The proposal includes works on Ingleberry Road to widen the existing footpath 

connecting the site with Shepshed town centre to between 1.8m and 2.0m, to the 
north of the site. This is achieved by reducing the width of the priority road (to 
between 6.2m and 6.9m), which may have a secondary benefit of reducing traffic 
speed.   

 
Highway Safety.  

 
9.60 The Highways Authority has assessed personal injury collision data and are satisfied 

that there are no patterns which would be exacerbated by the proposals.   
Off-site implications  

 
9.61 The applicant has submitted a Transport Assessment (TA) and updated this in 

dialogue with LCC Highways. The TA considers the impact of traffic generated by 
the subject development, and potential impacts upon existing road and junction 
capacities. LCC Highways are content with the latest iteration of the assessment, 
subject to planning conditions and S.106 planning obligations which would see a 
contribution being made by the developer to relevant highway improvements, as 
follows: 

• Junction capacity mitigation scheme for Ingleberry Road/Nanpanton Road/B5330 
Staggered Crossroads junction (plan T20534_009) secured by condition 

• Ingleberry Road footpath proposals (discussed above, plan T20534_001 rev F) 
secured by condition 

• Ingleberry Road/Ashby Road (A512)/Leicester Road traffic signal junction 
(contribution to improvement scheme, based upon the proportion of impact on the 
junction, £186,000 (one-hundred and eight-six thousand pounds),) to be secured via 
the S106 agreement 

A Construction Traffic Management Plan is also recommended to be secured by 
condition 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 37



 
 

Internal Layout 
 
9.63 This is an outline planning application, so it is appropriate that the internal layout is 

indicative at this stage. The Highways Authority advise that the layout responds 
appropriately to the site’s features, constraints and context. It will be possible for the 
applicant to design an internal roads layout to adoptable standards. 

 
Transport Sustainability 

 
9.64 The Local Highway Authority (LHA) is not satisfied with the Travel Plan submitted, 

and seeks a planning condition requiring an updated Travel Plan. They had raised 
concerns about the separation of the site from Shepshed, and about the allocation of 
the site in the emerging local development plan. The nearest bus stops are 580m 
from the centre of the site, on the A512 near its junction with Ingleberry Road. This is 
in excess of the 400m walk sought by policy CS17. 

 
9.65 Therefore, the LHA seeks improvement to the nearest existing eastbound bus stop 

and a new westbound bus stop on the A512, to be secured by condition. The new 
stop would still be more than 400m from the centre of the site, Although less than 
400m from the site’s pedestrian entrance. They seek contributions which would 
encourage the use of buses, and a monitoring fee for LCCs Travel Plan Monitoring 
System.  

 
9.66 Consequently, the proposed development, with the recommended conditions and 

S106 obligations, is considered to be in accordance with Polices CS2, CS17 and 
CS18 of the Core Strategy and TR/18 of the Local Plan, which seek to ensure safe 
access is provided to new development and encourage sustainable transport 
patterns. Policy CC5 in the emerging Local Plan is consistent with NPPF paragraphs 
104-106 and can be given moderate weight given the stage reached by the emerging 
plan, and its consideration of representations to this policy during the examination. 
Policy DS5 (High Quality Design) in the emerging Local Plan is consistent with NPPF 
paragraph 130 and can be given moderate weight given the stage reached by the 
emerging plan, and its consideration of representations to this policy during the 
examination. The proposal does not conflict with these emerging policies. Policy INF2 
(Local and Strategic Road Network) in the emerging Local Plan is consistent with 
NPPF paragraphs 104-106, 110 and 113. It can be only limited weight given the level 
of unresolved representation to the examination. 

 
Land Contamination 

 
9.67 Core Strategy Policy CS2 requires new developments to protect the amenity of 

people who live and work nearby and those who will live in the new development. 
The NPPF states that planning decisions should ensure new development is 
appropriate for its location, and avoid noise giving rise to significant adverse impact 
on health and quality of life. Planning decisions should identify opportunities to 
improve air quality or mitigate impacts, and ensure the site is suitable for its proposed 
use, taking account of ground conditions.  

 

Page 38



 
 

9.68 Emerging Local Plan policy DS5 states that new development will be required to 
protect the amenity of people who live or work nearby and those who live in the new 
development. The policy is at an advanced stage, there are no unresolved objections 
and the policy is consistent with the NPPF and can be given moderate weight.  

 
9.69 The Phase I Desk Study Report by ASL identified potential sources of contamination 

and hazardous ground gases in the immediate surrounding area of the development, 
associated with landfill, waste sites and areas of infilled land. An intrusive 
investigation is therefore recommended to assess the actual contaminative status of 
the ground including the presence of ground gases, before commencement of any 
development works. 

 
9.68 The Council’s Environmental Health Team have raised no objections subject to 

imposition of a planning condition for intrusive ground investigation and remediation 
strategy.  

 
9.69 Consequently, the proposed development accords with relevant policies in the Core 

Strategy, particularly Policy CS2 of the Charnwood Core Strategy, Policy EV/1 of 
Local Plan and NPPF.  

 
Flood risk and drainage 

 
9.70 Policy CS16 of the Core Strategy and the NPPF direct development away from areas 

at highest risk of flooding. The site is entirely within Flood Zone 1, being at low risk of 
fluvial flooding. The submitted flood risk assessment identifies a localised area to the 
north of the site where the risk is elevated. The illustrative masterplan shows an 
attenuation pond in the affected area. 

 
9.71 Emerging Local Plan policy CC1 directs development to flood zone 1 and requires 

major development to be supported by a Flood Risk Assessment. Emerging policy 
CC2 supports major developments that use sustainable drainage systems in 
accordance with the drainage hierarchy, to provide multifunctional benefits and to 
secure their maintenance. Emerging policies CC1 and CC2 can be given limited and 
moderate weight respectively, due to their advanced stage and compliance with the 
NPPF, however CC1 is expected to be subject to main modifications due to updated 
national guidance.     

 
9.72 The site is within Flood Zone 1 (low risk of fluvial flooding) and at low risk of surface 

water flooding. The surface water proposals seek to discharge to onsite attenuation 
basins before being discharged at a QBar discharge rate of 24.2l/s to an existing 
watercourse at the sites northern boundary. Subsequent to the previous LLFA 
response the applicant has submitted an amended flood risk assessment and 
supplementary information that satisfies the query regarding the proposed 
attenuation. 

 
9.73 There is attenuation proposed to limit run-off rates, with attenuation basins for sub-

catchments areas. This will ensure that surface water is captured and released in a 
managed approach, such that it will not add to the watercourse when it is in spate 
and will not, therefore, exacerbate existing flooding issues. 

Page 39



 
 

 
9.74 The Lead Local Flood Authority have raised no objections subject to imposition of 

pre-commencement planning conditions in relation to detailed surface water drainage 
scheme, infiltration testing, management and long-term maintenance of surface water 
drainage system. The Environment Agency has confirmed that there are no 
environmental constraints associated with the application site which fall within the 
remit of the Environment Agency. 

 
9.75 Consequently, the proposal is considered acceptable having regard to Policy CS16 

of Charnwood Core Strategy, emerging policies CC1 and CC2 and the NPPF.  
 

Impact on mineral resources 
 
9.76 The site is located within a Mineral Safeguarding Area for brick clay. Policy M11 of 

the Leicestershire County Council Mineral and Waste Local Plan aims to prevent non-
mineral related development from potentially sterilising any mineral present within a 
Mineral Safeguarding Area. 

 
9.77 The consultation response from Leicestershire Minerals planning unit raises no 

objection to the development of this land. 
 
9.78 Housing allocation site HA39 (adjacent to the site to the north and west) has the 

benefit of extant planning approvals for extracting clay, and for stockpiling clay 
imported from other pits. A public comment raises concern that the application site 
could be impacted by future extraction by Charnwood Brick from Shepshed Quarry, 
which is time limited until 2041 and the next planned phase of extraction is close to 
the application area. 

 
9.79 The HA39 site’s clay extraction approvals include 2017/0963/02, which varied the 

permission granted by 2000/0883/02. The 2017 permission considers a phased 
extraction and restoration. Phase 2 is the land adjacent to the western boundary, and 
Phase 3 is the land adjacent to the northern boundary of the current application site. 
Extraction from Phase 2 appears to be complete, or nearing completion. Condition 5 
on the 2017 approval requires that the developer must not commence work on phase 
3 without prior approval from the Mineral Planning Authority or until the restoration of 
phase 1 has been completed. Neither condition has been met yet. 

 
9.80 The 2017 permission includes noise conditions which identify sensitive receptor 

premises. These include a dwelling at 30 Ashby Road. This dwelling is as close to 
the northern boundary of the approved phase 3 extraction as the dwellings proposed 
in this application would be to the southern boundary of phase 3. It is therefore 
considered that the potential for noise nuisance caused by the extraction from phase 
3 of the approved clay pit is adequately controlled by the planning conditions within 
the 2017 approval. 

 
 
 
 

Page 40



 
 

9.81 The 2017 permission includes dust conditions which require the quarry operator to 
suppress dust arising, or to temporarily cease operations if suppression is ineffective, 
and/or activities give rise to “unacceptable levels of dust”. There is no definition in 
that decision for unacceptability, so it would be for the mineral local planning authority 
to make that assessment. Dust from the adjacent quarry is not a concern that has 
been raised by the Environmental Health team. The applicant submitted an expert 
report in March 2023 setting out their view that the proposal would not impact upon 
the extant quarrying approval, and that no loss of amenity would be suffered by the 
future residents should the quarry implement its extant approval in full. The County 
Council’s Minerals and Waste Planning Authority has been re-consulted and has 
raised no objection to the proposals. 

 
9.82 The proposed development would not be in conflict with Policy M11 of the 

Leicestershire County Council Minerals and Waste Local Plan (2019). Furthermore, 
it is considered that the proposed development would not be in conflict with the 
relevant provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework, notably Paragraphs 
187, 210 and 212. The conditions relating to the 2017 minerals approval already 
impose controls on the operation of the extraction site, and the current proposal would 
not impose additional constraints. 

 
Sustainable Construction and Energy Efficiency 

 
9.83 Policy CS16 of the Core Strategy encourages sustainable design and construction 

where it does not make the development unviable and requires major development 
to demonstrate how the need to reduce emissions has influenced the design, layout 
and energy source used.  

 
9.84 The Design and Access Statement refers to the use of renewable technologies such 

as solar panels, a fabric first approach to construction, cycle infrastructure and 
electric vehicle charging points.  These sustainable design measures are welcomed 
and details will be provided at reserved matters stage to comply with policy.  

 
9.85 The proposal in the interest of air quality and climate change would comply with policy 

CS16 of Charnwood Development Plan. Policy CC4 in the emerging Local Plan 
shares objectives with CS16. Given its consistency with NPPF paragraph 157 and 
the level of unresolved representation to the plan examination this emerging policy 
can be afforded moderate weight. 

 
Heritage Impacts  
 

9.86 The appellant submitted a Heritage Assessment (Dec 2022) to support the 
application.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 41



 
 

9.87 Data available from Historic England and the Local Planning Authority shows that 
there are no designated heritage assets within the proposed development site. There 
are no designated heritage assets assessed as sensitive to development outside of 
the site. There are no non-designated heritage assets recorded within the study site; 
and previous archaeological trial works to the north and the west of the site did not 
produce evidence to suggest the probable presence of archaeological assets within 
the site.  

 
9.88 Based on the existing archaeological data for the site and the surrounding area, the 

site is considered to have a low potential for the presence of other significant (i.e. 
non-agricultural) remains of all periods. Any surviving remains are likely to be of local 
interest and would be significant for their archaeological interest and potential to 
contribute to regional research agendas. On the basis of the limited archaeological 
potential identified there are no fundamental archaeological constraints to 
development on the site. It is recommended that a planning condition is added 
requiring further investigation prior to development. 

 
9.89 The proposal, as described in the submitted plans and reports has satisfactorily 

addressed the requirements of Policy CS14. Policy EV8 in the emerging Local Plan 
is consistent with NPPF paragraphs 20 and 190, and can be afforded moderate 
weight. Its objectives are broadly similar to those of Policy CS14. Subject to the 
further investigation required by planning conditions, the proposal does not conflict 
with these policies. 

 
Planning Obligations/ S.106 Agreement 

 
9.90 Infrastructure Policies CS3, CS13, CS15, CS17 and CS24 of the Core Strategy 

requires the delivery of appropriate infrastructure to meet the aspirations of 
sustainable development either on site or through appropriate contribution towards 
infrastructure off-site relating to a range of services. Policies from the submitted Local 
Plan INF1, INF2, DS3, SUA1, H1, H2, H3, H4 and CC1 which would require 
contributions to infrastructure have limited weight and are not relied upon in this 
report. Emerging plan policies CC4, CC5, EV6, EV7, EV8, EV9 have moderate 
weight, and do inform the assessment of the appropriate level of infrastructure. As 
set out within related legislation such requests must be necessary to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms, directly related to the development and 
fairly related in scale and kind. Consultation regarding the application resulted in the 
following requests to meet infrastructure deficits created by the development:  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 42



 
 

Affordable Housing 
(5th June 2023) 

20% of dwellings to be affordable housing with 50% 
social and affordable rent and 50% shared 
ownership 
Affordable / Social Rent 
Minimum 20% 1 bed 2 person maisonette / house. 
Minimum 5% 2 bed 3 person bungalow built to M4(2) 
building regs with level access shower in situ. 
Minimum 35% 2 bed 4 person house. 
Minimum 5% 4 bed 7 person house. 
 
Intermediate 
A mix of two, three and some four bedroomed homes. 
 

Open Space  0.15ha on-site accessible multi-functional green 
space area 
0.96ha on-site natural and semi-natural open space 
0.22ha on-site Amenity Open Space 
One on-site LEAP facility (Provision for Children), 
with a 20m buffer between the equipment and the 
nearest dwelling. 
On-site equipment/ facilities for Young People Local 
alongside LEAP or off-site contribution of £190,798 
1.25ha on-site or £65,874 off-site contribution for 
Outdoor Sport facilities. 
0.16ha on-site, or £22,584 off-site contribution for 
creation of additional allotments. 

Sustainable Transport  Travel pack (one per dwelling) (£52.85 per pack). 
6 months bus pass (two per dwelling) (£360 per 
pass). 
STARS for (Sustainable Travel Accreditation and 
Recognition Scheme) monitoring fee of £6,000. 
£186,000 toward upstream junction capacity 
improvements. 

Biodiversity  
 

To submit the Biodiversity Mitigation and 
Enhancement Scheme to the Council for its written 
approval with any Reserved Matters Application.  
To submit an updated Biodiversity Impact 
Assessment with the reserved matters. 
To provide the Biodiversity Net Gain on Site in 
accordance with the Approved Biodiversity 
Mitigation and Enhancement Scheme.  
Where the provision of the Biodiversity Net Gain on 
site cannot be achieved to provide the mitigation 
measures off-site pursuant to the Approved 
Biodiversity Mitigation and Enhancement Scheme 
and pay the Biodiversity Impact Compensation to 
the Council. 

Leicester, Leicestershire & 
Rutland ICB 

Financial contribution of £109,155.78 toward the 
cost of additional clinical accommodation for 
additional patients at Forest House Surgery, 25 

Page 43



 
 

Commissioning Group 
(NHS) 
 

Leicester Road, Shepshed, LE12 9DF and at Field 
Street Surgery, Field Street, Shepshed, LE12 9AL. 

Leicestershire County 
Council Library Services 

£6,055.20 contribution towards the enhancement 
of Shepshed Library.  

Leicestershire County 
Council Waste 
management 

£8,542 contribution towards Recycling and 
Household Waste Site at Shepshed RHWS. 

Leicestershire County 
Council Education 

Early Years - £312,052.00 contribution towards 
provision, improvement, remodelling or 
enhancement of education facilities at Newcroft 
Primary Academy or at other schools or other early 
learning provision within the locality of the 
development. 
Primary School Sector – £75,259.60 contribution 
towards provision, improvement, remodelling or 
enhancement of education facilities at Newcroft 
Primary Academy. 
Secondary School Sector (11-18) - £724,720 
contribution towards provision, improvement, 
remodelling or enhancement of education facilities 
at Iveshead School or at other schools within the 
locality of the development.  
Secondary SEND Education (11-19) – 
£112,896.86 contribution. This contribution would 
be used to accommodate the capacity issues 
created by the proposed development by improving, 
remodelling, enhancing existing facilities or 
contributing towards the provision of a new school 
within the DfE approved planning area serving the 
development or any other school within the locality 
of the development. 

Shepshed Town Centre 
Public Ream Project 

£141,600 (£708 per dwelling) contribution toward 
the Shepshed Town Centre Public Ream Project 

 
9.91 The Shepshed Market Place Regeneration Scheme project has identified, designed 

and consulted on a scheme of improvements to the Market Place, Bull Ring, Hall 
Croft and Field Street, based on the Shepshed Town Centre Masterplan. The project 
has been commissioned using developer contributions, capital funding forward 
funded from the Council’s capital plan and funds secured through the Leicester and 
Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership and UK Shared Prosperity Fund will require 
further funding to complete and respond to the impact of new residents. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 44



 
 

9.92 A developer contribution of £239 per dwelling was identified in 2015 based on 
indicative scheme costs available at that time to ensure development directly 
contributes to the regeneration of Shepshed, including improving accessibility and 
enhancing the pedestrian environment and public realm in the town centre, in 
accordance with Policy CS1, CS8 and CS9.  In view of detailed costings for delivering 
the Shepshed Town Centre Public Realm Project becoming available recently, a 
decision has been made to recast the formula for calculating developer contributions 
through S106 agreements, to ensure future development continues to make an 
appropriate contribution to the regeneration of Shepshed in accordance with adopted 
policy, and emerging policy SUA1 of the Local Plan. 

 
9.93 Contributions sought for off-site ecology would only arise in lieu of obligations which 

cannot be met on site during the Reserved Matters detailed design stage. There is 
no reason to believe that the biodiversity net gain could not be provided on-site. An 
off-site ecology contribution would be a last resort 

 
9.94 These contributions are considered to be CIL compliant and would allow the 

necessary infrastructure to meet policies CS3, CS13, CS15, CS17 and CS24 and 
meet the statutory tests contained in Regulation 122 of the CIL, and the requirements 
of paragraph 57 of the NPPF. 

 
10.  Conclusion 
 
10.1 As there is currently an insufficient supply of deliverable housing sites (4.27 years), 

this application is to be determined on the basis of para 11dii) of the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development in the NPPF.  This means that there must be 
adverse impacts which would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits 
for planning permission to be refused.  The benefits of 200 dwellings on a site ranked 
highly in the emerging Local Plan’s site selection assessment, of which 20% would 
be affordable, is afforded significant weight.  

 
10.2 There are no technical constraints relating to highways, heritage or flooding that 

cannot be mitigated. Biodiversity impact/ mitigation/ net gain and landscape can be 
secured by way of planning condition, reserved matters and S.106 legal agreement. 
The Minerals Planning Authority do not object to the proposal.  

 
10.3 Weighed against this is the conflict with the adopted Development Plan policies, 

which sets out the spatial strategy for the Borough. The proposed development would 
be contrary to saved policy ST/2 of the Local Plan which defines the Limits to 
Development of Shepshed, and with the relevant provisions of saved Policy CT/1 of 
the Borough of Charnwood Local Plan. However, policy CS1 of the Core Strategy is 
one of the most important policies in the determination of this application and this 
defines Shepshed as a sustainable settlement.  The weight that can be given to these 
policies is reduced due to the Council’s lack of 5-year housing land supply.  

 
10.4 The impacts of the proposed development on local infrastructure can either be offset 

within the application site or otherwise secured via commuted payments to improve 
facilities in the area. 

 

Page 45



 
 

10.5 The submitted Local Plan 2021-37 is a material consideration and the emerging 
policies within it can be given limited to moderate weight at this time, as discussed 
above.  The site is an emerging housing allocation and is part of the emerging 
strategy of the Borough to deliver housing and maintain a 5 year supply of housing.  
The proposal is considered to comply with all relevant emerging policies.  

 
10.6 In conclusion, it is considered that there are no impacts of the development of this 

site that cannot be mitigated and that would be so significant and demonstrably 
harmful as to outweigh the benefits of providing housing development  in a 
sustainable location. The benefits relate to the contribution of the proposal to the 
Council’s housing land supply deficit and deliverability, sustainable location, 
affordable housing and afforestation.  In addition, future residents would contribute to 
the local economy and support shops and services through household spending.  
Community and other infrastructure provision, are mitigation measures, which 
overlap with public benefit in some cases. The application is therefore on balance, 
recommended for approval  subject to appropriate conditions being attached and 
contributions being secured to support local infrastructure as part of S.106 Legal 
Agreement as set out below. 

 
11. Recommendation 

 
RECOMMENDATION A:  
 

 That authority is given to the Head of Planning and Growth and the Head of Strategic 
Support to enter into an agreement under section 106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 to secure improvements, on terms to be finalised by the parties, 
as set out below: 

 
Affordable Housing 20% of dwellings to be affordable housing with 

50% social and affordable rent and 50% shared 
ownership 
 
Affordable / Social Rent 

• Minimum 20% 1 bed 2 person maisonette 
/ house. 

• Minimum 5% 2 bed 3 person bungalow 
built to M4(2) building regs with level 
access shower in situ. 

• Minimum 35% 2 bed 4 person house. 
• Minimum 5% 4 bed 7 person house. 

 
Intermediate 
A mix of two, three and some four bedroomed 
homes. 
 

Regard should be given to the Adopted Housing 
Supplementary Planning Document (HSPD).  
 

Page 46



 
 

The adopted SPD seeks to secure affordable 
housing to NDSS standards to accommodate the 
following number of people: - 
 
• 1 bed: 2 person maisonette / house 
• 2 bed: 3 person bungalow 
• 2 bed: 4 person house 
• 3 bed: minimum 5 person house 
• 4 bed: minimum 7 person house 

 
It is also expected that affordable homes should 
meet lifetime homes standards (please note this 
has now been incorporated into Part M of building 
regulations – to align our policies with this update, 
affordable homes should be built to M4(2) 
building regulation standards. 
 

Charnwood Borough 
Council Open Space  

0.15ha on-site accessible multi-functional green 
space area. 
0.96ha on-site natural and semi-natural open 
space. 
0.22ha on-site Amenity Open Space. 
One on-site LEAP facility (Provision for Children), 
with a 20m buffer between the equipment and the 
nearest dwelling. 
On-site equipment/ facilities for Young People 
Local alongside LEAP  
1.25ha on-site or £65,874 off-site contribution for 
Outdoor Sport facilities. 
0.16ha on-site, or £22,584 off-site contribution for 
creation of additional allotments. 
 

Sustainable Transport  Travel pack (one per dwelling) (£52.85 per pack) 
6 months bus pass (two per dwelling) (£360 per 
pass). 
STARS for (Sustainable Travel Accreditation and 
Recognition Scheme) monitoring fee of £6,000 
£186,000 toward upstream junction capacity 
improvements. 

Biodiversity  To submit the Biodiversity Mitigation and 
Enhancement Scheme to the Council for its 
written approval with any Reserved Matters 
Application.  
To submit an updated Biodiversity Impact 
Assessment with the reserved matters. 
To provide the Biodiversity Net Gain on Site in 
accordance with the Approved Biodiversity 
Mitigation and Enhancement Scheme.  

Page 47



 
 

Where the provision of the Biodiversity Net Gain 
on site cannot be achieved in full to provide the 
further mitigation measures off-site pursuant to 
the Approved Biodiversity Mitigation and 
Enhancement Scheme and as a last resort pay 
the Biodiversity Impact Compensation to the 
Council. 

Leicester, Leicestershire & 
Rutland ICB 
Commissioning Group 
(NHS) 

Financial contribution of £109,155.78 toward the 
cost of additional clinical accommodation for 
additional patients at Forest House Surgery, 25 
Leicester Road, Shepshed, LE12 9DF and at Field 
Street Surgery, Field Street, Shepshed, LE12 9AL. 

Leicestershire County 
Council Library Services 

£6,055.20 contribution towards the enhancement 
of Shepshed Library.  

Leicestershire County 
Council Waste 
management 

£8,542 contribution towards Recycling and 
Household Waste Site at Shepshed RHWS.  

Leicestershire County 
Council Education 

Early Years - £312,052.00 contribution towards 
provision, improvement, remodelling or 
enhancement of education facilities at Newcroft 
Primary Academy or at other schools or other 
early learning provision within the locality of the 
development. 
Primary School Sector – £75,259.60 
contribution towards provision, improvement, 
remodelling or enhancement of education 
facilities at Newcroft Primary Academy or any 
other school within the locality of the 
development. 
Secondary School Sector (11-18) - £724,720 
contribution towards provision, improvement, 
remodelling or enhancement of education 
facilities at Iveshead School or at other schools 
within the locality of the development.  
Secondary SEND Education (11-19) – 
£112,896.86 contribution. This contribution 
would be used to accommodate the capacity 
issues created by the proposed development by 
improving, remodelling, enhancing existing 
facilities or contributing towards the provision of a 
new school within the DfE approved planning 
area serving the development or any other school 
within the locality of the development. 

Shepshed Town Centre 
Public Realm 

£141,600 (£708 per dwelling) contribution toward 
the Shepshed Town Centre Public Realm Project 

 
 
 
 

Page 48



 
 

RECOMMENDATION B:  
 

That subject to the completion of the S106 agreement in recommendation A above, 
grant conditionally subject to the imposition of the following draft conditions and 
reasons and that the Head of Planning and Growth, in consultation with the Chair of 
the Plans Committee for amendments to the conditions and reasons, be given 
delegated authority to determine the final detail of planning conditions.  
 
Recommended conditions: 
 

1  Application for approval of all the reserved matters shall be made to the Local 
Planning Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this 
permission and the development hereby permitted shall be begun either 
before the expiration of five years from the date of this permission or before 
the expiration of two years from the date of approval of the last of the 
reserved matters to be approved whichever is the later.  
 
REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990, as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, and Article 5(1) of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Development Procedure) Order 2015 (as amended). 
 

2  Details of the layout, scale, appearance and landscaping (hereafter referred 
to as 'the reserved matters') shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority before any development takes place and the 
development shall be carried out as approved.  
 
REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990, as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, and Article 6 of the Town and Country 
Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as 
amended). 
 

3  The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following plans and documents:  
 
Drawings 

 
Site Location Plan n1409_001 C 
Parameter Plan n1409_004 E 
Street Hierarchy Plan n1409_400 A 
Illustrative Masterplan 007 H 
Green Infrastructure Plan n1409_101C (includes National Forest 

Planting Plan) 
Landscape Mitigation Strategy ZLA-1035-L-200-D 
Proposed Site Access Layout T20534-001F 
Stopping Up Order Plan T22574-002 Rev A 
Drainage Strategy Plan EM039-EN-XXXA 
BIA Baseline Habitat Plan  RSE_6558_BIAB_1022_V4R2 

Page 49



 
 

BIA Proposed Habitat Plan RSE_6558_BIAP_0223_V5R2 
BIA Retention Plan RSE_6558_BIAR_0223_V5R2 
 

Reports 
 

25981-04-AWA-B Air Quality Assessment 
25981-04-NA-01-C Noise Assessment 
Tree Survey 2023 
Heritage Assessment v2.1 
Ecological Impact Assessment RSE_6558a_02_V2  
BIA Metric V5R2 
SIR-BWB-ZZ-XX-RP-YE-0001_FRA 
ASL Report Desk Study 
Consultation Statement 
Mineral Investigation Report 
Planning Statement 
T22574 – Highways Update Note 18.10.22 
T20534 - Addendum Transport Assessment 
T20534 Transport Assessment 
 

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt. 
 

4  The details submitted pursuant to condition 2 above shall include full details 
of existing and proposed ground levels and finished floor levels of all 
buildings relative to the proposed ground levels. The development shall 
thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  
 
REASON: To ensure the development is in character with its landscape and 
surroundings and to ensure amenity of new residents is protected in 
accordance with policies CS2 and CS11 of the Core Strategy and policy EV/1 
of the Local Plan 
 

5  No development for any phase of the development shall commence until a 
Construction Management Plan for that phase has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Construction of the 
permitted development must be undertaken in accordance with the approved 
Construction Management Plan.  
The Plan must include, but not be limited to, arrangements for the following 
in respect of each phase of the works:  

a) details of any temporary construction access to the site including 
measures for removal following completion of construction works;  

b) restriction on the use of Ingleberry Road access for construction 
purposes;  

c) haulage route planning; 
d) wheel and chassis underside washing facilities on site to ensure that 

mud and debris is not spread onto the adjacent public highway;  
e) the parking of contractors’ site operatives and visitor’s vehicles;  
f) areas for storage of plant and materials used in constructing the 

development clear of the highway;  

Page 50



 
 

g) measures to manage the delivery of materials and plant to the site 
including routing and timing of deliveries and loading and unloading 
areas;  

h) details of the routes to be used by HGV construction traffic and 
highway condition surveys on these routes;  

i) protection of carriageway and footway users at all times during 
demolition and construction;  

j) protection of contractors working adjacent to the highway;  
k) details of site working hours;  
l) erection and maintenance of hoardings including decorative displays, 

security fencing and scaffolding on/over the footway & carriageway 
and facilities for public viewing where appropriate;  

m) means of minimising dust emissions arising from construction 
activities on the site, including details of all dust suppression 
measures and the methods to monitor emissions of dust arising from 
the development;  

n) measures to control and monitor construction noise;  
o) an undertaking that there must be no burning of materials on site at 

any time during construction;  
p) removal of materials from site including a scheme for 

recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 
construction works;  

q) details of the measures to be taken for the protection of trees;  
r) details of external lighting equipment;  
s) details of ditches to be piped during the construction phases;  
t) a detailed method statement and programme for the building works; 

and  
u) contact details for the responsible person (site manager/office) who 

can be contacted in the event of any issue.  
 

REASON: To ensure a satisfactory means of access to the site from the 
public highway in the interests of highway safety and the convenience of all 
highway users, and to protect the amenity of neighbours and residents in the 
dwellings occupied during the construction of the development in accordance 
with policies CS2, CS13, CS16 and CS17 of the Core Strategy and the NPPF 
 

6  No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until an 
order stopping up Iveshead Lane for its length shown on drawing number 
T22574_002 Revision A, 'Proposed Stopping Up of Iveshead Lane - General 
Layout' has been made and confirmed. 
 
REASON: To ensure highway safety and the satisfactory operation of the 
highway system to accord with Policy CS18 of the Core Strategy and the 
NPPF.  
 

7  No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied until 
Iveshead Lane has been stopped up pursuant to the stopping up order, as 
shown on drawing number T22574_002 Revision A, 'Proposed Stopping Up 
of Iveshead Lane - General Layout', and an alternative vehicular route, 

Page 51



 
 

illustrated on drawing ‘Illustrative Masterplan (n1409_007_Revision H)’ 
through the proposed development between “Point A” and Point B” has been 
completed to adoptable standards. 
 
REASON: To ensure highway safety and the satisfactory operation of the 
highway system to accord with Policy CS18 of the Core Strategy and the 
NPPF.  
 

8  Any reserved matters application submitted shall include pedestrian 
connection to the site boundary near the north-west corner of the site, as 
illustrated on Street Hierarchy Plan n1409_400 A. 
 
REASON: To provide for any future pedestrian linkage though lands outside 
the site to Ashby Road, and Shepshed town centre, in the interests of high 
quality design, in accordance with Policy CS2 in the Charnwood Local Plan 
2011-2028 Core Strategy (2015). 
 

9  Any reserved matters application submitted shall include pedestrian routes 
from Ingleberry Road to Iveshead Lane as shown indicatively on Illustrative 
Masterplan drawing number n1409_007_Revision H 
 
REASON: To ensure highway safety and the satisfactory operation of the 
highway system to accord with Policy CS18 of the Core Strategy and the 
NPPF.  
 

10  No part of the development hereby permitted shall be first occupied until an 
amended full Travel Plan which sets out actions and measures with 
quantifiable outputs and outcome targets has been submitted to and agreed 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the agreed Travel Plan 
shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details.  
 
REASON: To reduce the need to travel by single occupancy vehicle and to 
promote the use of sustainable modes of transport in accordance policy 
CS17 of the Core Strategy and with the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2021). 
 

11  No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied until such 
time as the access arrangements shown on Hub drawing number 
T20534_001 Revision F, 'Proposed Site Access Layout', have been 
implemented in full.  
 
REASON: To ensure that vehicles entering and leaving the site may pass 
each other clear of the highway, in a slow and controlled manner, in the 
interests of general highway safety and in accordance with policy CS18 of 
the Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework (2021). 
 

12  No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied until such 
time as vehicular visibility splays of 2.4 metres by 172m metres to the south 
and 2.4 metres by 122m to the north have been provided at the site access 

Page 52



 
 

in accordance with approved drawing Proposed Site Access Layout T20534-
001F. These shall thereafter be permanently maintained with nothing within 
those splays higher than 0.26 metres above the level of the adjacent 
footway/verge/highway.  
 
REASON: To afford adequate visibility at the access to cater for the expected 
volume of traffic joining the existing highway network, in the interests of 
general highway safety, and in accordance with policy CS18 of the Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework (2021). 
 

13  No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied until such 
time as the pedestrian access to Ingleberry Road shown on Hub drawing 
number T20534_001 Revision F, 'Proposed Site Access Layout', has been 
implemented in full.  
 
REASON: To reduce the need to travel by single occupancy vehicle and to 
promote the use of sustainable modes of transport in accordance with policy 
CS18 of the Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2021). 
 

14  The proposed site access arrangements shown in Hub drawing number 
T20534_001 Revision F, 'Proposed Site Access Layout', shall not be opened 
for public use until the offsite works shown on Hub drawing number 
T22574_001 Revision A, 'Proposed Stopping Up of Iveshead Lane - General 
Layout', have been implemented in full. 
 
REASON: In the interests of general highway safety and in accordance with 
policy CS18 of the Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2021). 
 

15  No part of the development shall be occupied until such time as the offsite 
pedestrian footway works shown on Hub drawing number T20534_001 
Revision F, 'Proposed Site Access Layout', have been implemented in full. 
  
REASON: To reduce the need to travel by single occupancy vehicle and to 
promote the use of sustainable modes of transport in accordance with 
policies CS17 and CS18 of the Core Strategy and the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2021). 
 

16  No part of the development shall be occupied until such time as the offsite 
works shown on Hub drawing number T20534_009, 'Ingleberry Road / 
Nanpantan Road / B5330 Proposed Mitigation', have been implemented in 
full.  
 
REASON: To mitigate the impact of the development, in the general interests 
of highway safety and in accordance with policy CS18 of the Core Strategy 
and the National Planning Policy Framework (2021). 
 

Page 53



 
 

17  No part of the development shall be occupied until such time as a scheme of 
new and improved bus stops on the A512 has been submitted to and 
approved  in writing with the Local Planning Authority and implemented in full 
in accordance with the approved details.  
 
REASON: To reduce the need to travel by single occupancy vehicle and to 
promote the use of sustainable modes of transport in accordance with policy 
CS18 of the Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2021). 

18  The layout and landscaping details submitted pursuant to condition 2 shall 
include:  

• Retention of trees in accordance with drawing MF/13895 within the 
Tree Survey (Jan 2023)  

• Save for hedgerow removal required to enable the access road and 
its visibility splays hereby approved, the retention of all existing 
boundary hedgerows.  

• National Forest planting proposals, in accordance with he Parameters 
Plan, showing a minimum of 20% of the site area afforested. 

• Open Space landscaping proposals 

 
REASON: To minimise the landscape and visual impact of the development 
in accordance with the Landscape and Visual Assessment (Zebra, 
November 2020) to integrate and connect the development into the 
landscape and to the town and to comply with policies CS2 and CS11 of the 
Charnwood Local Plan 2011-2028 Core Strategy (2015), and The National 
Forest Guide for Developers and Planners. 
 

19  The details submitted pursuant to condition 2 above shall include the 
following minimum amounts and typologies of open space: -  

• Multi-function green space (minimum 0.15ha)  
• Natural open space (minimum 0.96ha) 
• Amenity Open Space (minimum 0.22ha) 
• A LEAP facility, with a 20m buffer between the equipment and the 

nearest dwelling 
• On-site equipment/ facilities for Young People Local alongside LEAP 

REASON: To ensure that the open space needs of future residents are met 
at a level that complies with Policy CS15 of the Charnwood Local Plan 2011-
2028 Core Strategy (2015). 
 

20  The landscaping details submitted pursuant to condition 2 above shall 
include: - 
i) the treatment proposed for all ground surfaces, including hard surfaced 
areas.  

Page 54



 
 

ii) planting schedules across the site, noting the species, sizes, numbers and 
densities of plants and trees; including tree planting within the planting belt 
to the east of the site.  
iii) finished levels or contours within any landscaped areas.  
iv) any structures to be erected or constructed within any landscaped areas 
including play equipment, street furniture and means of enclosure.  
v) functional services above and below ground within landscaped areas; and  
vi) all existing trees, hedges and other landscape features, indicating clearly 
any to be removed. vii) all proposed boundary treatments viii) position and 
type of bins to be provided.  
 
REASON: To make sure that a satisfactory landscaping scheme for the 
development is provided so that it integrates into the landscape and 
surrounding area and complies with policies CS2 and CS11 of the 
Charnwood Local Plan 2011-2028 Core Strategy (2015) and saved policy 
EV/1 of the Borough of Charnwood Local Plan. 
 

21  The details to be submitted pursuant to condition 2 shall include a housing 
mix for market and affordable homes that reflect up to date evidence of 
housing need in the Borough.  
 
REASON: To secure the development provides an appropriate mix of homes 
having regard to the identified housing needs of the area in accordance with 
policy CS3 of the Core Strategy and the NPPF. 
 

22  The details to be submitted pursuant to condition 2 shall show all units in 
compliance with the Nationally Described Space Standards.  
 
REASON: To secure a high standard of amenity for future residents in 
accordance with emerging Policy H3 of the Charnwood Local Plan 2021- 37 
and paragraph 130 of the NPPF. 
 

23  The details to be submitted pursuant to condition 2 shall include that 10% of 
new market homes will meet the Building Regulations Part M4(2) standard 
for being accessible and adaptable. The affordable homes on the site shall 
meet the M4(2) and/or M4(3) standards for being suitable for wheelchair 
users, subject to updated standards, assessment of viability and/or site-
specific constraints.  
 
REASON: To meet the needs to the ageing population and people with 
disabilities and to secure a high standard of amenity for future residents in 
accordance with emerging Policy H2 of the Charnwood Local Plan 2021- 37 
and paragraph 130 of the NPPF. 
 

24  The details submitted pursuant to condition 2 shall include an Arboricultural 
Impact Assessment of the proposed layout in accordance with the 
recommendations of the Tree Survey (Retention and Removal Advice) 
January 2023.    
 

Page 55



 
 

REASON: To ensure the development will mitigate impacts on existing trees 
and include new tree planting, in accordance with Policies CS2, CS11, CS13 
and CS15 of the Charnwood Local Plan 2011-2028 Core Strategy (2015) 
and the NPPF and saved policy EV/1 of the Borough of Charnwood Local 
Plan. 
 

25  Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, a Landscape 
and Ecology Management Plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The LEMP shall follow the 
recommendations in the Ecological Impact Assessment, and shall include a 
landscape management plan, including long term design objectives, 
management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all public open 
spaces, ecological mitigation areas and surface water drainage system. 
Thereafter, the LEMP shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.  
 
REASON: To ensure that public areas are maintained at good quality and 
that drainage systems retain full function and to protect habitats of 
importance to biodiversity conservation on the site from any loss or damage 
in accordance with Policies CS2, CS11, CS13, CS15 and CS16 of the 
Charnwood Local Plan 2011-2028 Core Strategy (2015) and the NPPF and 
saved policy EV/1 of the Borough of Charnwood Local Plan. 
 

26  Prior to the first occupation, a detailed outdoor lighting scheme shall be 
submitted to, and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
scheme shall include full details of the proposed lighting and how the scheme 
has been designed to avoid illuminating bat sensitive areas. The 
development shall be implemented, and thereafter maintained, in 
accordance with the approved scheme.  
 
REASON: To ensure that the development does not cause harm to any 
protected species or their habitats in accordance with policy CS13 of the 
Charnwood Local Plan 2011-2028 Core Strategy (2015). 
 

27  The details submitted pursuant to condition 2 shall include full details of a 
scheme for the location of bat and bird boxes, to be integrated into buildings. 
Thereafter and prior to the first use or occupation of any building with a bat 
or bird box, the bat and bird boxes shall be installed on that building in 
accordance with the approved details, and retained and maintained in 
perpetuity.  
 
REASON: To protect habitats of importance to biodiversity conservation from 
any loss or damage in accordance with Policy CS13 of the Charnwood Local 
Plan 2011-2028 Core Strategy (2015) and the NPPF. 
 

28  No development shall take place until the retained trees around the site 
perimeter, in accordance with drawing MF/13895 within the Tree Survey (Jan 
2023), and all existing hedgerows have been protected in accordance with a 
Tree and Hedgerow Protection Plan that has been submitted to and 

Page 56



 
 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The barriers shall be 
erected before any equipment, machinery or materials are brought onto the 
site for the purposes of development and shall be maintained until all 
equipment machinery and surplus material has been removed from the site. 
Nothing shall be stored or placed within the areas protected by the barriers 
erected in accordance with this condition and the ground levels within those 
areas shall not be altered, nor shall any excavations be made, without the 
written consent of the Local Planning Authority.  
 
REASON: To ensure the continued health of retained trees and hedgerows 
to ensure that they are not adversely affected by the construction works, in 
the interests of the visual amenity of the area, to ensure the integration of the 
development into the existing landscape and to comply with policies CS2 and 
CS11 of the Charnwood Local Plan 2011-2028 Core Strategy (2015). 
 

29  The layout details submitted pursuant to condition 2 above shall include a 
Noise Assessment Report to confirm mitigation measures to ensure internal 
and external noise guidelines can be achieved and over-heating does not 
occur, as recommended by the Acoustics Assessment Report (MEC 
Acoustic Air, Jan 2023). This Noise Assessment Report shall be 
accompanied by a Noise Mitigation Scheme which confirms necessary 
glazing and ventilation requirements on a plot by plot basis to control noise 
within habitable rooms and mitigation for external amenity areas to achieve 
acoustic standards detailed within BS 8233:2014.  
 
REASON: To protect the amenity of future residents in accordance with 
policies CS2 and CS16 of the Charnwood Local Plan 2011-2028 Core 
Strategy (2015). 

30  If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be 
present at the site, no further development shall be carried out until full details 
of a remediation strategy detailing how the unsuspected contamination shall 
be dealt with has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Thereafter the remediation strategy shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved details. 
  
REASON: To ensure that any ground and water contamination is identified 
and adequately addressed to ensure the safety of the development, the 
environment and to ensure the site is suitable for the proposed use, to 
comply with policy CS2 of the Core Strategy and the NPPF. 
 

31  No development approved by this planning permission shall take place until 
such time as a surface water drainage scheme has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Prior to the first 
occupation of each dwelling hereby approved, the drainage scheme to serve 
that dwelling shall be constructed and completed in accordance with the 
approved plans.  
 
REASON: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage and 
disposal of surface water from the site and in accordance with biodiversity 

Page 57



 
 

interests in accordance with policies CS2, CS13 and CS16 of the Charnwood 
Local Plan 2011-2028 Core Strategy (2015) and the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2021). 
 

32  No development approved by this planning permission shall take place until 
such time as details in relation to the management of surface water on site 
during construction of the development has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved details shall be 
adhered to and implemented throughout the construction period.  
 
REASON: To prevent an increase in flood risk, maintain the existing surface 
water runoff quality, and to prevent damage to the final surface water 
management systems though the entire development construction phase in 
accordance with policies CS2 and CS16 of the Charnwood Local Plan 2011-
2028 Core Strategy (2015) and the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2021). 
 

33  No occupation of the development approved by this planning permission 
shall take place until such time as details in relation to the long-term 
maintenance of the surface water drainage system within the development 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The surface water drainage system scheme shall be thereafter 
managed and maintained in accordance with the approved details.  
 
REASON: To establish a suitable maintenance regime that may be 
monitored over time; that will ensure the long-term performance, both in 
terms of flood risk and water quality, of the surface water drainage system 
(including sustainable drainage systems) within the proposed development 
in accordance with policies CS2 and CS16 of the Charnwood Local Plan 
2011-2028 Core Strategy (2015) and the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2021). 
 

34  Details submitted under condition 2 above shall be in accordance with the 
recommendations of the submitted Flood Risk Assessment (BWB, 
November 2022).  
 
REASON: To prevent an increase in flood risk, in accordance with policies 
CS2 and CS16 of the Charnwood Local Plan 2011-2028 Core Strategy 
(2015) and the National Planning Policy Framework (2021). 
 

35  No development shall take place until a Written Scheme of Investigation in 
respect of archaeology shall have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the local planning authority. The scheme shall include an assessment of 
significance and research questions - and  

• the programme and methodology of site investigation and recording;  
• the programme for post investigation assessment;  

Page 58



 
 

• the provision to be made for analysis of the site investigation and 
recording; the provision to be made for publication and dissemination 
of the analysis and records of the site investigation;  

• the provision to be made for archive deposition of the analysis and 
records of the site investigation;  

• the nomination of a competent person or persons/organization to 
undertake the works set out within the Written Scheme of 
Investigation  

REASON: In order that any remains of archaeological importance can be 
adequately investigated and recorded before any development takes place 
on the site and to comply with Policy CS14 of the Charnwood Local Plan 
2011-28 Core Strategy (2015) 

36  No demolition/development shall take place other than in accordance with 
the Written Scheme of Investigation approved under condition 35.  
 
REASON: In order that any remains of archaeological importance can be 
adequately investigated and recorded before any development takes place 
on the site and to comply with Policy CS14 of the Charnwood Local Plan 
2011-28 Core Strategy (2015) 

 
  

Page 59



 
 

 
APPLICATION SITE 
 
 

 

Page 60



 
 

 
 
 

Page 61



Plans Committee 20/07/2023 
 
Item No. X       
 
Application Reference Number P/23/0838/2 
 
Application Type: Full Date Valid: 16/05/2023 
Applicant: Mr & Mrs Popat 
Proposal: Change of use of existing dwelling (Use Class C3) to a house in 

multiple occupation (Use Class C4). 
Location: 10 Benscliffe Drive,  

Loughborough,  
Leicestershire, LE11 3JP 

Parish: Loughborough  Ward: Loughborough 
Nanpantan 

Case Officer: 
 

Deborah Liggins Tel No: 07864 603401 

 
1. Background 

 
1.1 This application is reported to Plans Committee at the request of Councillor 

Smidowicz citing the following material considerations: 
• parking, traffic issues  
• Highway restraints - bus route and stops 
• the design of the property already adjacent to an HMO.   

 
2. Description of the Site 
 
2.1 The application site is located on the south-western side of the street and is an 

extended semi-detached bay fronted dwelling with a single width driveway to the side 
connecting with the public highway with dropped kerbs.  The property frontage is a 
mix of hardstanding and lawn with a privet hedge forming the boundary to the front 
of the property.  According to the submitted plans, the house currently has a ground 
floor living room, dining room, utility room and hallway with a family/garden room and 
kitchen to the rear. To the first floor there are three bedrooms and a bathroom. 

 
2.2  Surrounding land uses are as follows: 
 

Boundary Adjacent land use 
South west Adjoining gardens of 17 & 19 Highfields Drive 
North east No’s 17, 19 and 31 Benscliffe Drive opposite the site 
South east Adjoining property No 8 Benscliffe Drive 
North west Driveway to neighbouring property at No. 12 Benscliffe Drive 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 62

Agenda Item 5b



Plans Committee 20/07/2023 
 
3. Description of the Application  
 
3.1 The proposal seeks to change the use of the dwelling to a house in multiple 

occupation. Submitted plans show that this would have two bedrooms on the ground 
floor and three located on the first floor.  Internal alterations would see living space 
on the ground floor converted to bedrooms and a shared living room through the 
installation of new partition walls. To the first floor, the existing family bathroom would 
be converted to a bedroom with the smallest existing bedroom changed to a shower 
room. A second shower room would also be created from floor area taken from the 
largest first floor bedroom.   

 
3.2 The proposal includes no changes to the external appearance of the property save 

the existing ground floor utility room window in the side elevation becoming an 
external door. This element on its own would not amount to development requiring 
planning permission. 

 
3.3 No alterations are proposed to the existing parking provision at the property. 
 
4. Development Plan Policies  
 
4.1 The Development Plan comprises the Charnwood Local Plan Core Strategy (adopted 

9 November 2015), the Borough of Charnwood Local Plan (adopted 12 January 
2004) (saved policies) and the Minerals and Waste Local Plan (2019). 

 
The policies applicable to this application are as follows: 

 
4.2 Charnwood Local Plan Core Strategy 
 

• Policy CS1 – Development Strategy  
• Policy CS2 – High Quality Design  
• Policy CS3 – Strategic Housing Needs 
• Policy CS4 – Houses in Multiple Occupation 
• Policy CS16 – Sustainable Construction and Energy 
• Policy CS25 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development  

  
4.3 Borough of Charnwood Local Plan 

 
Where they have not been superseded by Core Strategy policies previous Local 
Plan policies remain part of the development plan. In relation to this proposal the 
relevant ones are: 
 

• Policy ST/2 – Limits to Development 
• Policy EV/1 – Design 
• Policy TR/18 – Parking Provision in New Development 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 63



Plans Committee 20/07/2023 
 
4.4 Minerals and Waste Local Plan (2019) 
 

This document includes the County Council’s spatial vision, spatial strategy, strategic 
objectives, and core policies which set out the key principles to guide the future 
winning and working of minerals and the form of waste management development in 
the County of Leicestershire over the period to the end of 2031. 

 
Policy M11 seeks to safeguard mineral resources including sand, gravel, limestone, 
igneous rock, surface coal, fireclay, brick clay and gypsum. The policy sets out that 
planning permission will be granted for development that is incompatible with 
safeguarding minerals within a Mineral Safeguarding Area provided certain criteria 
are met. 

 
Planning applications for non-mineral development within a Mineral Safeguarding 
Area should be accompanied by a Mineral Assessment of the effect of the proposed 
development on the mineral resource beneath or adjacent to it. 

 
5. Other Material considerations 
 
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) 
 

The NPPF is a material consideration in planning decisions. The NPPF contains a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development. The Framework states that the 
purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable 
development and that there are 3 dimensions to this;  

 
• An economic role – contributing to building a strong, responsive and 

competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is 
available in the right places to support growth and innovation  

• A social role – supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities by 
providing the supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and 
future generations, and by creating a high quality built development with 
accessible local services;  

• An environmental role – contributing to protecting and enhancing our natural, 
built and historic environment. 

 
The following sections are of particular relevance to this proposal: 

 
• Section 2 – Achieving Sustainable Development 
• Section 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 
• Section 9 – Promoting Sustainable Travel 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 64



Plans Committee 20/07/2023 
 
5.2 The Equality Act 2010 
 

This Act requires local planning authorities, when making strategic decisions about 
the exercise of their functions to have regard to the desirability of reducing socio-
economic inequalities in society.  It consolidates 7 Acts including the Disability 
Discrimination Act. Whilst the accessible design of buildings is regulated by Part M 
of the Building Regulations, the Equality Act does require ‘reasonable adjustments’ 
to be made when providing access to goods, facilities, services and premises and 
this also applies to the design of proposed development. In terms of planning 
decisions, there is a need to have ‘due regard’ to the impact of planning application 
decisions and policies on anyone with a Protected Characteristic who may be 
affected by the decision. 

 
5.3 National Planning Practice Guidance 
 

The National Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) reinforces and provides additional 
guidance on the policy requirements of the Framework and provides extensive 
guidance on design and other planning objectives that can be achieved through 
getting good design. These include the consideration of local character, landscaping 
setting, safe, connected and efficient streets, crime prevention, security measures, 
access and inclusion, efficient use of natural resources and cohesive and vibrant 
neighbourhoods.  

 
5.4 The Crime and Disorder Act 1998  
 

This places a duty on the local planning authority to do all that it reasonably can to 
prevent crime and disorder in its area.  The potential impact on community safety is 
therefore a material consideration in the determination of planning applications. 

  
5.5 National Design Guide (2019) 
 

This is a document created by government which seeks to inspire higher standards 
of design quality in all new developments 

 
5.6 The Leicestershire Highways Design Guide (2018) 
 

The purpose of the guidance is to help achieve development that provides for the 
safe and free movement of all road users, including cars, lorries, pedestrians, cyclists 
and public transport. Design elements are encouraged which provide road layouts 
which meet the needs of all users and restrain vehicle dominance, create an 
environment that is safe for all road users and in which people are encouraged to 
walk, cycle and use public transport and feel safe doing so; as well as to help create 
quality developments in which to live, work and play. The document also sets out the 
quantum of off-street car parking expected to be provided in new housing 
development.  

 
 
 
 

Page 65



Plans Committee 20/07/2023 
 
5.7 Housing Supplementary Planning Document (HSPD) May 2017 
 

A Housing Supplementary Planning Document was adopted on the 11 May 2017 
which provides guidance when dealing with Houses in Multiple Occupation proposals 
in the context of adopted Core Strategy Policy CS4.  

 
5.8 Article 4 Direction 
 

The Secretary of State granted an Article 4 Direction for Loughborough in recognition 
of the issues in the town and this was introduced in February 2012 and which 
removes the rights to change the use of Class C3 dwellings to Class C4 Houses 
in Multiple Occupation in Loughborough without the need for planning permission.  
These are dwellings where between 3 and 6 unrelated persons, sharing basic 
amenities could occupy a property without the need for planning permission - 
whereas the Article 4 Direction limits this to occupation by a family or up to 2 
unrelated persons (or 3 or where one is the owner of the property) living as a single 
household. Planning permission is required for the occupation of dwellings by 
residents in excess of these numbers. 
 

5.9 Supplementary Planning Document - Charnwood Design (January 2020) 
 

This document sets out the Borough Council’s expectations in terms of securing high 
quality design in all new development.  Schemes should respond well to local 
character, have positive impacts on the environment and be adaptable to meet future 
needs and provide spaces and buildings that help improve people’s quality of life.  
The document is a material consideration in the determination of planning 
applications. 

 
5.10  Draft Charnwood Local Plan 2021-2037 
 

This document sets out the Council’s strategic and detailed policies for the Borough 
over the period 2019-37. The local plan was submitted for examination in December 
2021 with hearings concluding in February 2023.  It is anticipated that the Inspectors 
will issue a letter setting out the requirement for main modifications to be made to 
make the plan sound. These modifications will be published for six weeks of public 
consultation so that the responses can assist the Inspectors in preparing their final 
report.  The precise timings of these events are dictated by the Inspectors although, 
subject to their report, it is anticipated the Local Plan will be adopted by the Council 
in Autumn 2023.    

 
In accordance with NPPF paragraph 48, the relevant emerging policies in the plan 
may be given weight in determining applications, according to:  

 
(a) the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced its preparation, 
the greater weight it may be given);  
(b) the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less 
significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given);  

Page 66



Plans Committee 20/07/2023 
 

(c) the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the 
NPPF (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the NPPF, the 
greater the weight that may be given).   

 
The following policies are considered applicable to this application: 
 

• Policy DS1 - Development Strategy: 
• Policy DS5 – High Quality Design Policy  
• Policy H7 – Houses in Multiple Occupation 
• Policy T3 – Car Parking Standards 

 
6. Relevant Planning History  
 

Reference Description Decision & Date 
P/06/3078/ Erection of single storey extension to rear Planning permission 

not required 
12/10/2006 

 
7. Responses of Statutory Consultees & Other Comments Received 
 

Consultee Response 
  
The Council’s Housing 
Standards Officer 

Advises that that some of the bedrooms have a floor area 
of less than 10 m2. Whilst smaller bedrooms may be 
acceptable, it notes that the proposed ground floor living 
room would have no natural light which may make it 
unsuitable as living accommodation.  As such, the 
bedrooms less than 10 m2 would not be suitable for 
sleeping accommodation. However, the property, in the 
event planning permission is granted, would require a 
license and conditions can be applied through that 
process to prohibit the use of undersized rooms. 
  

The Council’s 
Environmental Protection 
Manager 

Comments that there are no adverse environmental health 
concerns about the proposal and therefore raises no 
objections.  

 
Ward Councillor and Parish Council Response 
Cllr. Smidowicz Councillor Smidowicz agrees with neighbour concerns 

relating to parking and traffic issues as the property is on a 
bus route. She also objects to the design of the property 
which is adjacent to an existing house in multiple 
occupation and objects to the change of use. It is claimed 
the property has been rented out for some years and stated 
that a house with 5 bedrooms would require 3 off-street car 
parking spaces. The property is in a quiet residential area 
and further student accommodation would have a 

Page 67



Plans Committee 20/07/2023 
 

detrimental effect. Parking within the street is difficult and 
obstructs buses and students do not register their cars with 
the University. Customers of the nearby post office on 
Forest Road also park within the street for short periods. 
There is a surfeit of student accommodation in the town with 
numerous vacant rooms. 
 

Responses to publicity 

       From                                                               Comments 
Six letters of objection 
received from five 
addresses  

• The property would be occupied by students and 
there is no need for more student accommodation. 

• Parking issues within the street which is located on a 
bus route 

• The proposal would affect house prices in the area 
• Insufficient parking at the application site 
• The proposal would increase noise and anti-social 

behaviour 
• Poor property maintenance associated with rented 

properties 
 
8. Consideration of the Planning Issues  
 
8.1 The starting point for decision making on all applications is that they must be made 

in accordance with the adopted Development Plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise.  The most relevant policies for the determination of this 
application are listed above and are contained within the Development Plan for 
Charnwood which comprises the Charnwood Local Plan (2011-2028) Core Strategy, 
and those ‘saved’ policies of the Borough of Charnwood Local Plan which have not 
been superseded by the Core Strategy.  

 
The main issues to be considered in the determination of this application are: 
 

• The Principle of the Development 
• Evidence 
• The Effect of the proposal on local character and amenities – community 

balance 
• Anti-social behaviour, noise and disturbance 
• Bin Storage 
• Highways and Car Parking. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 68



Plans Committee 20/07/2023 
 
9. Key issues 
 
9.1 The Principle of the Development 
 
9.1.1 Policy CS3 of the Core Strategy advises that the Council will seek to provide 

accommodation to meet all of its residents’ needs, which includes Houses in Multiple 
Occupation. Policy CS4 specifically addresses Houses in Multiple Occupation and 
states that the proportion of houses in multiple occupation will be manged to support 
the well-being, character and amenity of our communities by preventing damage to 
the social and physical character and amenity of a street or residential area or which 
generate noise and disturbance which is detrimental to the amenity of the street or a 
demand for on-street car parking  

 
9.1.2 Policy H7 of the emerging Local Plan makes similar provisions and adopts a 

approach of limiting the concentration of HiMO’s to less than 10% within the area 
defined by a 100m radius from the centre of the application site and that do not result 
in a residential dwelling being sandwiched between two houses in multiple 
occupation.   

 
9.1.3 The supporting text to Policy CS4 states that HiMO’s provide accommodation for a 

group of tenants who do not live together as a family and who share basic amenities 
such as a kitchen, and bathroom facilities but have separate bedrooms.  It 
acknowledges that HiMO’s help to meet local housing requirements and can be an 
important type of accommodation for a range of people including those on low 
incomes and young people.  In Loughborough, a large number of HiMO’s are 
occupied by students in further and higher education. 

 
9.1.4 The supporting text goes on to state that, whilst the Council values Loughborough 

University and Loughborough College and the significant economic, social and 
cultural contributions the student population brings to Loughborough, a negative 
impact has been experienced in some neighbourhoods because of the over 
concentration of HiMO’s.  It is noted that these impacts have affected some 
community facilities, the character and appearance of the area and caused 
disturbance and parking problems.  In response to this, the Council has developed a 
strategy for managing the proportion of HiMO’s in Loughborough, particularly where 
it is demonstrated that there are associated adverse impacts 

 
9.1.5 The HSPD accepts that HMO’s help to meet local housing requirements and can be 

an important type of accommodation for a range of people including those on low 
incomes and young people (para 4.1) and it also repeats the objectives of Core 
Strategy Policy CS4 that seeks to support the well-being, character and amenity of 
local communities by managing the proportion of HMO’s. This seeks to limit housing 
development of a particular type and therefore carried reduced weight in the absence 
of a 5 year supply. 

 
 
 
 

Page 69



Plans Committee 20/07/2023 
 
9.1.6 Section 4 of the Housing Supplementary Planning Document (HSPD) provides 

guidance for assessment of applications that propose small or large houses in 
multiple-occupation. Small HMOs are defined as shared houses or flats occupied by 
between 3 and 6 unrelated individuals who share basic amenities and large HMO’s 
are for more than 6 occupiers and are a ‘sui generis’ use. i.e. they do not fall into any 
existing class in the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order.  These 
proposed changes of use do not benefit from being ‘permitted development’ in 
Loughborough due to the Article 4 directive which was granted by the Secretary of 
State in 2012 in recognition of these issues associated with a concentration of 
HMOs.   

 
9.1.6 The HSPD provides a methodology (at HSPD11) for assessing the concentration of 

Houses in Multiple Occupation against the criteria of Core Strategy Policy CS4 as 
part of understanding the potential for cumulative impacts. The methodology 
assesses the concentration of HMOs within 100m of the application site as a 
proportion of the total number of residential dwellings. Halls of Residence and 
purpose built student accommodation will not be included in the calculation. 
However, any Halls of Residence and purpose built accommodation will be 
considered as part of the overall decision making process in terms of their impacts.  

 
9.1.7 The SPD also provides guidance in respect of the Policy CS4 criteria for considering 

the potential impact on the social and physical character and amenity (HSPD12), 
amenity space (HSPD 13), noise insulation (HSPD 14) and parking (HSPD 15).    

 
9.1.8 The Council has used a threshold of 20% in decision making and therefore changes 

of use from Class C3 dwellings to Class C4 dwellings have usually been resisted in 
principle where the percentage of houses in multiple occupation exceeds 20% in a 
particular area. This approach has been accepted in all appeal decisions since the 
adoption of the Housing SPD, with the exception of one. The calculation of the 
household percentage is the subject of a methodology specified in the SPD that uses 
data held by the University and College, the Electoral Register, the HMO Licensing 
Register and planning data and it is considered that collectively, this gives the best 
indication available of the relevant household situation and the most accurate picture 
of local balance and amenity. 

 
9.1.10 The application site is within an existing residential area, with nearby bus connections 

to the town centre and, whilst the principle of development is acceptable (as a 
residential use, it would contribute to the mix of tenures of homes in the area and the 
overall mix of uses within the town centre) in compliance with Policies CS3 and CS4 
of the adopted Core Strategy. However, the proposal needs to also be considered 
against Core Strategy Policy CS4 and whether a change of use to a house in multiple 
occupation will support the well-being, character and amenity of the community and 
other relevant policies and detailed planning considerations as assessed below.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 70



Plans Committee 20/07/2023 
 
9.2 Evidence 
 
9.2.1 A Supplementary Planning Document is a material consideration in the determination 

of planning applications and provides additional guidance to help understand how 
Local Plan policies will be implemented. The Housing Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) was prepared to provide further information and guidance on the 
adopted Local Plan Core Strategy Policies CS3: Strategic Housing Needs; CS4: 
Houses in Multiple Occupation; and CS23: Loughborough University and Science & 
Enterprise Park; along with the Borough of Charnwood Local Plan Policy H/12: 
Student Halls of Residents.  

 
9.2.2 In terms of the proposed change of use, the Council is able to identify that there are 

61 residential properties within 100m radius of the application site, 1 of which is 
known to be a house in multiple occupation.  This equates to 1.6%. The number of 
HiMO’s in the local area is therefore well below the 20% threshold specified by the 
HSPD (and 10% referred to in the emerging Local Plan Policy H7).  

 
9.2.3   Whilst this is not in itself a determinative factor, it is also important to consider the 

location of the property.  In this case, the site is located within an established 
residential area of the town where properties are generally detached or semi-
detached of various designs and appearances including some single storey 
dwellings.  This has the effect of making existing houses in multiple occupation 
indiscernible from Class C3 dwellings. 

 
9.2.4 It is also important to note that HiMO’s are not always occupied by students but 

evidence in a recent study commissioned by the Council and undertaken by 
Loughborough University (December 2018) found that more mixed HiMO markets 
are forming that include both students and other social groups including working 
professionals, international migrant workers, low-skilled workers, benefit recipients 
and divorcees. This document forms part of the evidence base for the emerging 
replacement local plan. 

 
9.2.5  The adopted Housing SPD identifies that where there is a high proportion of HiMOs 

in student occupation, this can lead to a sharp contrast between busy term times and 
a sense of abandonment during the holidays which impact on social interactions, 
surveillance and local services and facilities.  Essentially this can lead to the loss of 
community spirit as permanent populations are replaced by transient ones and this 
is supported by evidence in the Study of Houses in Multiple Occupation Dec 2018.  
Given the number of properties within the 100m radius of the application site, and 
the very low proportion of HiMOs overall it is considered that the low saturation and 
distribution would not damage the social and physical character and amenity of the 
wider area and it is unlikely that the proposal would cause a sense of ‘abandonment’ 
in holiday times.        

 
9.2.6 Under the new Local Plan, the proposal would not exceed the new threshold and the 

proposal would not cause the described ‘sandwiching’ effect.  
 
 

Page 71



Plans Committee 20/07/2023 
 
9.2.7 However, the issue is not confined to the mathematics of the case and the other 

individual considerations must be assessed and a judgment reached as to whether 
the level of harm that would be caused would be sufficient to refuse the planning 
application or whether the impact would be so limited as to indicate that planning 
permission should be granted. These matters are considered below.  

 
9.3 The Effect of the proposal on local character and amenities – community balance 
 

The 20% threshold, and potential future 10% threshold, allows for consistency in 
decision-making on proposals for changes of use to HiMO’s and has been 
recognised by appeal Inspectors as the level above which the problems associated 
with higher concentrations could occur.  

 
9.3.1 Recent appeal decisions relating to Class C4 ‘HiMO’ changes of use at Ashleigh 

Drive, Grange Street, Derby Road, Park Road, Frederick Street, Ashby Road, and 
Goldfinch Close (all within the built-up area of Loughborough) accept this threshold 
approach and attach weight to its use.  Several relevant appeals have been 
dismissed since the Housing SPD was adopted in May 2017.   

 
9.3.2 Paragraph 4.9 of the Housing SPD states, “It is important to note however that we 

will not adopt a rigid approach to decision making. The threshold will provide one 
material consideration to be considered alongside a number of other matters 
identified in Policy CS4 and the SPD related to the impact on the character and 
amenity of the area and safe operation of the highway.”  

 
9.3.3 It is considered that the low concentration of existing houses in multiple occupation 

in close proximity to the application site which is within easy pedestrian or cycling 
reach of the wide range of services and facilities within the town centre and the 
university campus is such that community balance in the wider area, of which the 
application site is part, has very low potential to be harmed to the detriment of the 
social character and general amenities of the area.  It is therefore considered that, 
on balance, the proposal would not harm the social or physical environment of 
Benscliffe Drive. 

 
9.4 Anti-social behaviour, noise and disturbance 
 
9.4.1 Policy CS2 of the adopted Core Strategy and saved policy EV/1 of the Borough of 

Charnwood Local Plan include a requirement for new development to protect the 
amenity of people who live or work nearby. This is replicated within Policy DS5 of the 
emerging Local Plan, which due to its advancement and low level of contention can 
be afforded moderate weight. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 72



Plans Committee 20/07/2023 
 
9.4.2 Noise in HiMOs can often be a concern for objectors because of the number of 

people who are living independently within the property which can be considered to 
adversely affect the amenity of neighbouring properties. The adopted Housing SPD 
acknowledges that where there is a high proportion of HiMO’s it can often result in a 
higher incidence of anti-social behaviour, particularly at unsociable hours and 
increases in crime and fear of crime.  Permitting an additional house in multiple 
occupation to an area with an existing high concentration of such properties would 
be likely to cause unacceptable harm to the living conditions of local residents and 
the amenity of the local area. This would be in conflict with Core Strategy Policies 
CS2 and CS4 Housing Supplementary Planning Document 12.  

 
9.4.3 Information from the Borough Council’s Community and Partnerships Department 

shows that over the past year, there have been no recorded incidents relating to anti-
social behaviour on Benscliffe Drive or any of the streets within 100m of the 
application site.  

 
9.4.4 This is recent and localised evidence is supported by the findings of the 2019 Houses 

in Multiple Occupation Assessment which considers ward level ASB records for the 
period January 2013 and December 2018 and states:   

 
‘There is a very strong correlation between the number of HMOs and number of 
recorded anti-social behaviour (ASB) incidents recorded by ward. A large proportion 
of ASB incidents occurred in wards which contain the highest proportion of HMOs 
i.e., around the Loughborough Southfields and Storer wards. Although the data 
records a wide range of different ASB incidents, the three most commonly recorded 
included noise, nuisance and rowdy behaviour’ (para 3.16).   
This site falls within the Nanpantan ward where only 4% of all ASB incidents during 
that period were recorded in the Borough.  This was one of the lowest proportions of 
ASB incidents recorded in a single ward and the evidence finds a very strong 
statistical correlation between these two factors across the Borough i.e., as the 
number of HMOs in any particular ward increases, the number of ASB incidents also 
increases. Although it cannot be proven that a high number of HMOs in any one 
particular area causes a high number of ASB incidents, the assessment identifies 
that statistically, there is a very strong relationship. 

 
9.4.5 The adopted Housing SPD acknowledges that where there is a high proportion of 

HMOs it can often result in a higher incidence of anti-social behaviour, particularly at 
unsociable hours, and increases in crime and fear of crime.      

 
9.4.6 In addition in this case, the proposed 5 bedroom HiMO (representing an increase of 

two bedrooms) is comparable with the existing use.  Having regard to the above, 
there is also a possibility that noise levels associated with the HiMO would be similar 
or less than the current residential use and thus the concerns relating to increased 
noise cannot be sustained in this case. 

   
9.4.7 The Council’s Environmental Protection Manager has no concerns about the 

potential of the property to cause noise and about waste management. 
 

Page 73



Plans Committee 20/07/2023 
 
9.4.8 Having regard to the above, it is concluded that there is insufficient justification to 

refuse the application on the basis of the noise and being detrimental to the amenity 
of the area and the existing   character and amenity of the area in general. It is 
considered that a combination of the current low saturation of HiMO’s, and the recent 
lack of reported anti-social behaviour that the proposal would not have a harmful 
cumulative impact and the proposal would generally accord with Core Strategy 
Policies CS2 and CS4, saved Local Plan Policy EV1 and the adopted SPD on 
Housing.  
 

9.5  Bin Storage 
 
9.5.1 Policy CS16 of the Charnwood Local Plan (2011-2028) seeks to support 

development which adopts sustainable design and construction, and this includes 
development that provides for the suitable storage of waste and allows for convenient 
waste collections. The property currently stores its bins to the side of the property, 
but these can easily be relocated to the rear if the driveway is required for more 
intensive car parking. It is considered that the bin storage facilities would allow for 
the convenient collection of waste from within Benscliffe Drive and as such, the 
requirement of Policy CS16 is met. 
 

9.6 Highways and Car Parking 
 
9.6.1 Saved Policy TR/18 of the Borough of Charnwood Local Plan requires development 

proposals to be provided with an adequate quantum of car parking/turning/servicing 
area so as to accord with the Leicestershire Highways Design Guide and to not cause 
any severe highway impact as described in Paragraph 111 of the NPPF.  Policy T3 
of the Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2021-2037) has a similar requirement. Draft 
Policy T2 is consistent with Paragraph 104, 107 and 108 of the NPPF and carries 
limited weight. 

 
9.6.2 The existing property benefits from two off street car parking spaces positioned within 

the driveway of the house and directly accessed off Benscliffe Drive and the applicant 
has offered to provide a third space to the property frontage should this be required.  
The Highway Authority has not commented on the application as standing advice 
would usually relate to proposals of this nature. Under the NPPF, paragraph 111, to 
refuse a planning application on highway safety grounds it must be demonstrated 
that there are severe residual cumulative impacts resulting from the proposal or that 
there would be increased highway dangers posed by the proposal.   

 
9.6.3 The parking standards are also to be used as a starting point for assessing the 

quantum of parking required in new development.  In this instance, the standard 
would require the provision of 3 car parking spaces, but it is also pertinent to consider 
the location of the site, which, in this case the site is within a neighbourhood where 
services and shops can be easily accessed on foot, with public transport bus stops 
located nearby on Forest Road. 

 
 
 

Page 74



Plans Committee 20/07/2023 
 
9.6.4 It is pertinent to note that Planning Inspectors have accepted HiMO’s in 

Loughborough where there is substandard or no car parking, because of the 
proximity to local services, schools and employment.  For example, in allowing the 
appeal at 76 Hermitage Road, the Inspector noted the property was to be occupied 
by up to 6 persons and considered a single parking space to be adequate (Ref 
P/17/0072/2).  It is also relevant that in allowing the HiMO appeal at 94 Hermitage 
Road where one space was provided and room for a second space was available, 
the Inspector considered that the second space was unnecessary and would be 
damaging to the character and appearance of the street (Ref P/16/0845/2).  
Likewise, it is considered that the removal of the existing front boundary hedge and 
the provision of additional dropped kerbs to the site frontage would be damaging to 
the appearance of the street scene.  It is also pertinent to note that such works would 
also have the effect of reducing the availability of on-street parking spaces and lead 
to additional vehicles reversing out of the site so the highway benefits of such actions 
remain unclear.  
 

9.6.5 Having regard to the above, it is considered that the proposal accords with the 
National Planning Policy Framework,  saved Policy TR/18 of the adopted Local 
Plan and Policy T3 of the Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2021-2037) and the severe 
highway impacts as described in Paragraph 111 of the NPPF would not be 
caused by the development. 

 
10. Conclusion 
 
10.1 For the reasons given above, it is considered that the proposed change of use would 

not result in an overconcentration of HiMOs in the area that would result in a 
community imbalance.  Furthermore, the proposal would not result in harm to the 
residential character and amenity of the area or be detrimental to highway safety.  It 
would therefore comply with Policies CS2, CS4 and CS16 of the Core Strategy, and 
Policies EV/1 of the Local Plan and Policies H7 and T3 of the draft Charnwood Local 
Plan (2021-2037) and the adopted Housing SPD.   

 
10.2 Whilst the Housing SPD does acknowledge that there may be situations where 

permitting a HiMO in an area where there is low proportion of HMOs may be judged 
to be so significant under the provisions of Policy CS4, it is not considered that the 
circumstances are such in this case. 

 
11. RECOMMENDATION  
 
11.1 That planning permission be granted subject to the following conditions: 
 
1. The development, hereby permitted, shall be begun not later than 3 years from 

the date of this permission. 
REASON: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act, 1990, as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
 

Page 75



Plans Committee 20/07/2023 
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans: 
P/32/030A – Proposed dwelling floor plans and elevations 
P/32/001 – 1:1250 scale Location plan 
P/32/0005 – 1:500 scale block plan 
REASON:  To define the terms of the planning permission. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 76



Plans Committee 20/07/2023 
 
SITE PLAN 
 
 

 
 

Page 77



Plans Committee Date:  20 July 2023 
 
Item No.  
 
Application Reference Number P/23/0382/2 
 
Application Type: Variation of condition  Date Valid:  28/02/2023 
Applicant: Mr Neal Gohill  
Proposal: Variation of Conditions 2 and 3 (Approved Plans and materials) 

of Planning Permission: P/21/0773/2 (Proposed first floor 
extension above garage, single storey extensions to front and 
rear with associated works) 
 

Location: 3 The Dovecotes 
Queniborough 
Leicestershire 
LE7 3WP  

Parish: Queniborough Ward: Wreake Valley 
Case Officer: 
 

Jim Worley Tel No: 07591 947043  

 
1. Background 
 
1.1 This application has been brought to Plans Committee as it has been called in 

by Cllr Grimley for the following reasons: 
 

• The solar panels would have an incongruous appearance on the setting of 
local listed buildings and the church. 

 
1.2 The application was deferred from the meeting of the Committee on 20th June 

2023 to allow for the consideration of amended plans in order to include 
changes to window proportions on the rear elevation and the addition of an air 
source heat pump to the rear. 

 
2. Description of the Application Site 
 
2.1 The application site comprises a modern detached dwelling on a residential cul-

de-sac in the Queniborough Conservation Area. The property has a driveway 
to the front and a garden to the rear. To the north of the site is the dwelling at 2 
The Dovecotes, to the south are the dwellings at 86, 88a, 88b and 94 Main 
Street. To the east of the site is St Mary’s Church and the properties at The 
Mews and to the west is the dwelling at 3 Hall Farm Close. The site lies close 
to several listed buildings, most notably St Mary’s Church, Queniborough Hall 
and the properties at 80, 82, 84, 86 and 94 Main Street. There are also further 
listed buildings on the southern site of Main Street. The property has an extant 
planning permission for a first floor extension above the garage, single storey 
extensions to the front and rear and other associated works under the planning 
reference P/21/0773/2. This permission is currently being implemented. 

 
 

Page 78

Agenda Item 5c



 
 
3. Description of the Proposal 

 
3.1 The application seeks permission to vary conditions 2 and 3 of P/21/0773/2. 

These conditions relate to the materials to be used and approved plans. This 
permission granted permission for a single storey side extension, a two storey 
side and rear extension, alterations to the front porch, a first floor extension 
above the existing garage including 2 side dormers and fenestration alterations 
to the rest of the dwelling. 
 

3.2 The reason for varying these conditions is to seek approval for the following: 
• retention of solar panels to the southern roof slope of the dwelling;  
• to change the window frames from white UPVC window frames to black 

aluminium window frames; 
• The addition of a heat source pump to the rear of the property; and 
• minor variations to the window proportions in the rear elevation.  
The remainder of the proposal would remain unchanged from the previous 
permission.   
 

4. Development Plan Policies 
 
4.1  The Development Plan comprises the Queniborough Neighbourhood Plan 

(2021), the Charnwood Local Plan Core Strategy (adopted 9 November 2015), 
the Borough of Charnwood Local Plan (adopted 12 January 2004) (saved 
policies) and the Minerals and Waste Local Plan (2019). 

 
4.2     The policies applicable to this application are as follows: 
 
4.3 Charnwood Local Plan Core Strategy 

 
• Policy CS1 - Development Strategy  
• Policy CS2 - High Quality Design   
• Policy CS14 - Heritage 
• Policy CS16 - Sustainable Construction and Energy 

 
4.4  Borough of Charnwood Local Plan (adopted 12 January 2004) (saved policies) 
 

Where they have not been superseded by Core Strategy policies previous Local 
Plan policies remain part of the development plan. In relation to this proposal 
the relevant ones are: 

• Policy EV/1 - Design  
• Policy H/17 – Extensions to Dwellings 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 79

about:blank
about:blank


4.5 The Queniborough Neighbourhood Plan 
 

The Neighbourhood Plan was made in 2021 and forms part of the 
Development Plan. Applicable policies are considered to comprise: 

• Policy Q14: Design 
 

5. Other material considerations  
 

5.1 The Draft Charnwood Local Plan 2021-37 
This document sets out the Council’s strategic and detailed policies for the 
Borough over the period 2019-37. The local plan was submitted for examination 
in December 2021 with hearings concluding in February 2023.  It is anticipated 
that the Inspectors will issue a letter setting out the requirement for main 
modifications to be made to make the plan sound. These modifications will be 
published for six weeks of public consultation so that the responses can assist 
the Inspectors in preparing their final report.  The precise timings of these 
events are dictated by the Inspectors although, subject to their report, it is 
anticipated the Local Plan will be adopted by the Council in Autumn 2023.    

In accordance with NPPF paragraph 48, the relevant emerging policies in the 
plan may be given weight in determining applications, according to:  

(a) the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced its 
preparation, the greater weight it may be given);  

(b) the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the 
less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be 
given);  

(c) the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the 
NPPF (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the NPPF, 
the greater the weight that may be given).   

The following policies are considered applicable to this application, and the weight 
they can be assigned is addressed in the ‘Planning Considerations’ part of this 
report. 

• Policy DS5: Design 
• Policy EV8: Heritage   
• Policy CC3: Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Installations 

 
5.2  Queniborough Conservation Area Character Appraisal (2011) (updated 2019) 

This document sets out the special character of the Queniborough 
Conservation Area and how it should be preserved. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 80



5.3 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF 2021)  

The NPPF policy guidance of particular relevance to this proposal includes: 
 
• Section 2: Achieving sustainable development  
• Section 12: Achieving well-designed places 
• Section 8: Meeting the challenge of climate change   
• Section 16: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment   

 
5.4 Planning Practice Guidance  
 

This national document provides additional guidance to ensure the effective 
implementation of the planning policy set out in the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
5.5 National Design Guide 
 

This document sets out the Government’s design guidance to support the 
NPPF. 

 
5.6 Design Supplementary Planning Document (January 2020)  

This document sets out the Borough Council’s expectations in terms of securing 
high quality design in all new development.  Schemes should respond well to 
local character, have positive impacts on the environment and be adaptable to 
meet future needs and provide spaces and buildings that help improve people’s 
quality of life.  

 
5.7 Equality Act 2010 
 

Section 149 places a statutory duty on public authorities in the exercise of their 
functions to have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination and 
advance equality. 
 

5.8  The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990  
 

The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 provides a 
statutory duty for local authorities to have special regard to Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas. Section 66 (1) of the Act refers to the desirability of 
preserving Listed Buildings, the setting of Listed Buildings and the features of 
special architectural and historic interest which it possesses whilst Section 
72(1) requires special attention to be paid to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of the Conservation Area. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 81



6. Relevant Planning History 

• P/84/1193/2 – Erection of three detached houses – Granted at appeal 
(05.07.1984) 

• P/21/0773/2 - Proposed first floor extension above garage, single storey 
extensions to front and rear with associated works – Granted conditionally 
(15.10.2021) 

7. Consultation Responses 

7.1 The table below sets out the responses that have been received from 
consultees with regard to the application.  Please note that these can be read 
in full on the Council’s website www.charnwood.gov.uk  

Consultee Response   
Councillor Daniel 
Grimley 

• Requested that the application be determined by 
Plans Committee due to the impact of the solar 
panels on the setting of nearby listed building, 
stating that solar tiles should be used instead. 

Queniborough Parish 
Council 

• Raised concerns that the design of the proposal 
had been altered significantly since the previous 
application and that the solar panels were not in 
keeping with the surrounding area. The solar 
panels can be seen from the street scene, despite 
the application form stating otherwise. 

• Noted the change to black aluminum windows on 
the new plans which would need to be in keeping 
with the conservation area. 

Responses to publicity 

       From                                                               Comments  
Eleven  letters of 
objection representing six 
addresses have been 
received.  

• The proposal would be visible from Main Street, 
even though the application heritage statement 
states the opposite. 

• The solar panels would not match the existing 
dwelling and would be an eyesore on the 
conservation area. The black window frames and 
the installation of solar panels are out of 
character to the development referred to as the 
Dovecotes and are a blight on the surrounding 
character of the environment, 

• The retrospective nature of the application would 
give others the green light to start work before 
planning permission is granted. 

• Concerns regarding safety of the solar panels 
and future maintenance. 

• Agree with the use of renewable energy but 
object to the proposal to use standard solar 
panels. 

Page 82

http://www.charnwood.gov.uk/


• Consultation should have been carried out in 
advance of their installation. 

• Several close neighbours would have to look at 
the solar panels on a regular basis. 

• Concerns regarding the impact on nearby listed 
buildings. 

• Concerns regarding the potential for glare from 
the solar panels. 

• Concerns regarding the need for screening to 
other properties. 

• Overbearing impact on the environment. 
• There are further alterations not covered by the 

application – a heat pump and changes to 
fenestration. 

• The access road has been damaged by 
construction traffic and a condition should be 
imposed requiring its repair. 

• The planned position of the pump is currently too 
close to the neighbouring garden and there are 
concerns that the cold air from the pump will 
damage plants/trees that act to partly screen this 
extension.  

• The noise from the pump will impact on use of 
the neighbouring garden as it will be in very close 
proximity to seating areas. Has a noise test been 
carried out for the proposed siting of the heat 
source pump?  

• the heat Source Pump should be moved to rear 
Elevation of the property. 

• The Solar Panels can be seen from Main Street 
and are also in view of The Barn, 94 Main Street  
which is a heritage/listed property. As well as No 
88a & 88b Main Street, plus the garden of no 86  
Main Street as listed property.  

• A suitable compromise would be for the Solar 
Panels to be relocated to the rear of the property 

• The solar panels will set a precedent for such 
installations in the Conservation Area 

• The original condition regarding the use of 
matching materials should be adhered to 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 83



8. Consideration of the Planning Issues  

8.1 The starting point for decision making on all planning applications is that they 
must be made in accordance with the adopted Development Plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise.  The most relevant policies for the 
determination of this application are listed above and are contained within the 
Development Plan for Charnwood which comprises the Charnwood Local Plan 
2011-2028 Core Strategy (2015), those “saved” policies within the Borough of 
Charnwood Local Plan 1991-2026 (2004) which have not been superseded by 
the Core Strategy and the Minerals and Waste Plan.  It is acknowledged that 
several of these plans are over 5 years old; therefore it is important to take 
account of changing circumstances affecting the area, or any relevant changes 
in national policy.  With the exception of those policies which relate to the supply 
of housing, the relevant policies listed above are up to date and compliant with 
national advice.  Accordingly there is no reason to reduce the weight given to 
them, in this regard.   

 
8.2 The main issues are considered to be: 
 

• The principle of the proposed development; 
• Design 
• Heritage 
• Residential Amenity 
• Other matters 

 
9.  Key Issues 
 
9.1 Principle of the proposed development  
 

The principle of extensions to existing dwellings are not restricted by local or 
national planning policy, providing they accord with the other relevant policies 
of the development plan. The application therefore falls to be considered in 
terms of its design, impact on the design, the impact on heritage assets, 
amenity and highway safety.  

 
9.1.1 Core Strategy Policy CS16 supports domestic scale renewable energy and 

emerging Local Plan policy CC5 similarly supports proposals for renewable and 
low carbon energy installations stating they will be supported where any 
adverse impacts, including cumulative impacts have been fully addressed. 
These issues are considered below. 

 
9.2 Design and visual amenity 
 
9.2.1 Policy CS2 of the Core Strategy requires new developments to respect and 

enhance the character of the area and saved policy EV/1 of the Local Plan 
supports development that is of a design, scale, layout and mass compatible 
with the locality and which uses materials appropriate to the locality. These 
policies generally accord with the NPPF and National Design Guide and do not 
frustrate the supply of housing. As a result, it is not considered that there is a 
need to reduce the weight that should be given to them.  

Page 84



 
9.2.2 Neighbourhood Plan Policy Q14: Design advises that residential development 

that reflects the distinctive and traditional character of Queniborough will be 
supported unless the development is of exceptional quality or innovative 
design. It provides criteria or design objectives including integrating into 
surroundings and creating a locally inspired or otherwise distinctive character. 

 
9.2.3 Emerging Local Plan Policy DS5 requires development to make a positive 

contribution to Charnwood by responding positively to local distinctiveness.  
The policy is at an advanced stage and hearing sessions in June 2022 
considered the policy and it is consistent with the NPPF.  The policy can be 
given moderate weight.   

 
9.2.4 The proposed solar panels, whilst visible from the properties to the south on 

Main Street, would not be prominent when viewed from the street scene and 
would have no significant adverse impact on the character and appearance of 
the locality. Furthermore, the property is a modern dwelling and the solar panels 
are of a domestic type that are typical of the type fitted to dwellings such as 
this, often as permitted development.  

 
9.2.5 In terms of the impact of the change to the window design, whilst different to 

the other dwellings on The Dovecotes which is a modern cul-de-sac, the 
aluminium windows are considered to be an improvement and more 
sympathetic to the site’s setting than the white UPVC windows currently at the 
property.  

 
9.2.6 The heat pump is discretely located to the rear of the property and will not be 

visible from public vantage points. The changes to the windows comprise minor 
adjustment to their horizontal proportions and do not significantly impact on the 
appearance of the dwelling. 

 
9.2.7 Whilst the grant of a Variation of Condition application effectively grants a new 

planning permission, so the whole proposal should be taken into account, the 
existing planning permission and the fall-back position it provides is a significant 
material planning consideration. 

 
9.2.7 In terms of the rest of the development, the extensions are subservient to the 

host dwelling and use matching materials. Furthermore, the dwellings on the 
Dovecotes occupy large plots and these extensions are considered to be in 
keeping with the character and appearance of the area.  

 
9.2.8 The impact of the proposed development on design and visual amenity is 

therefore considered to be acceptable and would be in accordance with Policy 
CS2 of the Charnwood Local Plan Core Strategy 2015, Saved Policies EV/1 
and H/17 of the Borough of Charnwood Local Plan 2004, Policy DS5 of the 
Draft Local Plan, Policy Q14 of the Queniborough Neighbourhood Plan and the 
Council’s Design Supplementary Planning Document 2020. 

 
 
 

Page 85



9.3 Heritage 
 
9.3.1  In relation to heritage, the dwelling is in the Queniborough Conservation Area 

and is in close proximity to a number of listed buildings. These are: 
• St Mary’s Church, 
• Queniborough Hall,  
• 94 Main Street and  
• 80, 82, 84 and 86 Main Street. 

 
9.3.2 The Queniborough Conservation Area was designated in 1972 and 

incorporates the whole of the village as it was in medieval times up until the 19th 
century. 

 
9.3.3 Policy CS14 of the Core Strategy (Heritage) seeks development to conserve 

and enhance historic assets in the Borough for their own value and the 
community, environmental and economic contribution they make, 
developments are expected to not only protect the assets, but also their setting.  

 
9.3.4 Emerging Local Plan policy EV8 Heritage seeks to protect and enhance 

heritage assets, including non-designated heritage assets, and prevents harm 
to their significance and setting. Under the guidance of NPPF paragraph 48 it 
is considered that the emerging Local Plan is ‘well advanced’ having been 
subject to Examination and policies are consistent with the NPPF. Policy EV8 
is largely uncontested and can therefore be afforded moderate weight.   

 
9.3.5 Paragraph 199 of the NPPF states that when considering the impact of a 

proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great 
weight should be given to the asset’s conservation.   

 
9.3.6 In terms of the impact on these heritage assets, it is considered that the 

aluminium-framed windows would be more sympathetic to the Conservation 
Area than the existing white UPVC windows and would not be prominent 
outside of the Dovecotes, which is a modern insert into the Conservation Area. 
They would therefore not result in any harm to the setting of the wider 
Conservation Area or nearby listed buildings that would need to be outweighed 
by public benefits and the impact of this change is therefore considered to be 
acceptable. 

 
9.3.7 The solar panels would back onto the dwellings at 88a and 88b Main Street 

which are not listed buildings but are more modern properties. The solar panels 
would be visible from exceptionally brief and fleeting views from Main St, in the 
small gap between 88 and 88A. However, they would not be prominent from 
the street scene or the wider Conservation Area beyond this or from any of the 
nearby listed buildings and certainly bear no comparison to the prominence of 
the installations on the outbuilding at no 76, a short distance along Main Street 
The proposed solar panels would therefore not result in any harm to the 
Conservation Area or the setting of nearby listed buildings that would need to 
be outweighed by public benefits. The heat pump and changes to window 
proportions are not considered to be of any consequence to heritage interests 
due to their scale and location. 

Page 86



 
9.3.8 Individually, it is considered that the listed buildings have strongly defined 

settings formed by their own boundaries and surrounding buildings and trees. 
These are not readily seen within the same visual context as the application 
site. It is not considered that the development would result in harm to them, or 
to their settings 

 
9.3.9 The impact of the proposed development in relation to heritage is therefore 

considered to be acceptable and would be in compliance with Policy CS14 of 
the Charnwood Local Plan Core Strategy 2015 and Policy EV8 of the Draft 
Charnwood Local Plan. 

 
9.4 Residential Amenity 
 
9.4.1 Policies CS2 of the Core Strategy and EV/1 of the Local Plan seek to protect 

the amenity of existing and future residents. The Charnwood Design SPD 
(2020) also provides spacing standards and guidance to ensure an adequate 
level of amenity.  Saved policy EV/1 of Local Plan and policy CS2 of Core 
Strategy require high quality design that does not impact on the amenity of 
adjacent properties or create poor standards of amenity for future occupiers. 
The Charnwood Design SPD (2020) also provides spacing standards and 
guidance to ensure an adequate level of amenity is achieved. 

 
9.4.2 Emerging Local Plan policy DS5 states that new development will be required 

to protect the amenity of people who live or work nearby and those who live in 
the new development. The policy is at an advanced stage and hearing sessions 
in June 2022 considered the policy and it is consistent with the NPPF.  The 
policy can be given moderate weight.   

 
9.4.3 The solar panels and proposed windows would not result in any increase in the 

built footprint of the dwelling that would lead to loss of light and the windows 
would be in window openings very similar to those already approved, with the 
only changes being to the design of the windows frames and minor horizontal 
proportions, there would therefore be no additional impact in relation to 
overlooking in comparison to the previous permission.  

 
9.4.4 In terms of the issue of glare raised by neighbours, the solar panels are typical 

of the type of domestic solar panels fitted to domestic properties (often as 
‘permitted development’) and it is considered that there would be no 
unacceptable impact in relation to this that would justify a refusal of planning 
permission. 

 
9.4.5 The alterations are sufficiently distanced from neighbouring properties that 

there would be no significant impact in relation to loss of light or over-
dominance. Furthermore, other than roof lights there are no windows facing the 
properties on Main Street, that would lead to overlooking, other than roof lights 
which are of a sufficient height and angle, that they would have no significant 
impact. The other properties on the Dovecote are more distant from the 
proposal or set back much further in the street scene to the extent that there 
would be no impact on overlooking.  

Page 87



 
9.4.6 Following representations from an adjacent property, the heat pump has been 

located from the side to rear elevation. The heat pump would qualify as 
permitted development had the dwelling been complete and within this is a 
condition that it meets the Microgeneration Certification Scheme Planning 
Standards (or equivalent) to regulate noise emissions. Similar requirements 
can be imposed by means of condition. 

 
9.4.7 The   impact of the proposed development on residential amenity is therefore 

considered to be acceptable and would be in compliance with Policy CS2 of the 
Charnwood Local Plan Core Strategy 2015, Saved Policies EV/1 and H/17 of 
the Borough of Charnwood Local Plan 2004, Policy DS5 of the Draft 
Charnwood Local Plan and the Council’s Design Supplementary Planning 
Document 2020. 

 
9.5 Other Matters 
 
9.5.1 In terms of other matters raised, the safety and maintenance issues are not a 

material planning consideration that can be taken into account in the 
determination of the application and the application being retrospective also 
has no bearing – such applications are provided for under s 73 of the  Planning 
Act 1990 and must be considered on planning merits like all other applications. 
In terms of the comments regarding consultation being undertaken prior to the 
installation of the solar panels, due to the application being retrospective, this 
was not possible. However, consultation has been undertaken prior to the 
determination of this application, with all neighbours being notified and a site 
notice and press advert being placed as legally required and additionally as 
amendments have been submitted. 

 
10. Conclusion  

 
10.1 The installation of domestic scale renewable energy equipment is encouraged 

by both National and Local Policy, including the adopted and emerging Local 
Plans.  

 
10.2 The changes to the window styles and proportions are considered to be a 

modest improvement and an appropriate treatment for the more modern 
immediate surroundings of the application site, within the Conservation Area 
and would not therefore affect its character or appearance. For similar reasons, 
it is not considered that they would have an adverse effect on the settings of 
nearby Listed Buildings. 

 
10.3 It is considered that there would be no significant adverse impact on neighbour 

amenity as a result of the proposed development and there would also be no 
significant adverse impact on visual amenity or highway safety. The impact of 
the proposed development is therefore considered to be acceptable. 
 
 

 

Page 88



10.4 It is therefore considered that the development accords with the requirements 
of the Development Plan and there are no other material considerations 
presented which indicate a decision departing from its content is appropriate. 
Overall, the application is therefore recommended for approval subject to 
conditions.  

 
11. RECOMMENDATION 
 
11.1 That planning permission is granted subject to the following Conditions:  

1.  The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following plans: 
 

- Proposed Drawings – Amended Plans - WAA153 Proposed 
Drawings rev S received by the Local Planning Authority on 
22.6.2023 
 

REASON: To define the terms of the planning permission.  
2.  Only those materials specified in the application shall be used in carrying 

out the development hereby permitted. 
 
REASON: To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the completed 
development in accordance with Saved Policies EV/1 and H/17 of the 
Borough of Charnwood Local Plan 2004, Policies CS2 and CS14 of the 
Charnwood Local Plan Core Strategy 2015, Policies DS5 and EV8 of the 
Draft Charnwood Local Plan, Policy Q14 of the Queniborough Local Plan 
and the Council’s Design Supplementary Planning Document 2020. 
 

3.  The air source heat pump hereby approved shall meet the standards 
specified in the Microgeneration Certification Scheme Planning Standards 
MCS 007.  
REASON: To ensure sufficient control of noise in the interest of residential 
amenity and to satisfy the requirements of Policies CS2 of the Charnwood 
Local Plan Core Strategy 2015 and DS5 of the Draft Charnwood Local Plan 
2021-37 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 89



 
SITE LOCATION PLAN 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 

Page 90



Delegated planning decisions made by Charnwood Borough Council since the last Plans Committee report

Application 
number

Application 
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date Ward

P/23/0607/2 18 Graves Way
Anstey
Leicestershire
LE7 7LX

Erection of porch canopy to front of 
dwelling and single storey rear 
extension. (Lawful Development 
Certificate for Proposed 
Development)

CL (Proposed) CLDPGRANT, Certificate of Lawful 
Proposed Development

28-Jun-2023 Anstey

P/23/0381/2 Jubilee Hall
Stadon Road
Anstey
Leicestershire
LE7 7AY

Single storey side and rear 
extension and associated external 
works to existing car parking.

Full GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

30-Jun-2023 Anstey

P/23/0798/2 25 Millfield Close
Anstey
Leicestershire
LE7 7TE

Erection of two storey front 
extension

Householder REF, Permission be refused for the 
following reasons:

04-Jul-2023 Anstey

P/23/0749/2 22 Princes Close
Anstey
Leicestershire
LE7 7EG

Construction of two-storey side 
extension and single-storey rear 
extension to dwelling.

Full GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

05-Jul-2023 Anstey

P/23/0183/2 98 Sileby Road
Barrow Upon Soar
Leicestershire
LE12 8LS

Erection of single storey extension 
to rear of dwelling.

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

27-Jun-2023 Barrow & Sileby 
West

P/23/0518/2 111 Cotes Road
Barrow Upon Soar
Leicestershire
LE12 8JP

Erection of detached double garage 
(including first floor dormer 
windows) to front, increased ridge 
height, dormer windows to front and 
rear, window to second floor gable 
end, canopy to front side and rear, 
single storey extension to rear and 
render to all external walls of house

Householder REF, Permission be refused for the 
following reasons:

05-Jul-2023 Barrow & Sileby 
West

Page 1 of 19

P
age 91

A
genda Item

 6



Application 
number

Application 
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date Ward

P/23/0802/2 56 Gwendolin Avenue
Birstall
Leicestershire
LE4 4HD

Erection of single storey rear 
extension (following demolition of 
existing conservatory)

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

05-Jul-2023 Birstall East and 
Wanlip

P/23/0695/2 719 Loughborough Road
Birstall
Leicestershire
LE4 4NN

Erection of single storey front, side 
and rear  extension and first floor 
side and rear extension over 
existing. Erection of single storey 
outbuilding to rear. Including 
associated alterations

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

15-Jun-2023 Birstall East and 
Wanlip
Birstall 
Watermead

P/23/0796/2 10 Curzon Avenue
Birstall
Leicestershire
LE4 4AA

Erection of single storey outbuilding 
(gym) to rear (Certificate of 
Lawfulness for Proposed 
Development)

CL (Proposed) CLDPGRANT, Certificate of Lawful 
Proposed Development

28-Jun-2023 Birstall East and 
Wanlip
Birstall 
Watermead

P/23/0888/2 115 Roman Road
Birstall
Leicestershire
LE4 4BF

The erection of a single storey rear 
extension extending beyond the 
rear wall of the original house by 
8.0m, with a maximum height of 
3.5m, and height to the eaves of 
2.9m.

Householder 
Prior 
Notification - 
Class A (Rear 
Extensions)

PRINOT, Prior approval from the 
Council is not required

28-Jun-2023 Birstall East and 
Wanlip
Birstall 
Watermead

P/23/1025/2 CTIL 107518 24, 
Birstall United F.C 
Meadow Lane
Birstall
Leicestershire
LE4 4EU

Prior notification to install 9m high 
wooden telecoms pole.

Equipment PD 
Notification

MNAAU, The application be agreed 
without conditions.

10-Jul-2023 Birstall East and 
Wanlip
Birstall 
Watermead

P/23/0227/2 1 Curzon Avenue
Birstall
Leicestershire
LE4 4AE

Erection of porch to front and single 
and two storey extensions to side 
and rear of dwelling. Roof 
alterations to garage with erection 
of 2no. dormers to front and 
2no.dormers to rear, and juliet 
balcony to side.

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

10-Jul-2023 Birstall East and 
Wanlip
Birstall 
Watermead

Page 2 of 19

P
age 92



Application 
number

Application 
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date Ward

P/23/0676/2 87 Hallam Fields Road
Birstall
Leicestershire
LE4 3LX

Erection of front porch extensionHouseholder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

12-Jun-2023 Birstall Wanlip

P/23/0700/2 91 Greengate Lane
Birstall
Leicestershire
LE4 3JG

Erection of single storey rear 
extension

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

14-Jun-2023 Birstall Wanlip

P/23/0412/2 33 Pasture Drive
Birstall
Leicestershire
LE4 3NQ

Proposed conversion of garage into 
habitable space with a side/rear infill 
extension, which would form a sun 
room and utility area with 
fenestration changes

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

14-Jun-2023 Birstall Wanlip

P/23/0704/2 15 Wellgate Avenue
Birstall
Leicestershire
LE4 3HS

Pitched roof to existing first floor 
side extension.

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

16-Jun-2023 Birstall Wanlip

P/23/0753/2 78 Queensgate Drive
Birstall
Leicestershire
LE4 3JR

Lawful Development Certificate for 
Proposed hip to gable end and rear 
dormer roof extension and 
installation of 1no. rooflight to front 
roof slope.

CL (Proposed) CLDPGRANT, Certificate of Lawful 
Proposed Development

19-Jun-2023 Birstall Wanlip

P/23/0273/2 11 Brook Furlong Drive
Birstall
Leicestershire
LE4 3LU

Erection of front porch extension 
and single storey rear extension

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

19-Jun-2023 Birstall Wanlip

P/22/2296/2 48 Kiln Orchard Way
Birstall
Leicestershire
LE4 3NT

Alterations to detached garage to 
form annexe with accommodation in 
roof space, including single storey 
rear extension, raising of roof height 
and 2no.dormers to front roof slope.

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

29-Jun-2023 Birstall Wanlip

P/23/0407/2 97 Hallam Fields Road
Birstall
Leicestershire
LE4 3LX

Erection of replacement 
dwellinghouse (following demolition 
of existing dwellinghouse) 
(retrospective)

Full GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

07-Jul-2023 Birstall Wanlip

Page 3 of 19

P
age 93



Application 
number

Application 
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date Ward

P/23/0680/2 92 Birstall Road
Birstall
Leicestershire
LE4 4DF

Erection of single storey detached 
garage to front of dwelling.

Householder REF, Permission be refused for the 
following reasons:

13-Jun-2023 Birstall 
Watermead

P/23/0315/2 451 Loughborough Road
Birstall
Leicestershire
LE4 4BH

Certificate of Lawful development 
for a proposed L-shaped dormer 
extension to rear and installation of 
2no. rooflights to front roof slope of 
dwelling.

CL (Proposed) CLDPGRANT, Certificate of Lawful 
Proposed Development

19-Jun-2023 Birstall 
Watermead

P/23/0740/2 4 Clarke Grove
Birstall
Leicestershire
LE4 4AH

Erection of first floor side extension 
and single storey rear extension

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

21-Jun-2023 Birstall 
Watermead

P/23/0790/2 188 Birstall Road
Birstall
Leicestershire
LE4 4DG

Erection of first floor side extension 
and single storey rear extension

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

04-Jul-2023 Birstall 
Watermead

P/23/0825/2 Almond House
142A Loughborough Road
Hathern
Leicestershire
LE12 5JB

Erection of single storey rear 
extension

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

30-Jun-2023 Dishley, 
Hathern and 
Thorpe Acre

P/23/0826/2 Charnwood Country Club
Derby Road
Loughborough
Leicestershire
LE11 5AD

Installation of 6 no. electric vehicle 
charging stations and associated 
works (retrospective)

Full GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

10-Jul-2023 Dishley, 
Hathern and 
Thorpe Acre

P/23/0792/2 27 Lammas Drive
Hathern
Leicestershire
LE12 5PN

Erection of single storey extension 
to rear of dwelling.  (Certificate of 
Lawfulness for Proposed 
Development)

CL (Proposed) CLDPGRANT, Certificate of Lawful 
Proposed Development

16-Jun-2023 Dishley, 
Hathern and 
Thorpe Acre
Loughborough 
Hathern & 
Dishley

Page 4 of 19

P
age 94



Application 
number

Application 
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date Ward

P/23/0623/2 15 Church Hill
Woodhouse Eaves
Leicestershire
LE12 8RT

Variation of Condition 2 (Plans) of 
P/22/0087/2 to amend design

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

14-Jun-2023 Forest Bradgate

P/22/2153/2 Drumleaning
9 Grey Crescent
Newtown Linford
Leicestershire
LE6 0AA

Proposed demolition of existing 
garage, construction of two storey 
side (north) extension and various 
external alterations.

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

19-Jun-2023 Forest Bradgate

P/21/1800/2 St Mary in the Elms Church
School Lane
Woodhouse
Loughborough
LE12 8UJ

Change of use of pasture land to 
graveyard extension and formation 
of access.

Full GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

20-Jun-2023 Forest Bradgate

P/23/0268/2 46 Bird Hill Road
Woodhouse Eaves
Leicestershire
LE12 8RR

Lawful Development Certificate for 
existing rear dormer roof extension 
and installation of 3no. rooflights to 
front roofslope

CL (existing) GTD, Permission be granted 
unconditionally

21-Jun-2023 Forest Bradgate

P/23/0728/2 Field Lodge
38 Main Street
Newtown Linford
Leicestershire
LE6 0AD

Erection of single storey rear 
extension

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

22-Jun-2023 Forest Bradgate

P/23/0812/2 38 Bird Hill Road
Woodhouse Eaves
Leicestershire
LE12 8RR

Erection of detached garage and 
associated landscaping 
(Resubmission of Planning 
Application ref: P/22/1365/2)

Householder REF, Permission be refused for the 
following reasons:

29-Jun-2023 Forest Bradgate

P/23/0722/2 Polly Botts Farm
Polly Botts Lane
Newtown Linford
Leicestershire
LE67 9PT

Erection of replacement dwelling 
and associated works following 
demolition of existing.

Full GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

04-Jul-2023 Forest Bradgate

Page 5 of 19

P
age 95



Application 
number

Application 
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date Ward

P/23/0773/2 Willoughby, 
9, Cravens Rough
Ulverscroft Lane
Newtown Linford
Leicestershire
LE67 9PF

Discharge of Condition 4 (Materials) 
of Planning Permission ref: 
P/21/0450/2 (Demolition of existing 
weekend/holiday chalet and 
erection of new weekend/holiday 
chalet)

Discharge of 
Conditions

CONDIS, Conditions discharged - 
Confirmed

07-Jul-2023 Forest Bradgate

P/23/0770/2 515 New Ashby Road
Loughborough
Leicestershire
LE11 4EU

Erection of first floor extension to 
garage with rear dormer roof 
extension in association with 
conversion of roofspace into 
habitable space

Householder REF, Permission be refused for the 
following reasons:

29-Jun-2023 Loughborough 
Ashby

P/23/0939/2 F Building
Chemistry Building
Loughborough University
Ashby Road
Loughborough
Leicestershire
LE11 3TU

Application to determine if prior 
approval is required for proposed 
Demolition of Chemistry (F) 
Building under the Town and 
Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) 
Order 2015 (as amended) - 
Schedule 2, Part 11, Class B

Demolition  
Determination

NRQ, The submission of details are 
not required for consideration.

29-Jun-2023 Loughborough 
Ashby

P/23/0787/2 207 Alan Moss Road
Loughborough
Leicestershire
LE11 4LT

Subdivision of existing dwelling into 
2 separate dwellings.

Full GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

30-Jun-2023 Loughborough 
Garendon

P/22/2188/2 Garendon Park
Land West of 
Loughborough
Loughborough 
Leicestershire

Reserved matters application 
seeking approval of access, layout, 
scale, appearance and landscaping 
in respect of Parcel E1 of the 
Employment Zone, pursuant to 
outline planning permission 
reference P/14/1833/2, including the 
discharge of outline conditions 43 
(Noise Assessment) and 50 (Odour 
Assessment), 51 (Ecological 
Appraisal)

Reserved 
Matters

GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

30-Jun-2023 Loughborough 
Garendon
Loughborough 
Hathern & 
Dishley
Shepshed East

Page 6 of 19

P
age 96



Application 
number

Application 
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date Ward

P/22/2286/2 90 Leicester Road
Loughborough
Leicestershire
LE11 2AQ

Lawful Development Certificate for 
existing use of property as HMO 
(Use Class C4)

CL (existing) GTD, Permission be granted 
unconditionally

21-Jun-2023 Loughborough 
Hastings

P/23/0746/2 26 Wharncliffe Road
Loughborough
Leicestershire
LE11 1SN

Lawful Development Certificate for 
Proposed rear dormer roof 
extension

CL (Proposed) CLDPGRANT, Certificate of Lawful 
Proposed Development

22-Jun-2023 Loughborough 
Hastings

P/22/1844/2 The Keep
Zouch Road
Hathern
Leicestershire
LE12 5JN

Replacement dwelling and siting of 
mobile home for holiday let.

Full GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

14-Jun-2023 Loughborough 
Hathern & 
Dishley

P/22/1401/2 9 Greenhill Rise
Hathern
Leicestershire
LE12 5LG

Construction of manege and stablesFull GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

23-Jun-2023 Loughborough 
Hathern & 
Dishley

P/23/0435/2 127 Loughborough Road
Hathern
Leicestershire
LE12 5HZ

Lawful Development Certificate for 
Proposed use of garage as 
Hairdressing Salon

CL (Proposed) CLDPGRANT, Certificate of Lawful 
Proposed Development

28-Jun-2023 Loughborough 
Hathern & 
Dishley

P/23/0793/2 29 Anchor Lane
Hathern
Leicestershire
LE12 5HR

Erection of replacement garageHouseholder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

03-Jul-2023 Loughborough 
Hathern & 
Dishley

P/23/0657/2 17 Barsby Drive
Loughborough
Leicestershire
LE11 5UJ

Construction of single storey annex 
to dwelling.

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

04-Jul-2023 Loughborough 
Hathern & 
Dishley

P/23/0466/2 The Gables
Bishop Meadow Road
Loughborough
Leicestershire
LE11 5RE

Lawful Development Certificate for 
Proposed Use of building as 
veterinary surgery

CL (Proposed) CLDPGRANT, Certificate of Lawful 
Proposed Development

16-Jun-2023 Loughborough 
Lemyngton

Page 7 of 19

P
age 97



Application 
number

Application 
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date Ward

P/23/0072/2 18C Church Gate
Loughborough
Leicestershire
LE11 1UD

Application to determine if prior 
approval is required for erection 
1no. new dwellinghouse on a 
terrace building in use as 
dwellinghouse.  (Schedule 2, Part 
20, Class AC of GPDO 2015 (as 
amended) refers)

Change of 
Use Prior 
Notification

PRIREF, The prior approval of the 
Council is refused

27-Jun-2023 Loughborough 
Lemyngton

P/23/0525/2 Cloud Way Court
Belton Road
Loughborough
Leicestershire

Provision of an Electric Vehicle 
Charging hub, including the 
provision of 8 EV parking bays, 2 
other parking spaces, GRP 
compound, substation, canopy and 
associated works.

Full GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

29-Jun-2023 Loughborough 
Lemyngton

P/23/0523/2 40 A The Rushes
Loughborough
Leicestershire
LE11 5BG

Application for Lawful Development 
Certificate for Existing Use of first 
floor as Residential (Use Class C3)

CL (existing) REF, Permission be refused for the 
following reasons:

30-Jun-2023 Loughborough 
Lemyngton

P/23/0804/2 27 Duke Street
Loughborough
Leicestershire
LE11 1ED

Change of use of building from 
motor vehicle servicing and repairs 
(Sui Generis) to storage and 
distribution (Use Class B8) with 
alterations to fenestration

Full GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

06-Jul-2023 Loughborough 
Lemyngton

P/23/0744/2 Unit D
The Locks
Loughborough
Leicestershire
LE11 5XH

Section 73 application for removal 
or variation of conditions 2 and 5 of 
P/21/0061/2
(Change of use to online and 
physical storage, processing and 
sale of motor vehicles, external 
alterations to building including 
external lighting and erection of 
boundary fencing and gates.) 
Variation to approved plans and 
lighting scheme.

Full GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

10-Jul-2023 Loughborough 
Lemyngton

P/23/0807/2 g9 Exmoor Close
Loughborough
Leicestershire
LE11 3SW

Erection of single storey side and 
rear extensions, changes to 
fenestration (following demolition of 
existing garage)

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

07-Jul-2023 Loughborough 
Nanpantan

Page 8 of 19

P
age 98



Application 
number

Application 
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date Ward

P/23/0656/2 10 Upper Green
Loughborough
Leicestershire
LE11 3SG

Erection of single storey side/rear 
extension, 3 dormers to rear ,1 
dormer to front and 1 dormer to 
side/rear of garage. (Revised 
submission P/22/2228/2)

Householder REF, Permission be refused for the 
following reasons:

19-Jun-2023 Loughborough 
Outwoods

P/23/0551/2 rear of 267 Beacon Road
Loughborough
Leicestershire
LE11 2RA

Erection of detached bungalow to 
rear and associated works.

Full REF, Permission be refused for the 
following reasons:

21-Jun-2023 Loughborough 
Outwoods

P/22/1968/2 Fairways
40 Cross Hill Lane
Loughborough
Leicestershire
LE11 2RF

Variation of condition 13 (Approved 
Plans) of P/22/0511/2. (Removal or 
variation of conditions 2, 6, 7, & 8 of 
P/17/0272/2 to amend materials, 
landscaping, traffic plan and turning 
head. (Erection of 4 dwellings, 
alterations and extensions to No 40 
Cross Hill Lane following demolition 
of 42 Cross Hill Lane))

Full GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

05-Jul-2023 Loughborough 
Outwoods

P/23/0691/2 30 Tulip Crescent
Loughborough
Leicestershire
LE11 2WH

Erection of single storey side 
extension. 2no. dormers to front and 
1no. window to second floor side 
elevation of dwelling.  (Revised 
scheme P/23/0113/2 refers)

Householder REF, Permission be refused for the 
following reasons:

14-Jun-2023 Loughborough 
Shelthorpe

P/23/0705/2 42 Wheatland Drive
Loughborough
Leicestershire
LE11 2AR

Single storey rear extension to 
dwelling.

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

19-Jun-2023 Loughborough 
Shelthorpe

P/23/0529/2 66A Ashby Road
Loughborough
Leicestershire
LE11 3AE

Construction of first floor rear 
extension to dwelling.

Full GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

15-Jun-2023 Loughborough 
Southfields

P/22/1493/2 Land to the rear of  194 
Ashby Road
Loughborough
Leicestershire
LE11 3AG

Erection of two storey building to 
form three bedroomed student 
accommodation block (Class C4).

Full GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

16-Jun-2023 Loughborough 
Southfields

Page 9 of 19

P
age 99



Application 
number

Application 
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date Ward

P/23/0540/2 Cedar Grove
103A Herrick Road
Loughborough
Leicestershire
LE11 2BP

Installation of 23no. solar panels on 
south-west roof slopes.

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

22-Jun-2023 Loughborough 
Southfields

P/23/0486/2 Rear of Arthur Street
Loughborough
Leicestershire

Demolition of garages and removal 
of boundary fences. (Retrospective)

Full GTD, Permission be granted 
unconditionally

27-Jun-2023 Loughborough 
Southfields

P/23/0853/2 7 Bampton Street
Loughborough
Leicestershire
LE11 2DR

Lawful Development Certificate for 
Existing use of property as C4 
House in Multiple Occupation 
(HMO).

CL (existing) GTD, Permission be granted 
unconditionally

28-Jun-2023 Loughborough 
Southfields

P/23/0856/2 11 A Park Road
Loughborough
Leicestershire
LE11 2ED

Lawful Development Certificate for 
Existing use of property as C4 
House in Multiple Occupation 
(HMO).

CL (existing) GTD, Permission be granted 
unconditionally

28-Jun-2023 Loughborough 
Southfields

P/23/0292/2 Land off Granville Street 
and to rear of 44 Burleigh 
Road
Loughborough
Leicestershire
LE11 3BA

Erection of two storey 
dwellinghouse with associated 
parking and landscaping.

Full REF, Permission be refused for the 
following reasons:

29-Jun-2023 Loughborough 
Southfields

P/23/0725/2 7 Granville Street
Loughborough
Leicestershire
LE11 3BL

Proposed single storey side and 
rear extension (Resubmission of 
Planning Application ref: 
P/22/0343/2)

Full REF, Permission be refused for the 
following reasons:

04-Jul-2023 Loughborough 
Southfields

P/23/0906/2 Loughborough Police 
Station
Southfield Road
Loughborough
Leicestershire
LE11 2XF

Proposed removal of existing 6 no. 
antennas and the installation of 6 
no. replacement antennas. Ancillary 
development thereto including the 
installation of 3 no. Remote Radio 
Units and 1 no. GPS Module

Equipment PD 
Notification

MNAAU, The application be agreed 
without conditions.

20-Jun-2023 Loughborough 
Southfields
Loughborough 
Southfields

Page 10 of 19

P
age 100



Application 
number

Application 
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date Ward

P/23/0820/2 2 Boyle Drive
Loughborough
Leicestershire
LE11 2UN

Erection of single storey rear 
extension (Lawful Development 
Certificate for Proposed 
Development)

CL (Proposed) CLDPGRANT, Certificate of Lawful 
Proposed Development

19-Jun-2023 Loughborough 
Woodthorpe

P/23/0860/2 1 Henry Robson Drive
Mountsorrel
Leicestershire
LE12 7ZF

Certificate of lawful development for 
proposed single storey rear 
extension to dwelling.

CL (Proposed) CLDPGRANT, Certificate of Lawful 
Proposed Development

20-Jun-2023 Mountsorrel

P/23/0586/2 91 Cross Lane
Mountsorrel
Leicestershire
LE12 7BX

Single storey side extension to 
dwelling, 1.5 storey rear extension 
with rear gable, alterations to side 
dormer, additional side dormer, new 
porch to front, roof lights to side, 
other fenestration alterations, 
removal of chimneys and new 
boundary wall, gates and parking 
provision to front. (Revised Scheme 
- P/22/0446/2 refers)

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

23-Jun-2023 Mountsorrel

P/23/0697/2 186 Mountsorrel Lane
Mountsorrel
Leicestershire
LE7 7PW

Erection of single storey rear 
extension

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

03-Jul-2023 Mountsorrel

P/22/2305/2 7 Rosslyn Avenue
Mountsorrel
Leicestershire
LE12 7UQ

Erection of first floor balcony to side 
of dwelling. (Retrospective)

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

06-Jul-2023 Mountsorrel
Mountsorrel

P/23/0114/2 Land to the rear of 
The Golden Fleece
77 Main Street
South Croxton
Leicestershire
LE7 3RL

Erection of  single storey 
dwellinghouse, with associated 
parking and landscaping,

Full REF, Permission be refused for the 
following reasons:

21-Jun-2023 Queniborough

Page 11 of 19

P
age 101



Application 
number

Application 
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date Ward

P/23/0035/2 land adj Staverton House
1580 Melton Road
Queniborough
Leicestershire
LE7 3FN

Erection of 1 two storey dwelling 
and associated works, erection of 
double garage, boundary wall and 
gates to front of site.

Full GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

26-Jun-2023 Queniborough

P/23/0202/2 64 New Zealand Lane
Queniborough
Leicestershire
LE7 3FT

Retrospective erection of a two 
storey side and rear extension and 
single storey rear extension

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

29-Jun-2023 Queniborough

P/23/0671/2 18 Avenue Road
Queniborough
Leicestershire
LE7 3FA

Erection of two storey side 
extension (following demolition of 
existing garage)

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

07-Jul-2023 Queniborough

P/23/0562/2 Wetherby House
Syston Road
Queniborough
Leicestershire
LE7 3FX

Single storey rear extensionHouseholder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

07-Jul-2023 Queniborough

P/23/0553/2 18 The Ringway
Queniborough
Leicestershire
LE7 3DL

Construction of single storey side 
and rear extension to dwelling. 
(following demolition of existing 
conservatory).

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

19-Jun-2023 Queniborough
Wreake Valley

P/23/0721/2 23 The Ringway
Queniborough
Leicestershire
LE7 3DN

Erection of single storey rear 
extenion and canopy following 
demolition of conservatory

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

21-Jun-2023 Queniborough
Wreake Valley

P/23/0403/2 11 Netherhall Drive
Quorn
Leicestershire
LE12 8WF

Erection of single storey side 
extension and single storey rear 
extension to dwelling. Installation of 
3no. rooflights to front and rear roof 
slopes.

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

12-Jun-2023 Quorn & 
Mountsorrel 
Castle

P/23/0556/2 7 Wood Lane
Quorn
Leicestershire
LE12 8DA

Hip to gable end, and rear dormer 
roof extensions.

Householder REF, Permission be refused for the 
following reasons:

16-Jun-2023 Quorn & 
Mountsorrel 
Castle

Page 12 of 19

P
age 102



Application 
number

Application 
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date Ward

P/23/0736/2 14 Pepper Drive
Quorn
Leicestershire
LE12 8TT

Certificate of lawful development for 
proposed single storey rear 
extension to dwelling.

CL (Proposed) REF, Permission be refused for the 
following reasons:

19-Jun-2023 Quorn & 
Mountsorrel 
Castle

P/23/0664/2 4A Elms Drive
Quorn
Leicestershire
LE12 8AF

Construction of two storey side 
extension to dwelling, single storey 
side extension and side dormer 
extension and rendering of dwelling.

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

21-Jun-2023 Quorn & 
Mountsorrel 
Castle

P/23/0696/2 59 Leicester Road
Quorn
Leicestershire
LE12 8BA

Erection of single storey side and 
rear extension to dwelling 
(Resubmission of P/22/2142/2)

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

22-Jun-2023 Quorn & 
Mountsorrel 
Castle

P/23/0789/2 21 Spinney Drive
Quorn
Leicestershire
LE12 8HB

Erection of two storey extension to 
side and rear, dormer window to 
rear, replace canopy over front 
porch, and render finish to dwelling.

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

23-Jun-2023 Quorn & 
Mountsorrel 
Castle

P/23/0660/2 6 Damson Close
Rothley
Leicestershire
LE7 7SZ

Erection of single storey front and 
side extension, 1no. dormer to rear 
and 2no. dormers to front of 
dwelling.

Householder REF, Permission be refused for the 
following reasons:

12-Jun-2023 Rothley & 
Thurcaston

P/23/0631/2 Temple Hayes
5 Wellsic Lane
Rothley
Leicestershire
LE7 7QB

Erection of replacement first floor 
side extension, external alterations 
to cladding, conversion of pool 
house into habitable space and 
changes to fenestration with 
associated works

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

13-Jun-2023 Rothley & 
Thurcaston

P/23/0324/2 6 Park Farm Mews
Rothley
Leicestershire
LE7 7UN

Installation of 3no. rooflights to 
south western roof slope.

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

14-Jun-2023 Rothley & 
Thurcaston

Page 13 of 19

P
age 103



Application 
number

Application 
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date Ward

P/22/1979/2 19 Causeway Lane
Cropston
Leicestershire
LE7 7GD

Erection of two storey extension, 
dormer window and roof lights to 
rear; single storey extension to side 
and rear; porch and pitched roof 
gable to front; solar panels to front 
roof slope and rendering and wood 
cladding to external walls of house.

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

21-Jun-2023 Rothley & 
Thurcaston

P/23/0747/2 Plot 1
Rothley Lodge
Loughborough Road
Rothley
Leicestershire
LE7 7NL

Installation of mechanical plant and 
associated ducts up to and through 
the rear elevation of building.

Full GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

23-Jun-2023 Rothley & 
Thurcaston

P/23/0698/2 9 Barley Way
Rothley
Leicestershire
LE7 7RL

Erection of additional storey, porch, 
replacement double garage, and 
associated works (Resubmission of: 
P/22/1048/2)

Householder REF, Permission be refused for the 
following reasons:

28-Jun-2023 Rothley & 
Thurcaston

P/22/1907/2 Bybrook Hall, Ivy Barn 
House
Leicester Lane
Swithland
Leicestershire
LE12 8TD

Construction of detached garage to 
side/rear of dwelling.

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

30-Jun-2023 Rothley & 
Thurcaston

P/23/0616/2 Dobbies
Loughborough Road
Rothley
Leicestershire
LE7 7NL

Installation of 5 no. non-illuminated 
signs.

Advert 
Consent

GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

04-Jul-2023 Rothley & 
Thurcaston

P/23/0390/2 1 Fox Covert Close
Thurcaston
Leicestershire
LE7 7JX

Erection of single storey extension 
at rear of house

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

07-Jul-2023 Rothley & 
Thurcaston

P/23/0112/2 33 Brookfield Road
Rothley
Leicestershire
LE7 7RX

Retention of single storey extension 
to front and side of house (Revised 
scheme of P/22/0937/2)

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

07-Jul-2023 Rothley & 
Thurcaston

Page 14 of 19

P
age 104



Application 
number

Application 
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date Ward

P/23/0672/2 12 Ploughmans Drive
Shepshed
Leicestershire
LE12 9SG

Erection of single storey rear 
extension

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

12-Jun-2023 Shepshed East

P/22/2145/2 263 Fairway Road South
Shepshed
Leicestershire
LE12 9HA

Erection of single storey front 
extension, single storey side and 
rear extension and dormer 
extension to rear. Formation of 
driveway to front.

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

16-Jun-2023 Shepshed East

P/23/0536/2 42 Nursery Close
Shepshed
Leicestershire
LE12 9SN

Demolition of existing conservatory 
and construction of single storey 
side extension to dwelling.

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

19-Jun-2023 Shepshed West

P/22/2195/2 Crossways Garage
197 Ashby Road West
Shepshed
Leicestershire
LE12 9JT

Retention of change of use from car 
wash to the display and sale of cars 
and light motor vehicles (Sui 
Generis Use Class) and proposed 
erection of new galvanised fencing.

Full GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

22-Jun-2023 Shepshed West

P/23/0690/2 153 Ratcliffe Road
Sileby
Leicestershire
LE12 7PX

Erection of single storey extension 
to rear of dwelling.

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

13-Jun-2023 Sileby

P/23/0791/2 6 Wattle Close
Sileby
Leicestershire
LE12 7WU

Erection of single storey rear 
extension, front and rear dormer 
extensions and installation of 
rooflights to front roof slope of 
dwelling.

Householder REF, Permission be refused for the 
following reasons:

28-Jun-2023 Sileby

P/23/0724/2 adj to 60 Wellbrook Avenue
Sileby
Leicestershire
LE12 7QQ

Erection of detached two storey 
dwelling

Full REF, Permission be refused for the 
following reasons:

29-Jun-2023 Sileby

P/23/0184/2 9 Keble Drive
Syston
Leicestershire
LE7 2AN

Extend dropped kerb to front of 
dwelling.

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

13-Jun-2023 Syston East

Page 15 of 19

P
age 105



Application 
number

Application 
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date Ward

P/23/0125/2 1088 Melton Road
Syston
LE7 2HA

Display of illuminated and 
non-illuminated advertisements. 
(Part Retrospective)

Advert 
Consent

GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

07-Jul-2023 Syston West

P/23/0395/2 9 Turn Street
Syston
Leicestershire
LE7 1HP

Two storey rear extension 
(retrospective)

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

07-Jul-2023 Syston West

P/23/0738/2 Wymeswold Hall
East Road
Wymeswold
Leicestershire
LE12 6ST

Construction of detached garage 
(Resubmission of Planning 
Application ref: P/22/1148/2)

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

21-Jun-2023 The Wolds

P/22/0643/2 Brook Farm
Cotes Road
Burton On The Wolds
Leicestershire
LE12 8JT

Demolition of existing dwelling and 
construction of replacement 
dwelling.

Full REF, Permission be refused for the 
following reasons:

22-Jun-2023 The Wolds

P/23/0175/2 Fourways Farm
Narrow Lane
Wymeswold
Leicestershire
LE12 6SD

Replacement dwellingFull GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

23-Jun-2023 The Wolds

P/22/1385/2 19B Far Street
Wymeswold
Leicestershire
LE12 6TZ

Outline Application for proposed 
new two storey dwelling with 
garaging, enhanced turning 
provision on existing private drive 
and new garage to host dwelling 
(Access Only)

Outline 
Planning 
Permission

GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

28-Jun-2023 The Wolds

P/22/2254/2 Land off Melton Road
Burton On The Wolds
Leicestershire

Advertisement Consent for 
proposed installation of 2no. 
marketing post signs, 4no. flags and 
8no. leaders

Advert 
Consent

GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

29-Jun-2023 The Wolds

Page 16 of 19

P
age 106



Application 
number

Application 
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date Ward

P/21/1572/2 Hoton Farm
Rempstone Road
Hoton
Leicestershire
LE12 5SF

Erection of an additional free range 
egg unit with associated feed bins, 
hardstandings, access track and 
dirty water tanks.

Full GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

30-Jun-2023 The Wolds

P/23/0663/2 7 Loughborough Road
Burton On The Wolds
Leicestershire
LE12 5AF

Erection of single storey rear 
extension, raised patio to rear, 
porch to front, extend width of 
vehicular access, fenestration 
alterations and render finish to 
dwelling.  AMENDED 
DESCRIPTION

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

30-Jun-2023 The Wolds

P/22/0547/2 18 Lonsdale Road
Thurmaston
Leicestershire
LE4 8JF

Partial demolition of the existing 
single & two storey side and rear 
extension, and proposed first floor 
extension material alterations to 
form 4 x self contained flats.

Full GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

16-Jun-2023 Thurmaston

P/23/0759/2 Thurmaston Bus Depot
Westmoreland Avenue
Thurmaston
Leicestershire

Removal of 4no. staff parking 
spaces and installation of 3no. GRP 
substation, transformer and feeder 
panel unit with associated works

Full GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

27-Jun-2023 Thurmaston

P/23/0563/2 17 Highway Road
Thurmaston
Leicestershire
LE4 8FR

Construction of 2 storey and single 
storey rear extensions, front porch, 
changes to front dormer and roof 
lights to front, side and rear and 
other fenestration alterations.

Householder GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

04-Jul-2023 Thurmaston

P/23/0716/2 Land Adjacent to Winster 
Drive
Thurmaston
Leicester
LE4 8FN

Application to determine if prior 
approval is required for installation 
of electronic communications 
apparatus/consisting of 17m high 
slim-line monopole, supporting 6 no. 
antennas, 1no. GPS node, 2 no. 
equipment cabinets, 1 no. electric 
meter cabinet and associated 
works.

Telecom 
Determination 
with mast

NRQ, The submission of details are 
not required for consideration.

19-Jun-2023 Thurmaston
Thurmaston

Page 17 of 19

P
age 107



Application 
number

Application 
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date Ward

P/23/0800/2 21 Humberstone Lane
Thurmaston
Leicestershire
LE4 8HJ

Erection of a single storey rear 
extension extending beyond the 
rear wall of the original house by 
4.0m, with a maximum height of 
3.8m, and height to the eaves of 
2.7m. (Revised scheme 
P/23/0488/2 refers)

Householder 
Prior 
Notification - 
Class A (Rear 
Extensions)

PRINOT, Prior approval from the 
Council is not required

27-Jun-2023 Thurmaston
Thurmaston

P/23/0732/2 137 Humberstone Lane
Thurmaston
Leicestershire
LE4 8HN

Erection of rear dormer roof 
extension and installation of 
rooflights

Householder REF, Permission be refused for the 
following reasons:

27-Jun-2023 Thurmaston
Thurmaston

P/23/0688/2 Land off Gaddesby Lane
Rearsby
Leicestershire
LE7 4YJ

Section 73 Variation of conditions 2 
(Approved Plans), 5 (Vehicular 
Visibility Splays) and 7 ( Parking 
and Turning Facilities) of Planning 
Permission ref: P/22/1567/2 
(Section 73 Variation of Condition 2 
(Approved Plans) of Planning 
Permission ref P/22/0669/2 
(Erection of 3 detached two storey 
dwellings with carports and 
associated works). Variation to 
consist of revised design of 
dwellings proposed for Plots 1 & 2 
including proposed triple carport), 
Variation to amend design of 
dwelling and alter parking 
arrangements.

Full GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

13-Jun-2023 Wreake Villages

P/23/0428/2 Sacred Heart Convent
61 Station Road
Rearsby
Leicestershire
LE7 4YY

Proposed Garages for units C1, C2 
and C3
 (Resubmission of Planning 
Application ref:P/22/2104/2)

Full GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

26-Jun-2023 Wreake Villages

P/22/1887/2 41 Mill Road
Rearsby
Leicestershire
LE7 4YN

Demolition of existing dwelling and 
construction of replacement 
dwelling with car port and 
landscaping.

Full GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

30-Jun-2023 Wreake Villages

Page 18 of 19

P
age 108



Application 
number

Application 
type

Location Proposal Decision Decision date Ward

P/22/1000/2 2 St Georges House
 Gaddesby Lane
Rearsby
Leicestershire
LE7 4YH

Retention of change of use of 
premises to indoor display and sale 
of motor vehicles. (Sui Generis) 
(Retrospective application)

Full GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

07-Jul-2023 Wreake Villages

P/22/1001/2 Unit 4 St Georges House
Gaddesby Lane
Rearsby
Leicestershire
LE7 4YH

Retention of change of use of 
premises to indoor display and sale 
of motor vehicles. (Sui Generis) 
(Retrospective application)

Full GTDCON, Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

07-Jul-2023 Wreake Villages

 123Total Delegated Decisions:

Page 19 of 19

P
age 109


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	5 Planning Applications
	Charnwood Borough Council
	Plans Committee – Thursday, 20 July 2023
	Index of Committee Items

	5a P/20/2162/2 - Ingleberry Road, Shepshed
	Drawings:
	Reports:

	5b P/23/0838/2 - 10 Benscliffe Road, Loughborough
	5c P/23/0382/2 - 3 The Dovecotes, Queniborough
	5.6	Design Supplementary Planning Document (January 2020)

	6 List of Applications Determined under Delegated Powers

